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INTRODUCTORY SECTION

This part of the City's comprehensive annual financial report is intended to famiiiarize readers with the
organizational structure of the City's government, the nature and scope of services that are provided and the
specifics of the legal operating environment.
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City of Harrisonburg, Virginia

Oifice of fhe Cily Manader

345 South Main Street Kurt D. Hodgen
Post Office Box 20031 City Manager
Harrisonburg, VA 22802

(540) 432-7701 / FAX (540) 432-7778

November 28, 2012

To the Honorable Mayor, Members of the City Council and the
Citizens of the City of Harrisonburg:

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the City of Harrisonburg, Virginia (City), for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2012 is hereby submitted in accordance with Section 45 of the Cify Charter and Section 15.2-2511 of the
Code of Virginia, 1950, as amended. The City Charter and the Code of Virginia require that the City issue annually
a report on its financial position and operations, and that this report be audited by either the state auditor or an
independent firm of certified public accountants in accerdance with generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS).
This report has been prepared by the Department of Finance to conform to the standards of financial reporting as
established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), generally accepted accounting principles
{GAAP) and the Commonwealth of Virginia Auditor of Public Accounts (APA).

This report consists of management's representations concerning the finances of the City. Consequently,
management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of all of the information presented in
this report. To provide a reasonable basis for making these representations, management of the City has
established a comprehensive internal control framework that is designed both to protect the City’s assets from loss,
theft, or misuse and o compile sufficient reliable information for the preparation of the City's financial statements in
conformity with GAAP. Because the cost of internal controls should not outweigh their benefits, the City's
comprehensive framework of internal controls has been designed to provide reascnable rather than absolute
assurance that the financial statements wifl be free from material misstatement. As management, we assert that, to
the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is accurate in all material respects and is reported in a
manner that presents fairly the financial position and results of operations for the City. All disclosures necessary to
enable the reader to gain an understanding of the City's financial activities have been included.

Brown, Edwards & Company, LLP, a firm of licensed certified public accountants, have audited the City's financial
statements. The goal of the independent audit is to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements of
the City are free of material misstatements. The independent audit involved examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements; assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management; and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. This
examination was conducted using guidelines set forth by GAAS and the Specifications for Audits of Counties, Cilies
and Towns, issued by the APA. Based upon this audit, the independent auditor concluded that there was a
reasonable basis for rendering an unqualified opinion that the City’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2012, are fairly presented in conformity with GAAP. The independent auditor's report is presented as the
first component of the financial section of this report.

The independent audit of the financial statements was also designed to meet the federal Single Audit Act
Amendments of 1996 and the related U. S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133, Audits of
States, Local Governments and Nonprofit Organizations to meet the special needs of federal grantor agencies. The
standards governing Single Audit engagements set forth in the General Accounting Office's Government Auditing
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Standards require the independent auditor to report not only on the fair presentation of the financial statements, but
also on the audited government's internal controls and compliance with legal requirements. Special emphasis is
placed on internal controls and compliance with legal requirements involving the administration of federal awards.
These reports are available in the compliance section of this report.

GAAP reguires that management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic
financial statements in the form of Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is
designed to complement MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The City's MD&A can be found
immediately following the report of the independent auditor.

Profile of the City of Harrisonburg

Background. The City was established in 1780 and was named for Thomas Harrison, who donated the tand for the
Rockingham County Court House, which became the permanent county seat of Rockingham County in 1781. The
City was incorporated in 1849 and was proclaimed a city of the first class in April 1990. It now encompasses 17.3
square miles and serves a population of approximately 51,200.

The City lies in the geographic center of the Shenandoah Valley of Virginia. The Blue Ridge Mountains on the East
and the Afleghenies on the West provide protection so the area is markedly free from climate extremes and
disturbances. The Valley floor itself is at an elevation of 1,000 feet while the City's elevation is 1,329 feet. The City
is equidistant from Washington, D.C. (124 miles), Richmond, Virginia (116 miles), and Roancke, Virginia (111

miles).

The City is operated under the Council-Manager form of government. The City Council is the governing body, which
formulates policies for the administration of the City. It is comprised of five members elected on an at-large basis to
serve four-year terms. The City Councit appoints a City Manager to serve as the City's chief administrative officer.
The City Manager is responsible for implementing the policies of the City Council, directing business and
administrative procedures and appointing departmentai officials and certain other City employees.

Services provided. The City provides a full range of services including police and fire protection; sanitation
services; cohstruction and maintenance of streets and bridges; water and sewer services, public fransportation,
community development; and parks, recreational activities and culiural events.

The operation of primary and secondary education in the City is the responsibility of the School Board. The City
voters elect the six members of the Schoo! Board, who appoint the Superintendent of Schools. The local share of
funds for operating public schools in the City is provided by an appropriation from the City's General Fund to the
School Board. The School Board, however, is a separate legal entity and autonomous policy-making body in

matters governing education.

The City provides court house and jail facilities, as well as the services of the Sheriff, Commonweaith Attorney, and
Clerk of the Circuit Court through Rockingham County (County). The City reimburses the County one-half of the net
expenditures for providing these services.

The City provides social services through the Harrisonburg-Rockingham Social Services District (District), which is
jointly governed with the County. The District is a separate legal entity and is a discretely presented component unit
of the County. The City makes contributions to the District based upon its pro rata share of the population for the

City and County as a whole.

The City provides emergency communications services through the Harrisonburg-Rockingham Emergency
Communications Center (HRECC). The HRECC is a separate legal entity and is a joint venture of the City and the
County with the City being the fiscal agent. Both the City and the County fund an equal share of HRECC's

operations.




Electricity is provided by the Harrisonburg Electric Commission, created by ordinance of the City Councit pursuant
to the City Charter. The Commission is composed of 5 members appointed for 3-year terms by the City Councit and

is a separate legal entity.

Budgetary Compliance and Control. The City prepares a budget in accordance with Section 60 of the City
Charter and Section 15.2-2503 of the Code of Virginia, 1950, as amended. The City Charter requires the City
Manager to submit a balanced budget to the City Council at ieast sixty days prior to the beginning of each fiscal
year (July 1). City Council is required to convene a public hearing regarding the City Manager's proposed budget.
The proposed budget, which may be modified by the City Council, is required to be adopted by a majority vote of
the City Council members 30 days prior to the beginning of the ensuing fiscal year. On the basis of the budget, City
Council appropriates funds for expenditures and establishes tax rates sufficient to produce the revenues needed fo
pay such expenditures. The Cify Charter requires the annual budget to be balanced and prohibits expenditures for
which moneys are not available or reasonably expected to be forthcoming in time to meet such expenditures. The
City Charter also requires the annual budget and the annual appropriation ordinance to make a provision for a

reasonable contingency fund.

Budgetary control is maintained at the department level as delineated in the appropriation ordinance. The City
Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts within funds other than capitai projects funds. Supplemental
appropriations, transfers between funds and transfers within capital projects funds require the approval of City
Council. Also, supplemental appropriations which exceed one percent of the total expenditures shown in the
currently adopted budget require a public hearing prior to approvat by City Council. All appropriations lapse at year-
end except appropriations for capital projects funds and the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Fund.
Appropriations for capital projects funds are valid until the end of the project and CDBG fund appropriations are
valid until the grant period is completed. Encumbrances outstanding at year-end are generally reappropriated in the
following fiscal year. A budget-fo-actual comparison is provided in this report for the general fund. This comparison

is presented on page 28.
Major Initiatives

The City’s staff, following specific directives of the City Council and the City Manager, has been involved in a
variety of projects and activities throughout the year. These projects and activities reffect the City's commitment to
ensuring that the citizens of Harrisonburg are able to live and work in an enviable environment. The significant

projects and activities are as follows:

e Appropriated $6 million from a bond issue for the purchase of right-of-way for the Reservoir Street project.
e Appropriated $850,000 for 2 replacement transit buses.

+ Appropriated $600,000 for a safe route to schools grant in Waterman Elementary Schoo! vicinity.

e Appropriated $522,384 for postciosure costs at the City's closed landfill.

e Appropriated $460,000 for architecture and engineering for a new Public Transportation facility.

e« Appropriated $300,000 for water main upgrades.

e Appropriated $300,000 for sewer main upgrades.

e Appropriated $295,000 for a food service addition to the golf course clubhouse.

Factors Affecting Financial Condition

The information presented in the financiat statements is perhaps best understood when it is considered from the
broader perspective of the specific environment within which the City operates.

Local economy. The City is in the center of commerce and travel for the area, while the surrounding area is known
for its poultry industry. The area is an educational center served by four institutions of higher learning with a total
enroliment of approximately 27,950. James Madison University, a state-supported school, is located near the
geographic center of the City and has approximately 19,700 students. Eastern Menncnite University, a private




institution with approximately 1,500 students is also located in the City. Bridgewater College, located just south of
the City, is also private and has an approximate enrollment of 1,750 students. State-supported Blue Ridge
Community College has an enroliment of approximately 5,000 students.

Rockingham Memorial Hospital provides hospital and many other related healthcare services. Air, rail and bus
transportation is available in the area. Frontier Airlines and Silver Airways operates out of the Shenandoah Valley
Regional Airport in Weyers Cave, Virginia and provides passenger and freight service. There are several private
airfields located in the area including Bridgewater Air Park located in Bridgewater. The area is served by the Norfolk
Southern Corporation railrcad. There are locally based private and common carriers serving the nation with genera!
freight and specialties. Parcel post services are available for shopping, mailing and delivery service. Interstate 81
runs North and South through the area and intersects with Interstate 64 East and West at Staunton, Virginia for

travel by car,

Long-term financial planning. Each year the City prepares a comprehensive Capital Improvements Program
{CiP). The CIP is prepared in an effort to prioritize capital improvement needs over a five-year period and to plan
for the appropriate financing of these projects. Planning for capital improvements is an important process for the
City in order to ensure that assets are acquired or constructed in time to meet specific needs and to spread costs
over several fiscal years in order to avoid a large peak in capital expenditures during a single year.

The City continues to plan and work on the Stone Spring Road and Erickson Avenue Improvement project. it is
planned that this project will be completed in at least four phases. Phase 1 construction was completed in fiscal
year 2011. Phase 2 is estimated to cost approximately $21.7 million and is projected to be completed by December
2012. Phase 3 construction began during the year and is estimated to cost approximately $6.5 miilion and is
projected to be completed by October 2013. Phase 3 construction will be entirely funded by the Commonwealth of
Virginia. There are currently no construction plans for Phase 4 of the project.

The City is in the process of constructing a waterline to the South Fork of the Shenandoah River, which is located
approximately 17 miles east of the City. The initial phases of this project include the installation of waterlines from
the City's water treatment plant across the City to the eastern City fimits. The estimated total cost of the project is
$32.4 million of which $10.5 million has already been expended and $3.3 million in cash is on hand. It is anticipated
that this project will require a future $18.6 million bond issue in order to complete. The projected completion date is
undetermined at this time and will depend on supply/demand, partnering opportunities and the bidding
environment.

The City is currently in the process of purchasing right-of-way for improvements to Reservoir Street. It is estimated
that this project will cost approximately $14 million. The project is funded by $7 million from state funding sources
and $7 million in local sources which includes $6 million in bonds issued in December 2011. Construction is
projected to begin in fiscal year 20156 and to be completed in fiscal year 2016.

The City is currently preparing for the construction of a new public transportation administration and maintenance
facility that will replace the current facility. The project will be funded by the City, the Virginia Department of Rai
and Public Transportation and the Federal Transit Administration. The project is estimated to cost between $16
million and take two years to complete. Based upon estimated usage of the new facility, the funding for this project
will be approximately 37 percent Federal, 5 percent Commonwealth and 58 percent City. Construction is projected
to begin in December 2012 and be completed in June of 2014. The city plans to issue debt to finance its share of

the construction cost.
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FINANCIAL SECTION

This part of the City's comprehensive annual financial report contains the financial statements which include the
basic financial statements, notes to financial statements and other supplementary information. This part also

provides management’s analysis of the City’s current financial position and the outcome of its operations, as well as,
the independent auditor’s report.
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Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management’s discussion and analysis and the schedules of funding progress as listed in the table of
contents be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a
part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board,
who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in
an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures
to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses
to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the
basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or
provide any assurance.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the City’s financial statements as a whole. The introductory section; the
combining and individual non-major fund financial statements and budget and actual schedules
collectively referred to as Other Supplementary Information; and the statistical section, are presented for
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of tbe financial statements. The
accompanying scheduie of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional
analysis as required by U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local
Governments, and Nown-Profit Organizations, and is also not a required part of the financial statements.
The Other Supplementary Information and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are the
responsibility of management and were derived from and related directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the
financial statements as a whole. The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no
opinion or provide any assurance on them.

;;2 L . . A’ n o
e 2 x@,?a.z,i £ P
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Harrisonburg, Virginia
November 28, 2012
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CITY OF HARRISCNBURG, VIRGINIA
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As management of the City of Harrisonburg (City), we offer readers of the City's financial statements this narrative
overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. We encourage
readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional information that we have furnished
in our fetter of transmittal, which can be found on pages 1 through 5 of this report.

Financial Highlights

e The assets of the City exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year by $256.5 million {net
assets). Of this amount, $58.3 million (unrestricted net assets) may be used to meet the City's obligations to cit-
izens and creditors.

o The City's total net assets decreased by $1 miltion.

o As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balanc-
es of $47.9 million, an increase of $9.7 million in comparison with the previous year. Approximately 85.4 per-
cent of this total amount, $40.9 million, is available for spending at the City's discretion (unrestricted fund bal-
ance).

e At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was $25.5 million, or 30
percent of total General Fund expenditures and other financing uses (less debt refunding transactions).

e The City's total long-term debt decreased by $2 million during the current fiscal year.

Overview of the Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City's basic financial statements. The
City’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2)
fund financial statements, and 3) notes to financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary in-
formation in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.

Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide
readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances, in 2 manner similar to a private-sector business.

The statement of net assets presents information on all of the City's assets and liabilities, with the difference be-
tween the two reported as net assets. Over time, increases or decreases in net assets may serve as a useful indi-
cator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the government’s net assets changed during the most
recent fiscal year. All changes in net assets are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change
oceurs, regardiess of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement
for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but un-

used vacation leave).

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported by
taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all
or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental
activities of the City include general government administration, jail and judicial administration, public safety, public
works, health and welfare, education, parks and recreation, and planning and community development. The busi-
ness-type activities of the City include water, sewer, public transportation and steam plant operations.

The government-wide financial statements include not only the City itself (known as the primary government), but
also the legally separate Harrisonburg City School Board (Schoo! Board} and the Harrisonburg Electric Commission
(HEC) for which the City is financially accountable. Financial information for these component units is reported sep-
arately from the financial information presented for the primary government itself. To obtain a copy of the separately
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issued audited financial statements for HEC, contact the Harrisonburg Etectric Commission, 89 West Bruce Street,
Harrisonburg, Virginia 22801. The School Board does not issue separate financial statements.

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 21 through 23 of this report.

Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over re-
sources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local govern-
ments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-refated legal requirements. All of
the funds of the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary

funds.

Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide finan-
cial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on the near-term inflows and outfiows of spendable
resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information
may be useful in evaluating a government's near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is
useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for govern-
mental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-
term impact of the government's near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and
governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciiiation to
facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.

The City maintains five individual govemmentat funds. Information is presented separately in the governmental fund
batance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances for
the General Fund and General Capital Projects Fund, which are considered to be major funds. Data from the other
three governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of the-
se nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements in the other suppiementary infor-

mation part of the financial section of this report.
The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 24 through 28 of this report.

Proprietary funds. The City maintains two different types of proprietary funds. Enterprise funds are used to report
the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The City
uses enterprise funds to account for its water, sewer, public transportation and steam plant operations. Internal ser-
vice funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally among the City’s various
functions, as well as to some external organizations. The City uses internal service funds to account for the opera-
tions of its central garage, central stores and a self-insured health insurance plan. Because these services mainly
benefit governmental rather than business-type functions, they are included within governmental activities in the

government-wide financial statements.

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in more
detail. The City maintains four enterprise funds and three internal service funds. The proprietary fund financial
statements provide separate information for the Water Fund, Sewer Fund, Public Transportation Fund and Steam
Piant Fund, which are considered to be major enterprise funds. Also, the internal service funds are combined into a
single, aggregated presentation in the proprietary fund financial statements. Individual fund data for the internal
service funds is provided in the form of combining statements in the other supplementary information part of the

financlal section of this report.
The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 29 through 32 of this report.

Fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the gov-
ernment. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources of
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those funds are not available to support the City's own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much
like that used for proprietary funds.

The hasic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on page 33 of this report.

Notes to financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of
the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to financiat statements can be
found on pages 34 through 70 of this repor.

Required supplementary information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this
report also presents certain required supplementary information concerning the City's progress in funding its obliga-
tions to provide pension and postretirement healthcare benefits to its employees. This information is presented im-
mediately following the notes to financial statements and can be found on pages 71 through 72 of this report.

Other supplementary information. This report also presents certain other supplementary information concerning
the combining statements referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor governmental funds, internal service
funds, agency funds and School Board individual fund financial statements. This information is presented immedi-
ately following required supplementary information. The combining and individual fund statements and schedules
can be found on pages 73 through 93 of this report.

Government-wide Financial Analysis (Primary Government)

As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's financial position. In the
case of the City, assets exceed fiabilities by $256.5 million at the close of the most recent fiscal year.

The largest portion of the City’s net assets (77.1percent) reflects its investment in capital assets {e.g., fand, build-
ings and infrastructure), less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The City uses
these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spend-
ing. Although the City’s investment in capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the re-
sources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves can-
not be used to liquidate these liabilities.

An additional portion of the City’s net assets represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on how
they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net assets, which amounts to $58.3 million, may be used
to meet the City's ongeing obligations to citizens and creditors.

City of Harrisonburg’s Net Assets

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2012 2011 2012 201t 2012 2011
Current and other assets $ 103,530,541 § 96,287,704 § 24,118,922 % 33,434,906 $ 127649463 % 129,722,610
Capital assefs 255,304,317 253,176,437 94,176,539 98,305,164 349,480,856 351,481,601
Total assets $ 358,834,858 § 349,464,141 § 118,295,461 $ 131,740,070 § 477,130,319 § 481,204,211
Current and other liabilities % 40,681,947 $§ 40,965,706 § 2,418,959 % 3,169,024 § 43,100,906 % 44,134,730
Long-term liahilities 143,739,522 138,750,000 33,777,340 40,790,593 177,516,862 179,540,593
Total liabilities $ 184,421,469 $ 179,715706 § 36,196,299 § 43,959,617 $ 220,617,768 § 223,675,323
Net assets:
Invested in capital assets,
net of refated debt $ 136,256,502 § 132,778,540 § 61,531,423 § 63,773,381 § 197787925 § 196,551,921
Restricted 436,546 464,466 - - 436,546 464 466
Unrestricted 37,720,341 36,505,429 20,567,739 24,007,072 58,288,080 60,512,501
Total net assets $ 174,413,389 § 169,748,435 § 82,099,162 $ 87,780,453 $ 256,512,551 § 257,628,888
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City of Harrisonburg's Changes in Net Assets

Governmental Activities Business-{ype Activities Total
2012 2011 2012 201t 2012 201t
Revenues:
Program revenues:
Charges for services $ 18,419,491 § 11,769,056 % 20,711,474 § 27,273,885 § 39,130,966 $ 36,042,841
Operating grants and
contributions 6,420,728 6,779,026 1,469,284 1,353,559 7,890,012 8,132,585
Capitaf grants and
contributions 3,020,379 1,394,887 3,226,291 840,082 6,246,670 2,234,963
General revenues:
Property taxes 31,997,146 31,465,340 - - 31,997,146 31,465,340
Sales and use taxes 10,744,198 11,030,783 - - 10,744,198 11,030,783
Restaurant food taxes 8,815,101 8,414,191 - - 8,815,101 8,414,191
Business license taxes 5,932,606 5,587,085 - - 5,932 606 5,587,085
Other local taxes 5,599,612 5,382,633 - - 5,599,612 5,382,633
Grants and contributions not
restricted to specific programs 3,423,474 3,520,574 - - 3,423,474 3,520,674
Payment from component units 4,900,000 4,900,000 - - 4,900,000 4,800,000
Investment revenue 68,365 87,657 32121 52,446 100,486 140,003
Other revenue 2,265,535 4,254,403 1,308,949 1,215,028 3,574,484 5,469,431
Gain on disposal of
capital assets - - 10,863 4,525 10,863 4,525
Total revenues $ 101,606,635 $ 94,585 535 $ 26,758,982 % 30,739,525 $ 128,365,617 $ 125,325,060
Expenses:
General government
administrafion $ 14,871,365 % 12,711,047 § - $ -5 14,871,365 $ 12,711,047
Jail and judicial administration 3,353,068 3,158,825 - - 3,353,068 3,168,825
Public safety 18,759,038 18,414,704 - - 18,759,038 18,414,704
Public works 15,430,666 11,384,626 - - 15,430,666 11,384,626
Health and welfare 3,684,731 3,933,460 - - 3,684,731 3,933,460
Education 30,965,228 27,641,213 - - 30,965,228 27,641,213
Parks, recreation and cuitural 5,318,618 5,279,763 - - 5,319,618 5,279,763
Pianning and community
development 3,844,899 3,618,639 - - 3,844,899 3,618,639
Interest on long-term debt 5,602,256 6,006,543 - - 5,602,256 6,006,543
Water - - 5,398,401 5,014,952 5,398,401 5,014,952
Sewer - - 9,217,798 8,165,858 9,217,798 8,165,858
Pubtic transportation - - 4,817,708 6,916,882 4,817,708 6,916,882
Steam plant/sanitation - - 6,670,472 9,999,432 6,670,472 9,899,432
Total expenses $ 101,830,869 % 92,148,820 % 26,104,379 % 30,097124 $ 127,935,248 § 122,245,844
Excess (deficiency}
before transfers 5 {224,234} § 2,436,715 $ 654602 § 642,401 § 430,369 $ 3,079,116
Special item {1,446,706) - - - {1,446,706) -
Transfers 6,335,894 484,233 (6,335,884) (484,233} - -
Change in net assets $ 4,664,954 § 2,920,948 $ {5,681,291) % 158,168 3 (1,016,337) 3 3,079,116
Net assets at beginning of year 169,748,435 166,827,487 87,780,453 87,622,285 257,528,888 254,449,772

Net assets at end of year $ 174,413,389 $ 169,748,435 § 82,099,162 % 87,780,453 $ 256,512,551 $ 257,528,888

Governmental activities. Governmental activities increased the City’s net assets by §4.7 million. Key elements
affecting governmental activities are as foltows:

e Charges for services increased $6.65 million (56.5 percent) due to the reclassification of refuse collection, land-
fill tipping fees and school bus operations from business-type activities. Revenue from refuse collection and
landfill tipping fees amounted to $4.2 million and revenue from school bus operation amounted to $2.2 million in
the current year.

o Capital grants and contributions increased $1.6 million mainly due to intergovernmental revenue reimburse-
ments for the Stone Spring Road/Erickson Avenue construction project.
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ly flat during the year while sewer charges for services increased $582,850 (7.2 percent). Steam plant charges
for services decreased approximately $900,000 (16 percent).

e Capital grants and contributions increased $2.4 million primarily due to the purchase of seven new transit buses
which are largely funded from intergovernmental grants.

¢ Expenses in the sewer activity increased $1 million (12.9 percent) primarily from increased contributions to the
Harrisonburg-Rockingham Regional Sewer Authaority.

¢ Expenses in the public transportation and sanitation (steam plant) activities decreased due to the reclassifica-
tion of refuse collection, recycling, landfill and school bus operations to governmental activities.

Government-wide Financial Analysis (Component Units)

School Board activities. Net assets of the School Beard increased $181,084 during the year while remaining es-
sentially flat in the previous year. School Board expenses increased $2.1 million (3.7 percent) due to a general in-
crease in instructional expenses. The School Board returned $2.3 million to the City in unused funding while still
receiving an additional $713,669 in operating funds from the City compared to the previous year. State operating
funding increased $2.3 million due to increased enroliment. Federal funding decreased $361,983 from a decrease

in federal stimulus funding.

HEC activities. HEC’s net assets decreased $933,000 during the year, as compared to a $2.1 million increase in
the previous year. Operating revenues increased $2 million (3.4 percent) during the current year, while expenses
increased $5.4 million (9.2 percent). The increase in expenses was due to an increased cost of electricity pur-
chased. Only 2 percent of these increased costs were passed through to customers in the form of rate increases.

Financial Analysis of the Government’s Funds

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements.

Governmental funds. The focus of the City's governmental funds is fo provide information on near-term inflows,
outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing re-
quirements. In particutar, unrestricted fund balance (the total of committed, assigned and unassigned fund balance)
may serve as a useful measure of a government's net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.

General Fund. The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At the end of the current fiscal year, unre-
stricted fund balance of the General Fund was $30.3 million, while total fund balance was $31.5 million. As a
measure of the General Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful fo compare both unrestricted fund balance and total fund
balance to total fund expenditures and other financing uses. Unrestricted fund bafance represents 35.6 percent
(29.5 percent in the prior year) of total General Fund expenditures and other financing uses (less debt refunding
transactions), while total fund balance represents 37 percent (31.4 percent in the prior year) of that same amount.

Total fund balance in the General Fund increased $6.25 million mainly from a $2.5 million transfer from the Steam
Plant Fund, which in turn was placed in a committed fund balance account, to fund a new landfill agreement with
Rockingham County and the return of $2.3 million in unused funding from the School Board. Other financial factors
affecting the General Fund have been included in the above discussion of the City’s governmental activities.

General Capital Projects Fund. The General Capitat Projects Fund has a total fund balance of $16.1 million, of
which the entire amount is either restricted or committed for various projects. Revenue, including other financing
sources, totaled $14.5 million, of which $5.6 million was intergovernmental revenue, $6 million was the issuance of
bonds and $2.6 million was transfers from other funds. Intergovernmental revenue included $5.5 million in funding
from the state and federal government for the Stone Spring Road/Erickson Avenue improvement project. The $6
million in proceeds from the issuance of bonds was for partially funding the Reservoir Street improvement project.
The $2.6 million in transfers from other funds included $1.4 million from the Steam Plant Fund for expenditures as-
sociated with the closed City landfill and $459,399 from the Public Transportation Fund to fund the City’s portion of
architecturefengineering costs of a new public transportation facility. Expenditures totaled $11.3 million, of which
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the most significant were Phase |l and Phase Il construction expenditures for the Stone Spring Road/Erickson Av-
enue improvement project and architecture/engineering for the new public transportation facility.

Proprietary funds. The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-
wide financial statements, but in more detail.

Water Fund. Net assets in the Water Fund decreased $492,745 compared to an increase of $162,677 in the pre-
vious year. Charges for services remained essentially flat due a smali water rate increase and decreased water
consumption, while total operating expenses increased $366,591 (7.8 percent). One of the primary factors for the
increase in operating expenses was several engineering studies associated with an asset management plan and

an electrical usage study for pump stations.

Sewer Fund. Net assets in the Sewer Fund decreased $1.1 million compared to a decrease of $424,842 in the
previous year. Charges for services increased $582,850 (7.2 percent) due to a sewer authority rate increase, while
total operating expenses increased $1 million (12.6 percent). Increasing contributions to the Harrisonburg-
Rockingham Regional Sewer Authority was the primary factor for the increase in operating expenses.

Public Transportation Fund. This fund currently reflects only the operations of the transit bus system, whereas in
previous years, this fund also included the operations of the school bus system. Operating revenues for the transit
bus system increased approximately $120,000 (8.4 percent} mainly due to an increase in funding from James Mad-
ison University, while total operating expenses for the transit bus system increased approximately $454,000 (10.5
percent). Expenses increased primarily due to an increase in fuel costs and maintenance and repair on buses and
depreciation expense. Capital contributions increased $3 million from the purchase of seven new ftransit buses
which are largely funded by intergovernmental revenues. Nonoperating expenses include $1.2 million in net trans-
fers of long-term assets and liabilities associated with the reclassification of school bus operations to governmental
activities in the government-wide financial statements.

Steam Plant Fund. In previous years, this fund was the Sanitation Fund and included refuse coliection, recycling
and landfill operations. These operations are now included in the General Fund. Operating revenues decreased
approximately $900,000 (16 percent} due to a decrease in tipping fee revenue due a general decrease in tonnage
received into the steam plant, as well as, portions of the steam plant had been shut down for periods of time for
equipment maintenance, while total operating expenses increased approximately $216,000 (3.8 percent) primarily
due to an increases maintenance expenses. Nonoperating revenues include $1.1 million in net transfers of long-
term assets and liabilities associated with the reclassification of refuse collection, recycling and landfill operations to
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. Transfers out include $2.5 million transferred
to the General Fund to fund the City’s landfill iability associated with a new Rockingham County landfill agreement
and $1.4 million transferred to the General Capital Projects Fund for funding of postclosure costs at the City's

closed iandfill.
General Fund Budgetary Highlights

Differences between the original and the final amended General Fund budget amounted to $25 million, or 27.6 per-
cent of the original budget, and can be briefly summarized as follows:

¢ 322 million appropriated for a debt refunding transaction.

e  $1.6 million appropriated for prior year encumbrances.

o $666,393 appropriated for renovations to the new School Board administration offices.

e $482,813 appropriated for various fire department purposes including state and federal grants.

e $142,706 appropriated for various police department purposes including state and federal grants.

o $242 628 appropriated for additional funding to the Harrisonburg-Rockingham Social Services District.

e $129,549 appropriated for a food service addition to the golf course ¢lubhouse.

« $70,528 appropriated for other purposes.

= $331,207 in budgetary reductions for fund balance commitments associated with information technolegy and a
new Rockingham County landfill agreement.
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There were several significant variances between the final amended budget and the actual results in the General
Fund, and can be briefly summarized as follows:

e Public works expenditures were under the final amended budget by approximately $3.6 million. The variance
was primarily the result of a delay in street repaving, sidewalk repair and capital outlay expenditures.

o Education expenditures were under the final amended budget by approximately $2.3 million. The variance was
due to the return of unused funds by the School Board.

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital assets. At the end of the current fiscal year, the City's investment in capital assets for its governmental
and business-type activities totaled $349.5 million (net of accumulated depreciation). This investment in capital as-
sets includes land, easements, buildings, improvements other than buildings, machinery and equipment, infrastruc-
ture (e.g., streets and bridges), JMU land and steam agreement (an intangible asset) and construction in progress.
The City's total investment in capital assets for the current fiscal year decreased $2 million.

Significant capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following:

e Land was donated to the City to be used for a bicycle and pedestrian trail between Westover Park and Thomas
Harrison Middle School increasing governmental activities’ land by $700,000.

e Construction continued on the Stone Spring Road/Erickson Avenue Phase I improvement project increasing
governmental activities’ construction in progress by $6.2 mitlion.

e Construction began on the Stone Spring Road/Erickson Avenue Phase lll improvement project increasing gov-
ernmental activities' construction in progress by $800,000.

» As the result of a new Rockingham County landfill agreement, the infangible asset from the old agreement was
impaired decreasing intangible assets by $2 million.

e Construction and engineering continued on the eastern source water line development project to the South
Fork of the Shenandecah River increasing business-type activities’ construction in progress by $2 million.

e Construction was completed on a refractory rebuild for the two incinerators at the steam plant increasing busi-
ness-type activities' improvements other than buildings by $1.1 miltion.

« Purchased seven new transit buses increasing business-type activities’ machinery and equipment by $2.5 mii-
lion.

e Land in the amount of $502,800, buildings in the amount of $578,394, machinery and equipment in the amount
of $2.2 million and intangible assets in the amount of $2.1 million were transferred from business-type activities
to governmental activities due the operational reclassifications mentioned earlier.

City of Harrisonburg's Capital Assets
(net of depreciation/amortization}

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
Land $ 46,823,529 § 45 557,062 § 442,295 $ 045,095 § 47,265,824 § 46,502,157
Easements 899,066 899,066 333,687 333,187 1,232,753 1,232,253
Construckon in progress 21,868,204 14,356,029 12,313,171 9,185,155 34,181,375 23,541,184
Buildings 89,076,805 94,063,401 8,338,698 9,205,290 97,415,503 103,268,691
Improvements other
than buildings 8,318,876 8,629,053 13,065,918 12,423,139 21,384,794 21,052,192
Machinery and equipment 15,224,114 13,915,568 20,541,972 22,814 387 35,766,083 36,729,955
intangibles:
JMU agreement - - 238,902 265,447 238,902 265,447
County landfill agreement - - - 2,114,906 - 2,114,906
Other 104,000 130,000 - - 104,000 130,000
Infrastructure 72,989,726 75,626,258 38,901,896 41,018,558 111,891,622 116,644,816
Total capital assets $ 255,304,317 $ 253,176437 § 94,176,539 § 98,305,164 $ 349,480,856 $ 351,481,601

Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found in Note 7 on pages 43 through 45 of this report.
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Long-term debt. At the end of the current fiscal year, the City had total long-term debt outstanding of $177.5 mil-
lion. Of this amount, $162.1 millicn comprises debt backed by the full faith and credit of the City. $239,994 of this
amount is debt that is secured by a specified revenue source that is also backed by the full faith and credit of the
City in the event these revenues are insufficient to make debt service payments. The City's total long-term debt de-
creased $2 million during the current fiscal year.

Significant long-term debt events during the current fiscal year included the following:

=« The issuance of $5.9 million in general obligation bonds to partially fund the Reservoir Street improvement pro-

ject in governmental activities.
e The issuance of $22.7 million in general cbligation bonds to current refund several outstanding bond issues for
governmental and business-type activities. The City was able to reduce its total debt service payments on the

old bonds by $3.2 million.

« Compensated absences in the amount of $261,996, postretirement healthcare benefits in the amount of
$200,989 and landfill closure costs in the amount of $4,724,044 were transferred from business-type activities
to governmental activities due the operaticnal reclassifications mentioned earlier.

City of Harrisonburg's Long-term Debt Outstanding
(net of premiums/discounts and deferred refunding charges}

Gavernmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

General obligation bonds $ 129,469,015 § 128,931,460 $ 32,405,122 § 34,061,921 $ 161,874,137 $ 162,993,381
General obfigation revenue

bonds - - 239,994 469,862 239,994 469,862
Capital leases 4,827,885 5,751,958 - - 4,827,885 5,751,958
Compensated absences 3,073,941 2,796,736 696,729 1,003,845 3,770,670 3,800,581
Postretirement healthcare
benefits 1,965,433 1,269,846 435,495 530,921 2,400,928 1,800,767
City tandfill closure costs 1,705,283 - - 1,665,315 1,705,283 1,665,315
County landfill obligation 2,697,965 - - 3,058,729 2,697,965 3,058,729
Total long-term debt $ 143,739,522 $ 138,750,000 $ 33,777,340 § 40,790,693 § 177,516,862 $ 179,540,593

During fiscal year 2012, the City's credit rating was upgraded to a AA bond rating from Standard and Poor’s while a
Aa2 bond rating from Moody's was maintained.

State statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt a governmental entity may incur to 10 percent of its total
assessed real property valuation. The current debt limitation for the City is $398.1 million of which $234.4 mitiion is

available for use.

Additional information on the City’s long-term debt can be found in Note 11 on pages 47 through 57 of this report.

Economic Factors and Next Year's Budgets and Rates

The approved $91.6 million fiscal year 2013 General Fund budget inciuded the use of approximately $438,000 from
unassigned fund balance and approximately $314,000 from committed fund balance. The following were factors in
the preparation and final approval of the fiscal year 2013 General Fund budget.

e The unemployment rate for the City in December 2011 was 6.6 percent, which was a decrease from a rate of
6.8 percent in December 2010. This rate was higher than the 5.9 percent state rate but still compares favorably

to the 8.3 percent national rate in December 2011.
e Increased the real estate tax rate from $0.59 to $0.63 to offset an approximate 2 percent decline in assessed
real estate values. This ax rate increase is anticipated to provide an additional $1.1 million in revenue com-

pared to fiscal year 2012,
e Increased the restaurant food tax rate from 6 percent tc 6.5 percent. This tax rate increase is anticipated fo

provide an additional $735,000 in revenue compared to fiscal year 2012,
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e Increased the solid waste collection fee from $10 to $15 per month. This fee increase is anticipated to provide
an additional $700,000 in revenue compared fo fiscal year 2012.

o No cost-of-living salary adjustments for City or School Board employees.

e Little or no growth in other tax revenue.

A water rate increase of $0.07 per one thousand gallons was approved to provide continued funding for the financ-
ing of the construction of a waterline from the Shenandoah River.

A sewer authority rate increase of $0.33 per one thousand gallons was approved to provide funding for the City’s
share of debt service for the Harrisonburg-Rockingham Regional Sewer Authority's $90 million wastewater treat-
ment plant expansion and increased operational costs associated with the expansion.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City's finances for all those with an interest in
the City's finances. A copy of this report in its entirety may be downloaded from the City's website at
www.harrisonburgva.gov. Questions concerning any of the information in this report or requests for additional fi-
nancial information should be addressed to the City of Harrisonburg, Director of Finance, 345 South Main Street,

Harrisonburg, VA 22801.
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA Exhibit 1
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
At June 30, 2012

Primary Government Component Units
Governmental Business-type School
Activities Activities Total Board HEC
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 42,669,431 § 22,656,925 % 65,326,356 § 6,556,274 § 6,457,373
Investments - - - B 11,500,000
Receivables {net of aliowance for uncollectibles) 40,935,694 2,277,815 43,213,509 1,646,424 5,423,375
Due from primary government - - - - 163,797
Due from component unit 53,669 - 53,669 56,580 93,176
internal balances 1,228,862 (1,228,862) - - -
inventory 1,714,697 - 1,714,597 104,885 1,713,101
Prepaid expenses 127,212 32,266 159,478 500,131 132,970
Loans receivable 9,583,080 - 9,683,080 - -
Restricted assets 6,089,359 - 6,089,359 - -
Bond issue costs 1,128,637 380,778 1,509,415 - -
Capital assets:
Capital assets, not being depreciated 69,590,799 13,089,153 82,679,952 5,611,429 5,469,976
Capitat assets {net of accumulated depreciation) 185,713,518 81,087,386 266,800,904 26,980,329 55,356,887
Total assets $ 358,834,858 $ 118,285461 $ 477,130,319 $ 41,456,052 § 86,310,655
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 3,295,466 § 670,127 $ 3,965,593 § 52743 §$ 5,321,265
Accrued payroll 552,212 118,339 670,551 5,136,328 -
Accrued interest 2,278,608 486,241 2,764,849 - -
Due to primary government - - - 47,822 5,847
Due fo component unit 91,004 72,793 163,797 93,176 56,580
Customer deposits - 291,297 291,297 - 949,970
Unearned revenue 34,063,806 739,658 34,803,464 - -
Other labifities 354,079 40,504 394,583 - 412,346
Liabilities payable from restricted assets 46,772 - 46,772 - -
Long-term liabilities:
Due within one year 8,959,175 2,290,834 11,250,009 289,235 365,915
Due in more than one year 134,780,347 31,486,506 166,266,853 2,876,089 772,172
Total Habilities $ 184421469 § 36,196,209 § 220,617,768 § 8495403 $ 7,884,095
Nef assets

Invested in capital assets {net of related debt) $ 136,256,502 § 61,531,423 $ 197,787,925 § 32,591,758 &% 60,826,863
Restricted for:

Public safety 152,249 - 162,249 - -
Debt service 284,297 - 284,297 - -
Unrestricted 37,720,341 20,567,739 58,288,080 368,891 17,599,697
Total net assets $ 174,413,389 % 82,099,162 % 256512551 % 32060649 3% 78 426 560

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Program Revenues

Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions
Primary Government:
Governmental activities:
General government administration 14,871,365 § 9,590,439 % 287,765 § -
Jait and judicial administration 3,353,068 417,063 - -
Public safety 18,758,038 198,963 1,661,236 -
Public works 15,430,666 4,223,763 3,807,770 3,020,379
Health and welfare 3,684,731 - - -
Education 30,965,228 2,163,748 - -
Parks, recreation and cultural 5,319,618 1,156,262 977 -
Planning and community development 3,844,899 669,253 562,980 -
Interest on long-term debt 5,602,256 - - -
Total governmental activities 101,830,869 3 18,419,491 § 6,420,728 $ 3,020,379
Business-type activities:
Water 5,398,401 § 5,803,548 3 - % 91,350
Sewer 9,217,798 8,631,508 - 44,200
Publfic transportation 4,817,708 1,558,556 1,469,284 3,075,631
Steam plant 6,670,472 4,717,861 - 15,110
Total business-type activities 26,104,379 3 20,711,474 & 1,469,284 § 3,226,291
Total primary government 127935248 3 39,130,965 $ 7,890,012 $ 6,246,670
Component units:
School Board 59,583,422 § 1,812,317 § 15,041,588 § -
Harrisonburg Electric Commission (HEC) 63,762,303 62,250,717 - 507,813
Totai component units 123,345,725 % 654,063,034 $ 15,041,598 % 507,813

General revenues:
Property taxes
Sales and use taxes
Restaurant food taxes
Business license taxes
Qther local taxes
Unrestricted grants and contributions
Unrestricted payment from primary government
Unrestricted payment from component units
Investment revenue
Other revenue
Gain on disposal of capital assets
Special item
Transfers

Total general revenues, special items and transfers
Change in net assets
Net assets at beginning of year

Net assets at end of year

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit 2

Net {Expense} Revenue and Changes in Net Assets

Primary Government

Component Units

Governmental Business-type School

Activifies Activities Total Board HEC
3 {(4,893,161) $ - % {4,983,161) § - % -
(2,936,005) - (2,936,005} - -
(16,898,839} - {16,898,839) - -
(4,278,754) - (4,278,754} - -
(3,684,731} - (3,684,731} - -
(28,801,480} - (28,801,480} - -
(4,162,379} - (4,162,379) - -
(2,612,6686) - (2,612,6686) - -
(5,602,256) - (5,602,256) - -
$ (73,970,271} % - % (73,970.271) & - % -
$ - % 496,498 § 496,498 § - 3 -
- (542,090) {542,090} - -
- 1,285,763 1,285,763 - -
- {1,937,501) (1,837,501) - -
3 - 3 (697.330) § (697,330) % - % -
$ {73,970,271) % (697,330} 3 {74,667,601) $ -3 -
$ - % - 3 - 3 (42,729,507) % -
- - - - (1.003,773)
3 - 3 - 3 -3 (42,729,507) $ (1,003,773}
5 31,897,146 $ - % 31,897,146 $ - 3 -
10,744,198 - 10,744,198 - -
8,815,101 - 8,815,101 - -
5,932,606 - 5,932,606 - -
5,599,612 - 5,599,612 - -
3,423,474 - 3,423,474 18,923,832 -
- - - 23,706,046 -
4,900,000 - 4,900,000 - -
68,365 3z121 100,486 1,605 70,501
2,265,535 1,308,949 3,574,484 279,108 -
- 10,863 10,863 - -
(1,446,706) - (1,446,706) - -
6,335,894 (6,335,894) - - -
$ 78,635,225 % (4,983,961) $ 73,651,264 $ 42,910,591 § 70,591
$ 4,664,954 § (5,681,201) % (1,016,337} 3 181,084 3 (933,182)
169,748,435 87,780,453 257,528,888 32,779,565 79,359,742
$ 174,413,388 $ 82,089,162 % 256,512,551 % 32,960,648 % 78,426,560
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

BALANCE SHEET

At June 30, 2012

Exhibit 3

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollecfibles})
Due from other funds
Due from component unit
inventory
Prepaid expenditures
Advance to other funds
Loans receivable
Restricted assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Due to other funds
Due to component unit
Advance from other funds
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Liabilities payable from restricted assets

Totat iiabilities

Fund Balances:
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total fund balances

Total liabilities and fund balances

General

Capital Other Total
General Projects Governmental Governmental

Fund Fund Funds Funds
$ 28072747 $ 10,047,240 § 424,837 $ 38,544,824
38,736,496 2,116,410 77,963 40,930,869
28,433 - - 28,433
- - 47,822 47,822
69,417 - - 69,417
118,952 - - 118,952
217,338 - - 217,339
9,567,700 - 16,380 9,583,080
284,297 5,805,062 - 6,089,359
$ 77095381 $ 17.968,712 § 566,002 $ 95,630,095
$ 989,073 $ 1,143,336 $ 47,236 § 2,179,645
413,485 - 126,040 539,525
- 28,433 - 28,433
89,391 - 943 90,334
- - 38,510 38,510
43,730,468 659,429 95,788 44,485,685
354,079 - - 354,079
- 46,772 - 46,772
$ 45576496 $§ 1,877,970 § 308,517 § 47,762,983
$ 780,708 § -3 -3 780,708
436,546 5,758,290 - 6,194,836
3,095,380 10,332,452 317,978 13,745,810
1,671,329 - - 1,671,329
25,534,922 - (60,493) 25,474,429
$ 31,518,885 $§ 16,090,742 § 257485 $ 47,867,112
$ 77095381 $ 17968712 § 566,002 $ 95,630,085

The accompanying notes to financiat statements are an integral part of this staterment.
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA Exhibit 4

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
At June 30, 2012

Total fund balance of governmental funds (Exhibit 3) $ 47,867,112

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets (Exhibit 1)
are different because:

Certain revenues are not available to pay for current period expenditures and therefore are

deferred in the funds. 10,913,020
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore are not

reported in the funds. 254,626,972
Certain liabifities, including bonds and related accounts, are not payable from current financial

rescurces and therefore are not reported in the funds. {144,734,286)
Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities to other

funds. The assets and liabilities of certain internal service funds are included in governmental

5,740,571

activities in the statement of net assefs.

Net assets of governmental activities (Exhibit 1) $ 174,413,389

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXFENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Exhibit &

Revenues:
General property taxes
Other local taxes
Permits, privitege fees and regulatory licenses
Fines and forfeitures
Use of money and property
Charges for services
Miscellaneous
Recovered costs
Payments from component units
intergovernmental
Total revenues

Expenditures:
Current;
General government administration
Jail and judicial administration
Public safety
Public works
Health and weifare
Education
Parks, recreation and cuitural
Planning and community development
Debt service:
Principal retirement
Interest and fiscal charges
Bond issue costs
Capital projects
Total expenditures

Excess {deficiency) of revenues
over {under) expenditures
Other financing sources (uses):
Long-term debt issued
Refunding debt issued
Premium on long-term debt issued
Payment for current bond refunding
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses}

Net change in fund balances
Fund balances at beginning of year

Fund balances at end of year

General

Capital Other Total
General Projects Governmental Governmental

Fund Fund Funds Funds
$ 32,180,329 § - % - $ 32,180,329
31,114,956 - - 31,114,956
498 465 - - 498,465
526,260 - - 526,260
156,535 14,843 221 171,599
5,630,835 - 2,144 363 7,775,198
2,002,299 4,000 8,229 2,014,528
303,253 303,253 - 606,506
4,900,000 - - 4,900,000
9,254,237 5,581,163 508,847 15,344,247
$ 86567,160 $ 5903259 $§ 2661660 $ 95132088
$ 4003007 % - 3 - $ 4,003,007
3,056,108 - - 3,056,108
17,541,823 - - 17,541,823
10,484,164 - - 10,484,164
3,662,866 - - 3,662,866
23,547 965 - 2,653,303 26,201,268
4,948,248 - - 4,946,248
3,164,774 - 566,916 3,731,680
7,054,192 - - 7,054,192
5,406,443 - - 5,406,443
381,755 - - 381,755
- 11,335,007 - 11,335,007
$ 83249345 § 11335007 $ 3220219 § 97,804571

$ 3317824

$_ (5431,748) $

(558.550) §  (2,672,483)

$ - $ 5865000 $ - % 5865000
21,400,000 - . 21,400,000
642,219 144,523 - 786,742
(21,649,901} - - (21,649,901
4,867,135 2,590,014 822,468 8,279,617
(2,326,071) - - (2,326,071)

$ 20933382 $ 8599537 § 822,468 $ 12,355,387
$ 6251206 $ 3167789 $ 263909 § 9,682,904
25,267,679 12,922,953 (6,424) 38,184,208

$ 31518885 S 16,090,742 $ 257,485 $ 47,867,112

The accompanying notes fo financial statements are an integral part of this statemant.
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA Exhibit 7

GENERAL FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Variance with

Final Budget
Budgeted Amounts Positive
Original Final Actual {Negative)
Revenues: 7
General property taxes $ 31968676 $§ 31968676 $ 32,180,329 § 211,653
Other local taxes 30,478,246 30,478,246 31,114,956 636,710
Permits, privilege fees and regulatory licenses 573,175 573,175 498,465 {74,710}
Fines and forfeitures 601,000 601,000 526,260 (74,740}
Use of money and properly 175,469 175,469 156,535 {18,934)
Charges for services 5,590,300 5,599,031 5,630,835 31,804
Miscellaneous 1,913,110 2,002 465 2,002,299 (1686)
Recovered costs - 303,253 303,253 -
Payments from component units 4,900,000 4,900,000 4,900,000 -
intergovernmental 9,138,606 9,555,633 9,254,237 {301,396}
Total revenues $ 85338582 $ 86,156048 $ 86,567,169 % 410,221
Expenditures:
Current:
General government administration $ 4480931 $ 4,303,687 $ 4,003,007 % 300,680
Jail and judicial administration 1,040,865 3,056,108 3,056,108 -
Public safety 17,495,968 18,175,920 17,541,823 634,097
Public works 13,102,554 14,095,608 10,484,164 3,611,442
Health and welfare 5,465,549 3,915,586 3,662,866 252,720
Education 25,200,043 25,866,436 23,547,965 2,318,471
Parks, recreation and cuitural 5,031,095 5,211,708 4,946,248 265,458
Pianning and community development 3,325,606 3,431,308 3,164,774 266,532
Debt service:
Principal retirement 7.211,193 7,211,193 7,054,192 157,001
Interest and fiscal charges 5,760,135 5,760,135 5,406,443 353,692
Bond issue costs - 392,318 381,755 10,563
Total expendifures $ 88,113,939 $ 91420001 $ 83,249,345 §$ 8,170,656
Excess {deficiency} of revenues
over {under) expenditures $ (2,775357) $ (5,263,063) $ 3,317,824 % 8,560,877
Other financing sources (uses}:
Refunding debt issued 3 - $ 21400000 $ 21,400,000 % -
Premium on long-term debt issued - 642,219 642219 -
Payment for current bond refunding - (21,649,901) (21,649,901} -
Transfers in 2,318,342 4,867,135 4,867,135 -
Transfers out (2,481,077) (2,531,418} {2,326,071) 205,347
Total other financing sources {uses) 5 (162,735) $ 2,728,035 $ 2,933,382 % 205,347
Net change in fund balance $ (2,9380892) $ (2535018 $ 6,251,206 $ 8,786,224
Fund balance at beginning of year 25,267,679
Fund balance at end of year $ 31,518,885

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral parl of this statement.
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATENMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Exhibit 9

Operating revenues:
Charges for services
Connection fees

Totat operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Perscnal services
Fringe benefits
Purchased services
Internal services
Other charges
Materials and supplies
Contributions io regional sewer authority
Depreciation and amonization
Cost of inventory issued
Claims related charges

Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Nonoperating revenues {expenses):

Intergovernmental revenue

Connection application fees

Miscellaneous revenue

Reimbursement of bond payment

Investment revenue

Interest expense

Gain on disposal of capital assets

Transfer of long-term assets and liabilities
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)

Income (loss) before contributions
and transfers

Capital confributions
Transfers in
Transfers out

Change in net assets

Net assets at beginning of year

Net assets at end of year

Adiustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund activities related to enterprise funds.

$

Enterprise Funds

Public Steam Internal

Water Sewer Transportation Plant Service

Fund Fund Fund Fund Total Funds
5,731,845 $ 8,628,608 $ 1,558,556 $ 4,621,686 $ 20,540,695 § 16,524,494
71,704 2,900 - - 74,604 -
5,803,549 § 8,631,508 § 1,658,556 § 4621686 $ 20,615,299 § 16,524,494
1,381,282 § 963,400 § 1,606,028 $ 1,118,020 $ 5,068,730 § 616,090
480,063 385,625 399,877 442,025 1,707,590 223,165
377,206 65,556 102,143 987,047 1,531,952 614,573
241,443 244,492 1,118,842 46,068 1,650,845 2,223
479,125 135,848 237,772 1,415,795 2,268,540 798,993
325,545 75,257 25,797 262,104 688,703 52,615
- 5,976,669 - - 5,976,669 -
1,778,849 1,330,958 1,276,919 1,594,573 5,581,299 29,801
- - - - - 3,487,779
- - - - - 12,540,667
5063513 § 9,177,805 § 4,767,378 § 5865632 $ 24874328 § 18,365,906
740,036 $ (546,297) $ (3,208,822) §  (1,243,046) $ (4,259,029} § (1,841,412}
~ % - 8 1,469,284 5 - § 1469284 § -
230,134 492 550 - - 722,684 -
25,110 38 66,117 - 91,265 12,507
- - - 591,175 591,175 -
10,578 6,618 219 14,706 32,121 6,005
{245,933) - - {786,642) {1,032,5675) -
500 3,485 6,878 - 10,863 -
- - {1,236,617) 1,058,156 (178,461) -
20,389 3 502,691 3 305,881 % 877,395 $ 1,706,356 $ 18,512
760,425 $ (43,608} $ (2,902,941) $ (366,551) $ (2,552,673) $ (1,822,900}
91,350 44,200 3,075,631 15,110 3,226,291 -
- - 426,830 558,843 985,673 203,887
{1,344,520) {1,100,934) (711,004) {3,986,558) (7,143,106) -
(492,745) $ (1,100,340) % (111,574) $ (3.779,156) $ (5,483,815) § (1,619,013)
42,522,053 29,724,887 6,537,345 10,027,554 6,130,722
42,029,308 $ 28,624547 § 6,425,771 § 6,248,398 $ 4,511,709

(197,476)
$  (5,681,291)

Change in net assets of business-type aclivities (Exhibit 2)

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an infegral part of this statement.
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA Exhibit 10

PROPRIETARY FUNDS Page 2
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS ’
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012
Enterprise Funds
Public Steam internal
Water Sewer Transportation Plant Service
Fund Fund Fund Fund Total Funds
Reconciliation of operating income {loss) to net cash provided by (used for) operating activities:
Operating income (loss} $ 740,036 § (546,297} § (3,208,822) § (1,243,946) $ (4,258,029) $ (1,841,412}
Adjustments to reconcie operating
income {foss) to net cash provided by
{used for) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 1,778,849 1,330,958 1,276,919 1,594 573 5,981,299 29,801
Connection fees {71,704} (2,900% - - {74,604) -
Miscetlaneous revenue 28,860 249 61,584 - 90,693 11,156
Change in assets and liabilities:
- {Increase) decrease in;
Accounts receivable (37,628) (131,842) 17 32,022 (137,431) 910
Due from component unit - - - - - 544
Inventory - - - - - 166,493
Prepaid expenses 8,970 12,236 4,661 12,729 38,596 3,527
Increase {decrease) in;
Accounts payable 2,964 1,260 33,541 135,600 173,365 202,183
Accrued payrolf (48,385) {31,876) (84,209) (50,755} {215,225) (22,941)
Due to component unit 2,600 (772) {13) {11,428} (9,613) {285)
Customer deposits 17,801 - - - 17,801 -
Unearned revenue - - - 30,808 30,808 (389,103}
Other fiabilities {22,100} - - - (22,100) -
Compensated absences (6,847} 11,591 {5,984} (43,879) (45,119) {14,611}
Postretirement healthcare benefits 29,312 33,149 18,857 24 245 105,563 - 16,089
Net cash provided by {used for}
operating activities $ 2422728 § 675,756 §$ (1,003,448) $ 479969 $ 1675004 § (1,837,649)
Non - cash capital and related financing activities:

Additions to capital assets:

Confributed by developers $ 91,350 % 44,200 $ - & - § 135550 § -
Purchase and construction on account 107,534 52,743 217,556 - 377,833 -
174,431 - - 14,353 188,784 B

Capitalized interest
Reductions fo capital assets:

Transfers related to fund activities rectassification - - 1,488,453 3,873,217 5,361,670 -

The accompanying nofes to financial stalements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

At June 30, 2012

Exhibit 11

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Prepaid items

Total assets
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll

Amounts held for others

Total liabilities

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Agency
Funds

3,349,143
114,312
47,368

3,610,823

28,775
35,519

__ 3448520

3,510,823




CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2012

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements of the City of Harrisonburg, Virginia conform to generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) applicable to government units promulgated by the Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The

following is a summary of the more significant policies:
A. Reporting Entity

The City of Harrisonburg (City) is a municipality governed by an elected five-member councit (City Councif). The
accompanying financial statements present the City, the primary government, and its component units. The com-
ponent units discussed in the section below are included in the City's reporting entity because of the significance of
their operations, financial relationship and accountability to the City.

Discretely presented component units. The Harrisonburg City School Board (School Board) is responsible for
elementary and secondary education within the City's jurisdiction. The Schoo! Board is comprised of five elected
members. The School Board is dependent on the City in that it does not have taxing authority, and the City Council
must approve the School Board's budget and any debt issuance. The School Board does not issue separate finan-

cial statements.

The Harrisonburg Electric Commission (HEC) is responsible for the operations of the City owned electricity distribu-
tion system. HEC purchases electrical energy indirectly from Dominion Virginia Power through the Virginia Munici-
pal Electric Association and resells it to city residents. HEC is managed by a five-member commission appointed by
the City Council. HEC is dependent on the City in that it may not issue debt without the approval of City Council. To
obtain a copy of the audited financial statements contact the Harrisonburg Electric Commission, 89 West Bruce

Street, Harrisonburg, Virginia 22801,

B. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net assets and the statement of changes in net
assets) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its component units.
For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. Governmental activities,
which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-
type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. Likewise, the primary government
is reported separately from certain legally separate component units for which the primary government is financiaily

accountable.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segment
are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or
segment. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit
from goods, setvices, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other
items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, even
though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmentat funds
and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund statements. Revenues are recorded when earned and ex-
penses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are
recoghized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue
as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

Agency funds, a type of fiduciary fund, report only assets and liabilities; therefore, they do not have a measurement
focus. Agency funds use the accrual basis of accounting to recognize assets and liabilities.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and
the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are measurable and available.
Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough there-
after to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be available if they are

collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability
is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to

compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due.

Property taxes are recorded as receivables when assessed, net of allowances for uncollectible amounts, and as
revenue when the property taxes become available. Sales, restaurant food, admission and amusement, hotel and
motel, franchise license, and utility taxes are recognized as receivables and revenue upon collection by the mer-
chant or utility since the taxes are generally remitted in time to be used as a current financial resource for the pay-
ment of obligations incurred during the year. Property and other taxes not collected or remitted within 60 days after

year-end are reflected as deferred revenue.

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund — The General Fund is the general operating fund of the City. )t accounts for all financial re-
sources of the general government, except those accounted for in other funds.

General Capital Projects Fund — This fund accounts for the financial resources to be used for the acquisition
and construction of major capital facilities of the general government.

The City reports the following major proprietary funds:
Water Fund — This fund accounts for the activities of the City's water treatment and distribution operations.

Sewer Fund — This fund accounts for the activities of the City’s sewage collection, transmission and disposal
operations,

Public Transportation Fund — This fund accounts for the activities of the City’s transit bus operations,
Steam Piant Fund — This fund accounts for the activities of the City’s steam plant operations.
Additionally, the City reports the following fund types:

Special revenue funds account for the administration of the community development block grant, operations of
the schoo! bus system and the administration of a revolving loan program.

Internal service funds account for central garage, central stores and self-insured heaith insurance services pro-
vided to other departments or agencies of the City, or to other governments or agencies, on a cost reimburse-

ment basis.
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Agency funds account for assets held by the City in the Juvenile Grime Control Fund for the 26™ Judicial Dis-
trict Court Service Unit as a participant in the Virginia Juvenile Community Crime Control Act (VJCCCA), the
Industrial Development Authority Fund and the Emergency Communications Center Fund.

Private-sector standards of accounting and financial reporting issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) prior to December 1, 1989, generally are followed in both government-wide and proprietary fund financial
statements to the extent that those standards do not cenflict with or contradict guidance of the GASB. Governments
also have the option of following subsequent private-sector guidance for their business-type activities and enter-
prise funds, subject to the same limitation. The City has elected not to follow private sector guidance issued after
December 1, 1989. HEC, a compenent unit, applies private-sector guidance issued before and after December 1,

1989.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial state-
ments. Exceptions to this general rule are transfers and other charges between the City’s enterprise funds and var-
ious other functions of the City. Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues
reported for the various functions concerned.

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, or privi-
leges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions. Internally dedicated
resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include

all taxes.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprie-
tary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the City’s proprietary funds are charg-
es to customers for sales and services. The Water and Sewer Funds also recognize as operating revenue
connection fees that cover the cost of connecting a customer to the City’s water and sewer lines. Operating ex-
penses for the City's proprietary funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses and depreci-
ation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating

revenues and expenses.

When both restricted and unrestricted net assets are available for use, it is the City's policy to use restricted net
assets first, and then unrestricted net assets as they are needed.

D. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles for all governmen-
tal funds except for the General Capital Projects Fund, which adopts a project-length budget, and the Community
Development Block Grant Fund, which adopts a grant-length budget. Formal budgetary integration is employed in
all funds as a management control device during the year except for the Health Insurance Fund, an internal service

fund, and all agency funds.

Prior to May 1, the City Manager submits to the City Council a balanced proposed operating and capital budget for
the fiscal year commencing the foliowing July 1. The operating and capital budget includes proposed expenditures
and the means of financing them. Prior to June 30, the City Council holds public hearings to obtain citizen com-
ments, and a final budget is legally enacted through the passage of an Appropriation Ordinance. All budget data
presented is the original budget and the final budget as of June 30, 2012,

36




Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {continued)

The appropriated budget places legal restrictions on expenditures at the fund level. The City Manager is authorized
to transfer budgeted amounts within funds as may best meet the needs and interests of the City. The City may in-
crease total appropriations at the fund level through approval of City Council. Supplemental appropriations were
made during the year in the General Fund totaling $26,006,304, of which $22,042,219 involved a current refunding
bond issue. Supplemental appropriations that exceed one percent of the budget require a public hearing prior to
approval. Appropriations lapse at June 30, except for capital projects funds and the Community Development Block

Grant Fund.

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and other commitments for the expenditure of
monies are recorded in order to encumber that portion of the applicable appropriations, is employed as an exten-
sion of formal budgetary integration in the General and General Capital Projects Funds. Encumbrances outstanding
at the end of the fiscal year are reported as either commitments or assignments of fund balance since they do not
constitute expenditures or liabilities but rather the City’s intent to expend funds. Encumbered amounts are generaily
reappropriated by City Council in the next fiscal year.

E. Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets or Fund Equity

1. Cash and cash equivalents. For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are
defined as short-term highly liquid investments that are both readily convertible to known amounts of cash and in-
vestments with original maturities of 90 days or less from the date of acquisition.

2. Investments. The City's investments are reported at fair value, which is obtained by using readily determinable
guoted market valuations. Interest earned on pooled investments held by the School Board is assigned to the Gen-

eral Fund.

The City is a voluntary participant in the Virginia State Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP), which is an ex-
ternal investment pool. The LGIP is not registered with the Securities Exchange Commission (SEC), however, the
pool is managed consistent with the definition of a “2a-7 like pool” as defined in GASB Statement No. 31, Account-
ing and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External investment Pools. The Virginia General As-
sembly has authorized the Treasury Board to administer the LGIP, which has delegated to the State Treasurer the
administrative aspects of managing the pool. The City is a voluntary participant in the Virginia State Non-Arbitrage
Program (SNAP), which is an open-end management investment company registered with the SEC. The fair value
of the investment in these pools is determined by the pool’'s share price.

3. Interfund Receivables. Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements out-
standing at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as “advances to/from other funds.” All other outstanding bal-
ances between funds are reported as “due to/from other funds.” Any residuai balances outstanding between the
governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as

“internal balances.”

4. Property taxes. Property taxes are levied as of January 1 on property values assessed annually. The last effec-
tive general real property reassessment was January 1, 2012. Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on
property as of January 1, but are not collected untif the following fiscal year. Real estate taxes are due and collect-
ble twice a year, on December 5 and June 5. Personal property taxes are due and collectible annually on Decem-
ber 5. The portion of the tax receivable that is not collected within 60 days after June 30 is shown as deferred
revenue in the fund financial statements. A penalty of ten percent of the tax is assessed after the applicable pay-
ment date. interest at an annual rate of ten percent is charged on delinquent real estate property tax accounts be-
ginning January 1 and July 1. Interest at an annual rate of four percent is charged on delinquent personal property

tax accounts beginning January 1.

The City calculates its allowance for uncollectible delinquent property tax accounts using historical collection data
and specific account analysis. The allowance at June 30, 2012 amounted to $859,360.
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

5. Inventory and prepaid items. Inventories are valued at average cost. Inventory consists of expendable sup-
plies held for consumption and is accounted for using the consumption method. The costs are recorded as expendi-
tures or expenses at the time individual inventory items are used or issued. Certain payments to vendors reflect
costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid items using the consumption method.

6. Restricted assets, The City has cash, investments and receivables presented on the balance sheet as restrict-
ed for specific purposes. These restrictions limit the use of these funds based on debt service reserve requirements
associated with a capital lease agreement and bond construction accounts.

7. Capital assets. Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment and infrastructure assets {(e.g., roads,
bridges, sidewalks, and similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities col-
umn in the government-wide financial statements. In general, the City defines capital assets as assets with an ini-
tial, individual cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of two years. Infrastructure,
water/sewer lines and certain other improvements have a capitalization threshold that ranges from $25,000 to
$100,000. All purchased capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost. Donated capital
assets are valued at their estimated fair market value at the date of donation. The cost of normal maintenance and
repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend the asset's life are not capitalized.

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. Interest incurred dur-
ing the construction phase of capital assets of business-type activities is included as part of the capitalized value of
the assets constructed. The amount of interest capitalized for fiscal year 2012 in the Water and Steam Plant Funds

was $174,431 and $14,353, respectively.

Unless otherwise noted, depreciation for capital assets is computed over the following useful lives using the
straight-line method.

Buildings 40 years
improvements other than buildings 10-50 years
Machinery and equipment 2-30 years
Infrastructure 20-40 years
James Madison University land and steam agreement 25 years

8. School Board Capital Assets. Under current iegislation enacted by the Commonwealth of Virginia, local gov-
ernments have a "tenancy in common” with the School Board whenever the locality incurs “on-behalf’ debt for
school property. In order to match the capitat asset with the related debt, the legislation permits the City to report
the portion of the school property related to the outstanding financial obligation in the primary government. As prin-
cipal is repaid, capital assets equal to the amount of principal debt reduction will be removed from the primary gov-
ernment's financial statements and reported in the School Board's financial statements. The School Board retains
authority and responsibility over the operation and control of the property. The City transferred $2,750,218 in net
capital assets to the Schoo! Board during the current year on the government-wide statement of activities.

9. Unearned revenue/deferred revenue. Under the accrual basis of accounting, uneamed revenue is recorded
when asset recognition criteria have been met, but revenue recognition criteria have not been met. Under the modi-
fied accrual basis of accounting, deferred revenue is recorded when asset recognition criteria (measurable) have
been met, but the revenue is not available to pay for the liabilities of the current period.

10. Compensated absences. It is the City’s policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but not used vaca-
tion and sick pay benefits. The City pays a benefit for accumulated sick leave upon an employee’s separation from
service to the extent the employee meets cerfain criteria. Vacation and sick pay are accrued when incurred in the
government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in governmen-
tal funds only if they have matured as a result of employee resignations and retirements.
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {continued)

11. Long-term obligations. In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund
financial statements, long-term debt and other fong-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable gov-
ernmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net assets. Bond premiums and
discounts, as well as bond issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-
line method. Deferred amounts from bond refundings are amortized over the remaining life of the old bonds or the
life of the new bonds, whichever is shorter. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or dis-
count and deferred amounts from bond refundings. Unamortized bond issuance costs are reported in other assets.

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond
issuance costs, during the current period. Bond premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financ-
ing sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. The face amount of debt is-
sued is reported as other financing sources. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds

received, are reported as expenditures.

12. Fund balance. In the fund financial statements, the City may report certain fund balance amounts as
nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned or unassigned. Nonspendable fund balance consists of amounts
that cannot be spent because they are either not in spendable form such as inventories or prepaid items or
amounts that are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. Restricted fund balance is a constraint on
fund balance that is externally imposed such as by creditors or grantors or imposed by law or enabling legislation
for a specific purpose. Committed fund balance is a constraint imposed by formal action of City Council, as the
highest level of decision making authority, for a specific purpose and may only be maodified or rescinded by formal
action of City Council. Assigned fund balance is a constraint imposed at a lower level of decision making authority
for a specific purpose and only reflects the City's intent to expend funds for a specific purpose. Assigned fund bal-
ance also includes encumbrances reappropriated in the subsequent fiscal year by City Council and amounts used
to balance the subsequent year's budget. There has been no formal policy established for any official to assign
fund balance for specific purposes. Unassigned fund balance consists of amounts not assigned to other funds and
that has not been restricted, committed or assigned for specific purposes within the same fund.

The City considers restricted fund balance to be spent first when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which
both restricted and unrestricted amounts are available. When unrestricted amounts are available for use, the City
will first use committed, then assigned and finally unassigned fund balance when an expenditure is incurred.

The City's formally adopted General Fund minimum fund balance policy requires unassigned fund balance to be
equal to no less than 12 percent of the total General Fund budget at the end of each fiscal year plus an additional
four percent for liquidity purposes resulting in a total target amount of 16 percent of the General Fund budget.

13. Use of estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and dis-
closures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Note 2. Reconcitiation of Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

A. Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund balance sheet and the government-
wide statement of net assets

A reconciliation between the total fund balance as reported in the governmental fund balance sheet and net assets
of governmentaj activities as reported in the government-wide statement of net assets is provided on Exhibit 4. One
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Note 2. Reconciliation of Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements (continued)

Another element of that reconciliation states that “Expenses reported in the statement of activities that do not re-
quire the use of current financial resources are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.” The details of

this difference are as foliows:

Compensated absences (not including internal service funds) 3 (29,821)
Postretirement healthcare benefits {not including internal service funds) {478,509)
Landfill closure and postclosure {150,628)

161,336

Accrued interest

Net adjustment $ (497,622)

Note 3. Deposits and Investments

Deposits. The entire bank balances of the City and its component units were covered by the Federal Depository
Insurance Corpearation {FDIC) and collateralized in accordance with the Virginia Security for Public Deposits Act
{Act). Under the Act, banks and savings institutions holding public deposits in excess of the amounts insured by
FDIC must pledge collateral to the Commonwealth of Virginia Treasury Board. Financial institutions may choose
between two collateralization methodologies, and depending upon that choice, will piedge collateral that ranges in
amounts from 50 percent to 130 percent of excess deposits. Accordingly, all deposits are considered insured or
fully collateralized. The State Treasury Board is responsible for monitoring compliance with the collateralization and
reporting requirements of the Act and notifying local governments of compliance by financial institutions.

Investments. Inferest rate risk. In accordance with the City's investment policy, the City manages its exposure to
declines in fair values by investing only in securities maturing in three years or less from the time of purchase. As of

June 30, 2012, there were no securities subject to interest rate risk.

Credit risk. Statutes authorize the City and its component units fo invest in obligations of the United States or agen-
cies thereof, obligations of the Commonwealth of Virginia or political subdivisions thereof, obligations of the Interna-
tionat Bank for Reconstruction and Development (World Bank), the Asian Development Bank, the African Develop-
ment Bank, "prime quality” commercial paper and certain corporate notes, bankers acceptances, repurchase
agreements, the LGIP and SNAP. The City's investment policy does not further limit these investment choices. As
of June 30, 2012, all City investments in external investment pools and money market funds were rated AAAm by

Standard & Poor's.

The following is a summary of deposit and investment balances at June 30, 2012.

Component Units

Primary School
Government Board HEC Total

investments:
Local Government Investment Pool {(LGIP) $ 65811,456 % 6,319.827 % 541 & 72,131,824
State Non-Arhitrage Pool {(SNAF) 5,805,062 - - 5,805,082
U.S. Treasury Money Market Fund 284,297 - - 284,297
Certificates of Deposit - - 5,500,000 5,500,000
Money Market Account - - 6,000,000 6,000,000
Deposits 2,846,533 236,447 6,454,532 9,637 512
Total deposits and investments $ 74,747,348 % 6,556,274 $ 17,955,073 $ 99,258,695
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Note 4. Receivables

The following is a summary of receivables at June 30, 2012.

Primary Government Component Units
Governmental  Business-type School
Activities Activities Total Board HEC

Property taxes receivable $ 35335992 % - $ 35335992 3 - % -
Other taxes receivable 1,387,152 - 1,387,152 - -
Accounts receivable 293,646 1,875,021 2,168,667 - 5,423,375
Other receivables 259,082 32,855 291,037 257,726 -
Due from other governments:

Commonwealth of Virginia 3,606,830 43,957 3,650,787 1,085,911 -

Federal Government 912,352 397,562 1,309,914 302,787 -
Allowance for uncoltectibles {859,360} (71,580} (930,940) - -
Total $ 40935694 % 2277815 § 43213509 $ 1,646,424 3% 5,423,375
Note 5. Restricted Assets
The following is a summary of restricted assets at June 30, 2012.

Governmental
Activities

Cash and cash equivalents:

Bond construction account 3 5,805,062

Debt service reserve account {capital lease payments} 284,297
Total $ 6,089,359
Note 6. Loans Receivable
The following is a summary of loans receivable at June 30, 2012.

Loan Tem Interest Current
Borrowing Entity/Loan Number Date (in years} Rate Balance Portion

HRHA* December & 2011 17.5 319% % 6,035,000 % 265,000
HRHA* Qclober 24, 2006 26.5 4.21% 3,157,700 96,600
Massanutten Regional Library May 15, 2000 n/a 0.0% 375,000 -

Total General Fund $ 9,567,700 $ 361,600

2012-02 December 28, 2011 4 4.5% $ 4,068 $ 1,162
2012-01 March 14, 2012 4 4.5% 11,312 2,834
Total Business Loan Program Fund $ 15,380 % 3,996
Total Governmentat Activities $ 9583080 % 365,596

*Harrisonburg Redevslopment and Housing Authority
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Note 7. Capital Assets

Primary Government

The following is a summary of the changes in capital assets of the governmental activities for fiscal year 2012.

Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land
Easements
Construction in progress

Capital assets, not being depreciated

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings
Improvements other than buildings
Machinery and equipment
intangibles
Infrastructure

Capital assets, being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation:
Buildings
Improvements other than buildings
Machinery and equipment
Intangibles
Infrastructure

Accumulated depreciation

Capital assets, being depreciated (net)

Balance Balance
June 30, 2011 Additions Reductions June 30, 2012
45 557,062 $ 1,266,467 $ -3 46,823,529
899,066 - - 899,066
14,356,029 8,438,231 (926,056} 21,868,204
60,812,157 § 9,704,698 $ (926,056} $ 69,590,799
116,837,111 § 906,831 % (3,341,450) § 114,402,492
12,067,901 158,112 - 12,226,013
25,920,583 6,889,110 (442,302) 32,367,391
130,000 3,409,217 {3,409,217) 130,000
134,584,017 844,511 - 135,428,528
289,539,612 § 12,207,781 $ {7,192,069) $ 284,554,424
(22,773,710 $ (3,143,209) % 591,232 3% (25,325,687)
(3,438,848} (468,289) - (3,907,137)
{12,005,015) (5,580,567) 442,302 (17,143,280)
- (1,517,087) 1,491,087 (26,000}
(58,957,759) {3,481,043) - (62,438,802}
(97,175,332} § {14,190,195) % 2,524,621 3 (108,840,906)

192,364,280 §

(1,982,414) $

{4,668,348) $

185,713,518

The above total for additions to accumulated depreciation does not agree with the tofal depreciation by func-
tion/programs of governmental activities shown below by $5,193,392. This difference represents accumulated de-
preciation on capital assets transferred from business-type activities, including the reclassifications described in
Note 30.

Depreciation expense was charged to function/programs of governmentai activities as follows:

General government administration 3 41,113
Jail and judicial administration 296,960
Public safety 1,288,650
Public works 4,315,901
Health and welfare 21,865
Education 2,178,502
Parks, recreation and culture 691,642
Planning and community development 132,369
Internal service funds (aliocated to various functions) 29,801

Total governmental activities depreciation expense $ 8,996,803
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Note 7. Capital Assets (continued)

The primary government has included in the preceding schedule land in the amount of $113,878, buildings in the
amount of $11,704,921 ($4,952,726 in accumulated depreciation) and machinery and equipment in the amount of
$5,939,144 ($767,117 in accumulated depreciation) that are associated with capital lease obligations.

The following is a summary of the changes in capital assets of the business-type activities for fiscal year 2012.

Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land
Easements
Construction in progress

Capital assets, not being depreciated

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings
Improvements other than buildings
Machinery and equipment
Intangibles:
JMU land and steam agreement
Rockingham County fandfill agreement
Infrastructure

Capital assets, being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation:
Buiidings
Improvements other than buildings
Machinery and equipment
intangibles:
JMU tand and steam agreement
Rockingham County landfill agreement
Infrastructure

Accumulated depreciation

Capitai assets, being depreciated {net)

3

Balance Balance
June 30, 2011 Additions Reductions June 30, 2012
945095 $ -3 {502,800) $ 442,295
333,187 500 - 333,687
9,185,155 4,145,766 {1,017,750) 12,313,171
10,463,437 § 4,146,266 $ (1,520,550) $ 13,089,153
13,487,479 § -3 (906,830) % 12,580,649
18,608,000 1,087,946 - 19,705,946
50,201,225 2,891,051 (6,192,445) 45,899,831
2,041,898 - - 2,041,898
3,409,217 - (3,408,217) -
74,931,749 135,550 - 75,067,299
162,679,568 3 4124547 $ {10,508,492) $§ 156,295,623
(4282,189) $ (288,198) $ 328,436 % (4,241,951)
(6,184,861) (455,167) - (6,640,028)
{27,386,838) (2,965,611) 3,884,590 {26,357,859)
{1,776,451) (26,545) - {1,802,996)
{1,294,311) - 1,294,311 -
{33,913,191) (2,252,212) - (36,165,403}
(74,837,841) $ (5,987,733) % 5,617,337 % (75,208,237}

— 45 I fog
7,641,727 %

[oe]
e ]

a4 na7 200
81,087,386

The above total for additions to accumulated depreciation does not agree with the total depreciation by func-
tion/programs of business-type activities shown below by $38,049. This difference represents accumulated depre-

ciation on capital assets transferred from governmental activities.

Depreciation expense was charged to function/programs of business-type activities as follows:

Water

Sewer

Public transportation
Steam plant

Total business-type activities depreciation expense
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Note 7. Capital Assets (continued)

The following is a summary of the changes in capital assets of the City's component units for fiscal year 2012,

Component Unit - School Board:

Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress

Capital assets, not being depreciated

Capital assets, being depreciated:;
Buildings
improvements other than buildings
Machinery and equipment

Capital assets, being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation:
Buifdings
improvements other than buildings
Machinery and equipment

Accumulated depreciation

Capital assets, being depreciated (net)

Compoenent Unit — HEC:

Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress

Capital assets, not being depreciated

Capital assets, being depreciated;
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure

Capital assets, being depreciated

Less accumutated depreciation:
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure

Accumulated depreciation

Capital assets, being depreciated (net)

R

Batance Batance
June 30, 2011 Additions Reductions June 30, 2012
5611429 % - 3 -8 5,611,429
- 1,679,150 {1,679,150) -
5611429 $ 1,679,150 % (1,679,150) $ 5,611,429
36,944,926 $ 5,020,600 $ - % 41,965,526
95,168 - - 95,168
4,814,538 122,237 - 4,936,775
41,854632 % 5142837 § - 3 46,997,469
(15,593,839) $ (1,581,222) $ - % {17,175,061)
(22,971) (4,759} - (27,730)
(2,475,307) (339,042} - (2,814,349)
{18,092,117) $ (1,925,023} $ - % (20,017,140)
23,762,515 % 3217814 % - % 26,980,329

Balance Balance
June 30, 2011 Additions Reductions June 30, 2012
2,939,056 $ 1565451 % -5 3,094,507
1,416,589 2,724 557 (1,765,677) 2,375,469
'4,355,645 $ 2,880,008 $ (1,765,6877) $ 5,469,976
2,780,332 $ 9239 % - % 2,789,571
6,011,263 87,702 {412) 6,098,553
105,735,627 1,872,565 {379,863) 107,228,329
114,527,222 § 1,969,506 % (380,275) $ 116,116,453
(1,705,928) $ (73,915} $ - % (1,779,843}
(5,640,851} (156,117) - (5,796,968)
(49,820,713) {3,684,529) 322,487 (53,182,755)
(57,167,492) % (3,914,561) $ 322,487 % (60,759,566)
57,359,730 $ (1,945,055) $ (57,788) $ 55,356,887
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Note 10. Unearned Revenue/Deferred Revenue (continued)

Unearned revenue for business-type activities in the amount of $739,658 represents connection application fees for
which the services had not been provided as of year-end and other customer overpayments. This amount is com-
prised of $419,650 in the Water Fund, $289,200 in the Sewer Fund and $30,808 in the Steam Plant Fund.

Note 11. Long-term Liabilities
Primary Government

The following is a summary of the debt service requirements for the long-term liabilities of the governmental activi-
ties as of June 30, 2012.

Year General Total

Ending Obligation Bonds Capital Leases Governmental Activities
June 30, Principat Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest
2013 $ 6,510,247 $ 5111082 § 966,354 $ 194,347 $ 7,476,601 $ 5,305,409
2014 6,231,477 4,872,295 1,010,142 149,370 7,241,619 5,021,665
2015 6,214,363 4,649,891 490,060 102,469 6,704,423 4,752,360
2016 6,441,959 4,412,652 510,329 81,652 6,952,288 4,494,304
2017 6,675,682 4,181,565 437,000 61,382 7,112,682 4,222,947
2018-2022 33,473,132 16,848,008 1,414,000 81,065 34,887,132 16,929,073
2023-2027 37,774,673 9,469,538 - - 37,774,673 9,469,538
2028-2032 22,750,000 3,198,413 - - 22,750,000 3,198,413
2033-2035 3,620,000 162,650 - - 3,620,000 162,650
Total $ 129691533 § 52886074 $ 4,827,885 $ 670,285 $ 134519418 $ 53,656,359

The following is a summary of the debt service requirements for the long-term liabilities of the business-type activi-
ties as of June 30, 2012.

Year General General Obligation Total

Ending Obligation Bonds Revenue Bonds Business-type Aclivities
June 30, Principal Interest Principal interest Principal interest
2013 $ 1,872,535 $ 1,053,956 § 240,000 % 5400 $ 2112535 $ 1,059,356
2014 2,442 483 990,285 - - 2,442,483 990,285
2015 2,511,174 923,518 - - 2,511,174 923,518
2016 2,570,565 853,247 - - 2,570,565 853,247
2017 2,159,256 789,615 - - 2,159,256 789,615
2018-2022 10,148,729 2,823,543 - - 10,148,729 2,823,043
2023-2027 7,392,485 1,213,706 - - 7,392,485 1,213,706
2028-2032 3,149,333 519,897 - - 3,149,333 519,897
2033-2037 1,414,333 49,500 - - 1,414,333 49,500
2038-2040 113,600 - - - 113,600 -
Total $ 33774493 § 9217267 § 240,000 $ 5400 $ 34,014,493 § 9,222 667
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Note 11. Long-term Liabilities {continued)

The following is a summary of the changes to the long-term liabilities of the governmental activities for fiscal year

2012,
Batance Balance Due Within
June 30, 2011 Additions Reductions June 30, 2012 One Year
Bonds payable:
General obligation bonds $ 129,885635 § 27,265,000 $ (27,459,102) $ 129,691,533 § 6,510,247
Bond premiums/discounts (net) 387,469 786,742 (47,742} 1,126,469 64,861
Deferred bond refunding charges {1,341,644) (995,078) 987,735 {1,348,987) {71,284)
Total bonds payable $ 128,931,460 $ 27,056,664 $ (26,519,109} § 129,469,015 $ 6,503,824
Capital leases 5,751,958 - (924,073) 4,827,885 966,354
Compensated absences 2,796,736 1,880,067 (1,602,862) 3,073,941 1,402,298
Postretirement healthcare benefits 1,269,846 1,022,734 {327.147) 1,065,433 -
City landfill closure costs - 4,874,672 (3,169,389) 1,705,283 86,699
County landfilt contractual obligation - 2,697,965 - 2,697 965 -
Governmental activities long-term debt $ 138,750,000 $ 37532102 $ (32,542,580} $ 143,738,522 $ 8,859,175

Long-term Habilities for governmental acfivities are generally liquidated by the General Fund. The Internal Service
Funds are consoclidated into the governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. Accordingly,
long-term liabilities for these funds are included as part of the above totals. At June 30, 2012, $89,654 and $65,553
of compensated absences and postretirement healthcare benefits, respectively, are included in the above amounts

for these internal service funds.

The foilowing is a summary of the changes to the long-term liabilities of the business-type activities for fiscal year

2012.
Balance Balance Due Within
June 30, 2011 Additions Reductions June 30, 2012 One Year
Bonds payable:
General obligation bonds $ 35570877 % 1325000 $ {3,121,384) $ 33,774493 § 1,872,535
General obligation revenue bonds 470,000 - (230,000} 240,000 240,000
Bend premiums/discounts (net) 1,281,805 40,982 {97,961} 1,224,826 99,252
Deferred bond refunding charges (2,790,899) (7,729) 204,425 (2,594,203) (204,614)
Total bonds payable $ 34,531,783 % 1,358,253 $§  (3,244,920) $ 32645116 $ 2,007,173
Compensated absences 1,003,845 345,382 {652,498} 696,729 283,661
Postretirement healthcare benefits 530,921 175,388 {270,814) 435,495 -
Landfill closure and postclosure costs 4,724,044 - (4,724,044) - -
Business-type activities iong-term debi $ 40,780,583 % 1,879,023 $ (B8BS22v6) $ 33,777,340 § 2,290,834

The following is the detail for the long-term liabilities of the governmental activities as of June 30, 2012.

General Obligation Bonds:

$10,000,000 School Bonds (Virginia Public School Authority), Series 1992B,
issued December 17, 1992, maturing annually with interest payable semi-

annually:

Bonds bearing interest at 5.85% maturing on December 15, 2012

Subtota!
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Note 11. Long-term Liabilities (continued)
General Obligation Bonds (continued):

$4,250,000 Schoo!l Bonds (Virginia Public School Authority), Series 1994A,
issued May 5, 1994, maturing annually with interest payable semi-annually:

Bonds bearing interest ai 6.225% maturing on July 15, 2012 $ 215,000
Bonds bearing interest at 6.300% maturing on July 15, 2013 220,000
Subtotal $ 435,000

$2,005,000 School Bonds {Virginia Public School Authority), Series 1999A,
issued May 13, 1999, maturing annuaily with interest payable semi-annually:

Bonds bearing interest at 4.600% maturing on July 15, 2012 3 100,000
Bonds bearing interest at 4.725% maturing on July 15, 2013 100,000
Bonds bearing interest at 4.725% maturing on July 15, 2014 100,000
Bonds bearing interest at 5.100% maturing on July 15, 2015 100,000
Bonds bearing interest at 5.100% maturing on July 15, 2016 100,000
Bonds bearing interest at 5.100% maturing on July 15, 2017 100,000
Bonds bearing interest at 5.225% maturing on July 15, 2018 100,000
Bonds bearing interest at 5.225% maturing on July 15, 2019 100,000

Subtotal $ 800,000

$5,100,000 School Bonds (Virginia Public School Authority}, Series 2000A,
issued May 13, 2000, maturing annually with interest payable semi-annually:

Bonds bearing interest at 5.600% maturing on July 15, 2012 $ 255,000
Bonds bearing interest at 5.600% maturing on July 15, 2013 255,000
Bonds bearing interest at 5.600% maturing on July 15, 2014 255,000
Bonds bearing interest at 5.600% maturing on July 15, 2015 255,000
Bonds bearing interest at 5.600% maturing on July 15, 2016 255,000
Bonds bearing interest at 5.600% maturing on July 15, 2017 255,000
Bonds bearing interest at 5.600% maturing on July 15, 2018 255,000
Bonds bearing interest at 5.600% maturing on July 15, 2019 255,000
Bonds bearing interest at 5.600% maturing on July 15, 2020 255,000

Subtotal b 2,295,000

$41,500,000 School Bonds (Virginia Public School Authority), Series 2001C,
issued November 15, 2001, maturing annually with interest payable semi-

annually:

Bonds bearing interest at 5.100% maturing on July 15, 2012 $ 1,465,000
Bonds bearing interest at 5.100% maturing on July 15, 2013 1,540,000
Bonds bearing interest at 4.600% maturing on July 15, 2014 1,620,000
Bonds bearing interest at 4.850% maturing on July 15, 2015 1,695,000
Bonds bearing interest at 4.850% maturing on July 15, 2016 1,780,000
Bonds bearing interest at 4.850% maturing on July 15, 2017 1,870,000
Bonds bearing interest at 4.850% maturing on July 15, 2018 1,960,000
Bonds bearing interest at 4.975% maturing on July 15, 2019 2,060,000
Bonds bearing interest at 5.100% maturing on July 15, 2020 2,165,000
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Note 11. Long-term Liabilities (continued)
General Obligation Bonds {continued):

Bonds bearing interest at 3.500% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 3.625% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 3.750% maturing on July 15,

Subtotal

$5,691,105 Public Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2010B, issued
August 11, 2010, maturing annually with interest payable semi-annualty:

Bonds bearing interest at 2.000% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 2.000% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 2.000% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 5.000% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 4.000% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 4.000% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 3.125% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 3.250% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 3.375% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 3.375% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 3.500% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 3.625% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 3.750% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 4.000% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 4.000% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 4.000% maturing on July 15,
Bonds bearing interest at 4.000% maturing on July 15,

Subtotal

$27,265,000 Public Improvement and Refunding Bonds, Series 2011, is-
sued December 8, 2011, maturing annually with interest payable semi-

annually:

2028
2029
2030

2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034

Bonds bearing interest at 2.000% maturing on August 1, 2012
Bonds bearing interest at 2.000% maturing on August 1, 2013
Bonds bearing interest at 2.000% maturing on August 1, 2014
Bonds bearing interest at 2.000% maturing on August 1, 2015
Bonds bearing interest at 2.000% maturing on August 1, 2016
Bonds bearing interest at 2.000% maturing on August 1, 2017
Bonds bearing interest at 4.000% maturing on August 1, 2018
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on August 1, 2019
Bonds bearing interest at 4.000% maturing on August 1, 2020
Bonds bearing interest at 4.000% maturing on August 1, 2021
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on August 1, 2022
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on August 1, 2023
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590,000
615,000

635,000

9,150,000

80,332
325,383
331,692
342,301
348,611
360,622
371,839
310,236
322,247
335,660
348,372
360,383
368,095
120,000
125,000
125,000
130,000
140,000
140,000
145,000
155,000
160,000
165,000

5,610,773

1,635,000
1,670,000
1,605,000
1,645,000
1,680,000
1,120,000
1,165,000
1,215,000
1,265,000
1,315,000
1,370,000
1,415,000




Note 11. Long-term Liabilities (continued)

General Obligation Bonds {continued):

Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on August 1, 2024 1,475,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on August 1, 2025 1,525,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.125% maturing on August 1, 2026 1,575,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.250% maturing on August 1, 2027 1,640,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.375% maturing on August 1, 2028 1,705,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.500% maturing on August 1, 2028 1,670,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.625% maturing on August 1, 2030 380,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.625% maturing on August 1, 2031 395,000

Subtotal ' $ 27,265,000

Total Generai Obligation Bonds $ 129,691,533

Capital Leases:

$1,066,000 lease agreement with the Harrisonburg Redevelopment and
Housing Authority effective August 24, 1995 with principal and interest pay-
able semi-annually.

Lease bearing interest at 6.08% maturing August 24, 2012 and February 26, 2013 $ 74,354
Lease bearing interest at 6.08% maturing August 24, 2013 and February 26, 2014 79,142
Lease bearing interest at 6.08% maturing August 24, 2014 and February 26, 2015 84,080
Lease bearing interest at 6.08% maturing August 24, 2015 and February 26, 2016 89,329

Subtotal $ 326,885

$6,152,500 lease agreement with the Harrisonburg Redevelopment and
Housing Authority effective May 1, 1998, maturing annually with interest
payable semi-annually.

Lease bearing interest at 5.00% maturing on June 20, 2013 $ 515,000
Lease bearing interest at 5.00% maturing on June 20, 2014 540,000
Subtotal 3 1,055,000

$5,740,000 lease purchase effective December 17, 2004, maturing annually
with interest payable semi-annually:

Lease bearing interest at 3.76% maturing on December 1, 2012 $ 377,000
Lease bearing interest at 3.76% maturing on December 1, 2013 391,000
Lease bearing interest at 3.76% maturing on December 1, 2014 406,000
Lease bearing interest at 3.76% maturing on December 1, 2015 421,000
Lease bearing interest at 3.76% maturing on December 1, 2016 437,000
Lease bearing interest at 3.76% maturing on December 1, 2017 454,000
Lease bearing interest at 3.76% maturing on December 1, 2018 471,000
| ease bearing interest at 3.76% maturing on December 1, 2019 489,000

Subfotal $ 3,446,000

Total Capital Leases $ 4,827,685
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Note 11. Long-term Liabilities {continued)

The following is the detail for the fong-term kiabilities of the business-type activities as of June 30, 2012.

General Obligation Bonds:

$25,310,000 Steam Plant Bonds, Series 2002A, issued May 22, 2002, ma-
turing annually with interest payable semi-annually:

Bonds hearing interest at 4.375% maturing on July 15, 2012

Subtotat

$4,260,000 Solid Waste Disposal System Refunding Bonds (Virginia Re-
sources Authority Pooled Financing Program), Series 2004B, issued No-
vember 17, 2004, maturing annually with interest payable semi-annuaily:

Bonds bearing inferest at 3.6250% maturing on October 1, 2012
Bonds bearing interest at 3.6250% maturing on October 1, 2013
Bonds bearing interest at 3.6250% maturing on October 1, 2014
Bonds bearing interest at 4.4766% maturing on Gctober 1, 2015

Subtotat

$1,000,000 Bonds, Series 2008, issued August 21, 2008, maturing annually
with interest payable semi-annually:

Bonds bearing interest at 3.65% maturing on August 21, 2012
Bonds bearing interest at 3.65% maturing on August 21, 2013
Bonds bearing interest at 3.65% maturing on August 21, 2014
Bonds bearing interest at 3.65% maturing on August 21, 2015
Bonds bearing interest at 3.65% maturing on August 21, 2016
Bonds bearing interest at 3.65% maturing on August 21, 2017
Bonds bearing interest at 3.65% maturing on August 21, 2018

Subtotal

$1,136,000 Water Bonds, Series 2009 (Virginia Resources Authority Drink-
ing Water State Revolving Fund), issued November 20, 2009, maturing
semi-annually:

Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2012 and February 1, 2013
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2013 and February 1, 2014
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2014 and February 1, 2015
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2015 and February 1, 2016
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2016 and February 1, 2017
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2017 and February 1, 2018
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2018 and February 1, 2019
Bonds bhearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2019 and February 1, 2020
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2020 and February 1, 2021
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2021 and February 1, 2022
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2022 and February 1, 2023
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Note 11. Long-term Liabilities (continued)

General Obligation Bonds {continued):

Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2023 and February 1, 2024 37,867
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2024 and February 1, 2025 37,867
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2025 and February 1, 2026 37,867
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2026 and February 1, 2027 37,867
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2027 and February 1, 2028 37,867
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2028 and February 1, 2029 37,867
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2029 and February 1, 2030 37,866
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2030 and February 1, 2031 37,866
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2031 and February 1, 2032 37,867
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2032 and February 1, 2033 37,867
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2033 and February 1, 2034 37,867
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2034 and February 1, 2035 37,866
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2035 and February 1, 2036 37,866
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2036 and February 1, 2037 37,867
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2037 and February 1, 2038 37,867
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2038 and February 1, 2039 37,867
Bonds bearing interest at 0% maturing on August 1, 2039 and February 1, 2040 37,866

Subtotal 3 1,060,266

$28,063,895 Public improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2010B, issued
August 11, 2010, maturing annually with interest payable semi-annualiy:

Bonds bearing interest at 2.000% maturing on July 15, 2012 $ 179,668
Bonds bearing interest at 2.000% maturing on July 15, 2013 1,824,617
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on July 15, 2014 1,878,308
Bonds bearing interest at 2.000% maturing on July 15, 2015 1,917,699
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on July 15, 2016 1,961,389
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on July 15, 2017 2,014,378
Bonds bearing interest at 5.000% maturing on July 15, 2018 2,103,161
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on July 15, 2019 1,704,764
Bonds bearing interest at 4.000% maturing on July 15, 2020 1,762,753
Bonds bearing interest at 4.000% maturing on July 15, 2021 1,829,340
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on July 15, 2022 1,891,628
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on July 15, 2023 1,949.617
Bonds bearing interest at 3.125% maturing on July 15, 2024 2,008,905
Bonds bearing interest at 3.250% maturing on July 15, 2025 470,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.375% maturing on July 15, 2026 480,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.375% maturing on July 15, 2027 500,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.500% maturing on July 15, 2028 520,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.625% maturing on July 15, 2029 535,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.750% maturing on July 15, 2030 555,000
Bonds bearing interest at 4.000% maturing on July 15, 2031 575,000
Bonds bearing interest at 4.000% maturing on July 15, 2032 600,000
Bonds bearing interest at 4.000% maturing on July 15, 2033 625,000
Subtotal $_ 27,884,227
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Note 11. Long-term Liabilities {(continued)
General Obligation Bonds (continued):

$1,325,000 Public Improvement and Refunding Bonds, Series 2011, issued
December 6, 2011, maturing annually with interest payable semi-annually:

Bonds bearing interest at 2.000% maturing on August 1, 2012 $ 60,000
Bonds bearing interest at 2.000% maturing on August 1, 2013 60,000
Bonds bearing interest at 2.000% maturing on August 1, 2014 60,000
Bonds bearing interest at 2.000% maturing on August 1, 2015 60,000
Bonds bearing interest at 2.000% maturing on August 1, 2016 60,000
Bonds bearing interest at 2.000% maturing on August 1, 2017 65,000
Bonds bearing interest at 4.000% maturing on August 1, 2018 65,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on August 1, 2018 70,000
Bonds bearing interest at 4.000% maturing on August 1, 2020 70,000
Bonds bearing interest at 4.000% maturing on August 1, 2021 75,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on August 1, 2022 75,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on August 1, 2023 80,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on August 1, 2024 80,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.000% maturing on August 1, 2025 85,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.125% maturing on August 1, 2026 85,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.250% maturing on August 1, 2027 90,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.375% maturing on August 1, 2028 90,000
Bonds bearing interest at 3.500% maturing on August 1, 2029 95,000
Subtotal 3 1,325,000
Total General Obligation Bonds $ 33,774,493
General Obligation Revenue Bonds:
$10,620,000 Water Bonds, Series 2002B, issued May 22, 2002, maturing
annually with interest payable semi-annuatly:
Bonds bearing interest at 4.500% maturing on July 15, 2012 3 240,000
Subtotal $ 240,000
Total General Obligation Revehue Bonds $ 240,000

Additional information pertaining to the Primary Government’s long-term debt:

In June 2004, the City and James Madison University (JMU) entered into a revised and amended agreement con-
cerning the sale and purchase of steam and chilled water from the City owned resource recovery facility. This facili-
ty produces steam and chilled water to meet all the heating and cooling needs of JMU’s College of Integrated
Science and Technology, as well as other buildings. To the extent that the City continues to operate this facility,
JMU has agreed to annually reimburse the City for the annual debt service payments on the City’s $4,260,000 Se-
ries 2004 Solid Waste Disposal System Refunding Bonds and on the City's $1,000,000 Series 2008 General Obli-
gation Bonds. The current year reimbursements for debt service payments on these bonds totaled $585,815. The
total outstanding balance of the two bond issues at June 30, 2012 was $2,420,000.
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Note 11. Long-term Liabilities {continued)

In October 20086, the City issued $50 million in general obligation public improvement bonds, of which $3.5 million
was issued on behalf of and loaned to the Harrisonburg Redevelopment and Housing Authority (Authority} for the
purpose of renovating public housing units owned by the Authority. The Authority has agreed to reimburse the City
for its share of the principal and interest payments on the City's $50 million bond issue as the debt service pay-
ments come due. As of June 30, 2012, the outstanding bafance of the loan is $3,157,700.

in December 2011, the City issued $28.6 million in general obligation public improvement and refunding bonds, of
which $6 million was issued on behalf of and loaned to the Harrisonburg Redevelcpment and Housing Authority
(Authority) for the purpose of renovating public housing units owned by the Authority. The Authority has agreed to
reimburse the City for its share of the principal and interest payments on the City's $28.6 million bond issue as the
debt service payments come due. As of June 30, 2012, the outstanding balance of the loan is $6,035,000.

Component Unit — School Board

At June 30, 2012, the Schoo! Board had $3,165,334 in long-term liabilities outstanding. This long-term liability is
comprised of $858,283 in compensated absences, of which $289,235 is due within one year and $2,307,051 in
postretirement healthcare benefits, of which the entire amount is due in more than one year.

Component Unit - HEC

At June 30, 2012, HEC had $1,138,087 in long-term liabilities autstanding. This long-term liability is comprised of
$365,915 in compensated absences, of which the entire amount is due within one year and $772,172 in postretire-
ment health care benefits, of which the entire amount is due in more than one year.

The Harrisonburg Electric Gommission has a $1 million unsecured line of credit at a rate equal to LIBOR plus 1.4
percent. There were no borrowings against this line pf credit during fiscal year 2012.

Note 12. Capital Lease Agreements

Jail and Judicial Complex Lease Agreement. In May 1998, the City and the County of Rockingham (County)
entered into a restated and amended lease agreement with the Harrisonburg Redevelopment and Housing Authori-
ty (Authority). Pursuant to the terms of this lease, the Authority sold a bond issue for $12,305,000 entitled "Public
Facility Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds (Rockingham County and City of Harrisonburg Project) Series of 1898.”
The proceeds of this bond issue were used fo refund bonds previously issued by the Authority in 1991 that were
used to construct a joint jail and judicial complex. The bonds are limited obligations of the Authority payable solely
from certain rent payments to be made by the City and the County and from certain funds established for the pro-
ject under the agreement. The obligations of the City and County to make rent payments will be subject to annual
appropriation by the City Council and the County Board of Supervisors, neither of which shall be under any legal
obligation to make such appropriation. Neither the bonds nor the lease agreement constitutes a pledge of the full
faith and credit or taxing power of the City or County, however, it is considered a capital lease.

Social Services and Health Department Lease Agreement. In August 1995, the City and the County of Rock-
ingham (County) entered into a lease agreement with the Harrisonburg Redevelopment and Housing Authority (Au-
thority). Pursuant to the terms of this lease, the Authority sold a bond issue for $2,665,000 entitled “Public Facility
Lease Revenue Bond (Rockingham County and City of Harrisonburg Project).” The proceeds of this bond issue
were used to renovate and equip a building for combined Social Services and Health Departments. The bonds are
limited obligations of the Authority payable solely from certain rent payments to be made by the City and the Coun-
ty. The obligations of the City and County to make rent payments will be subject to annual appropriation by the City
Council and the County Board of Supervisors, neither of which shall be under any legal obligation to make such
appropriation. Neither the bonds nor the lease agreement constitutes a pledge of the full faith and credit or taxing
power of the City or County, however, it is considered a capital lease.
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Note 16. Fund Balance

The following is a summary of amounts that are reported on the governmental funds balance sheet identified as
nonspendable, restricted, committed or assigned fund balance at June 30, 2012.

General
Capital Other
General Projects Govermnmental
Fund Fund Funds Total
Nonspendable:
Inventory $ 69,417 $ - $ - $ 69,417
Prepaid expenditures 118,952 - - 118,952
Advance to other funds 217,339 - - 217,339
Loans receivable 375,000 - - 375,000
Total nonspendable fund balance $ 780,708 § - § - 3 780,708
Restricted for:
Public safety $ 162,249 % -3 - % 152,249
Public works - 5,758,290 - 5,758,280
Debt service 284,297 - - 284 297
Total restricted fund balance $_ 436548 $ 5,758,290 $ -5 6194838
Committed fo:
General government administration $ 80,000 $ - 8 - % 80,000
Public works 2,697,965 10,018,363 - 12,716,328
Education - 76,576 295,409 371,985
Parks and recreation 3,494 230,181 - 233,675
Planning and community development - 7,332 22,569 28,901
Debt service 313,921 - - 313,921
Total committed fund balance 3 3,095,380 % 10,332,452 § 317,978 § 13,745,810
Assigned to:
General government administration $ 38,556 § - % - % 38,556
Public safety 22,233 - - 22,233
Pubilic works 810,565 - - 810,565
Parks and recreation 48,793 - - 48,793
Planning and community development 1,330 - - 1,330
Subsequent years' expenditures 751,852 - - 751,852
Total assigned fund balance $ 1,671,329 § - -3 1,671,329

Note 17. Harrisonburg Redevelopment and Housing Authority Agreements

One Court Square. In December 2004, the City entered into a support agreement with the Harrisonburg Redevel-
opment and Housing Authority (Authority) whereby the Authority purchased and planned to renovate an office build-
ing in the downtown area. The building was originally intended to serve as an incubator to atiract
telecommunication and other technology firms to the City by providing leaseable office space to qualifying busi-
nesses and has been renovated by the Authority for use by the School Board for administration offices. Pursuant o
the agreement, the Authority incurred $2 million in debt to finance the original project with final maturity occurring in
December 2014. The City and the Authority have an informal agreement that ownership of the building will be
transferred to the City when the Authority retires the debt in its entirety. As of June 30, 2012, the outstanding bal-
ance of the Authority’s debt was $814,058.
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Note 17. Harrisonburg Redevelopment and Housing Authority Agreements (continued)

The City has agreed to a non-binding moral obligation pledge to pay all operating expenses for the project, includ-
ing debt service, to the extent that revenues from any leases are insufficient to pay these expenses. In fiscal year
2012, the City made payments totaling $253,623 to the Authority for this project.

Harrisonburg Ghildren’s Museum. In April 2005, the City entered into a support agreement with the Harrisonburg
Redevelopment and Housing Authority (Authority) whereby the Authority purchased and renovated a building in the
downtown area. Upon completion of the renovations, the Authority leased the building to the Harrisonburg Chii-
dren’s Museum, Inc., a non-profit corporation, that is using the buiiding as its permanent location. Pursuant to the
agreement, the Authority incurred $750,000 in debt to finance the project with final maturity occurring in April 2020,

The City has agreed to a non-binding moral obligation ptedge to pay all operating expenses for the project, includ-
ing debt service, to the extent that the revenue from the lease is insufficient to pay these expenses. In fiscal year
2012, the City made payments totaling $67,668 to the Authority for this project.

Note 18. Defined Benefit Pension Plan

Plan Description. The City contributes to the Virginia Retirement System (VRS), an agent and cost-sharing multi-
ple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the Virginia Retirement System (System). Al full-time,
salaried permanent (professional) employees of public school divisions and empioyees of participating employers
are automatically covered by VRS upon empioyment. Benefits vest after five years of service credit. Employees
earn one month of service credit for each month they are employed and their employer is paying into the VRS. Em-
ployees are eligible to purchase prior public service, active duty military service, certain periods of leave and previ-
ously refunded VRS service as credit in their pfan. VRS administers two defined benefit plans for local government

employees.

Plan 1. Employees hired before July 1, 2010 and who have service credits before July 1, 2010 are covered under
Plan 1. Non-hazardous duty employees are eligible for an unreduced retirement benefit beginning at age 50 with at
least 30 years of service credit or age 65 with at least five years of service credit. Employees may retire with a re-
duced benefit as early as age 50 with at least 10 years of service credit or age 55 with at least five years of service

credit.

Plan 2. Employees hired or rehired after July 1, 2010 and who have no service credits before July 1, 2010 are
covered under Plan 2. Non-hazardous duty employees are efigible for an unreduced retirement benefit beginning at
their normal Social Security retirement age with at least five years of service credit or when the sum of their age
and service equals 90. Employees may retire with a reduced benefit as early as age 60 with at least five years of

service credit.

Hazardous duty employees. Under both plans, eligible hazardous duty employees (police officers and firefight-
ers) are eligible for an unreduced benefit beginning at age 50 with at least 25 years of service credit or age 60 with
at least five years of service credit. Hazardous duty employees may retire with a reduced benefit as early as age 50
with at least 10 years of service credit. All other provisions of the employee’s plan apply.

The VRS Basic Benefit is a lifetime monthly benefit based on a retirement muitiplier as a percentage of the employ-
ee’s average final compensation (AFC) multiplied by the employee's total service credit. Under Plan 1, AFC is the
average of the employee’s 36 consecutive months of highest compensation. Under Plan 2, AFC is the average of
the employee's 60 consecutive months of highest compensation. The retirement multiplier is 1.7 percent for non-
hazardous duty employees and 1.85 percent for eligible hazardous duty employees. In addition, eligible hazardous
employees receive a monthly benefit supplement if they retire prior to age 65. At retirement, employees can elect
the Basic Benefit, the Survivor Option, a Partial Lump-Sum Option Payment {(FLOP) or the Advance Pension Op-
tion. A retirement reduction factor is applied to the Basic Benefit amount for employees electing the Survivor Op-
tion, PLOP or Advance Pension Option or those retiring with a reduced benefit.
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Note 18. Defined Benefit Pension Plan (continued)

Retirees are eligible for an annual cost-of-living adjustment (COLA) effective July 1 of the second calendar year of
retirement. Under Plan 1, the COLA cannot exceed five percent. Under Plan 2, the COLA cannot exceed six per-
cent. During years of no inflation or deflation, the COLA is zero percent. The VRS also provides death and disability
benefits. Title 51.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended, assigns the authority to establish and amend bene-
fit provisions fo the General Assembly of Virginia.

The System issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report that includes financial statements
and required supplementary information for VRS, A copy of that report may be downloaded from the VRS website
at http:/iwww.varetire.org/Pdf/Publications/2011-annual-report.pdf or obtained by writing to the VRS at P.O. Box
2500, Richmond, VA 23218-2500.

Funding Policy. Employees are required by Title 51.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended, to contribute
five percent of their annual reported compensation to the VRS, This five percent employee contribution has been
assumed by the employer. In addition, the City, the City of Harrisonburg School Board (School Board) and the Har-
risonburg Electric Commission (HEC), are required to contribute the remaining amounts necessary to fund their
participation in the VRS using the actuarial basis specified by statue and approved by the VRS Board of Trustees.
The City and HEC’s contribution rate for the fiscal year ended 2012 was 9.79 percent of annual covered payroll.
The School Board non-professional employees’ contribution rate for the fiscal year ended 2012 was 4.79 percent of
annual covered payroll. The School Board professional employees’ contribution rate for the VRS statewide teacher
pool for fiscal year ended 2012 was 6.33 percent of annual covered payroll. Total contributions made to the VRS
statewide teacher poal for professional employees by the School Board for the fiscal years ending June 30, 2012,
2011, and 2010 were $1,889,912, $1,114,949, and $1,771,261, respectively, and were equal to the required contri-

butions for each year.

Annual Pension Cost. For fiscal year 2012, the City of Harrisonburg and HEC's annual pension cost of
$2,344,226 was equal to the required and actual contributions. The School Board's non-professional employees
annual pension cost of $85,458 was equal to the required and actual contributions. The required contribution for
fiscal year 2012 was determined as part of the June 30, 2009 actuarial valuation using the entry age normal actuar-
ial cost method. The actuarial assumptions at June 30, 2009 included (a) 7.5 percent investment rate of return (net
of administrative expenses), (b) projected salary increases ranging from 3.75 percent to 5.60 percent per year (3.50
percent to 4.75 percent per year for local law enforcement officers and firefighters), (c) 2.5 percent per year cost-of-
living adjustments. Both (a) and (b) included an inflation component of 2.5 percent. The actuarial value of the City's
assets is equal to the modified market value of assets. This method uses techniques that smooth the effects of
short-term volatility in the market value of assets over a five-year period. The City, HEC and the School| Board's
non-professional employees unfunded actuarial accrued liability is being amortized as a level percentage of pro-
jected payroll on an open basis within a period of 20 years. The following is the annual pension cost, the percent-
age of annual pension cost contributed to VRS and the net pension obligation for fiscal year 2012 and the

preceding two fiscal years.

Fiscal Annual Percentage

Year Pension Cost of APC Net Pension

Ended (APC) Contributed Obiligation
City of Harrisonburg and HEC Employees:

2012 $ 2,344,226 100% $ -

2011 2,345,165 100% -

2010 2,414,092 100% -
School Board Non-Professional Employees:

2012 $ 85,458 100% $ -

2011 83,657 100% -

2010 92,785 100% -
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Note 18. Defined Benefit Pension Plan (continued)

Funded Status and Funding Progress. As of June 30, 2011, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the plan
for City and HEC employees was 73.28 percent funded. The actuarial accrued liability for benefits was
$115,022,577, and the actuarial value of assets was $84,286,282, resuiting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liabil-
ity (UAAL) of $30,736,275. The covered payroll (annual payrolf of the active employees covered by the plan) was
$25,093,369 and the ratio of UAAL to the covered payroll was 122.49 percent.

As of June 30, 2011, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the plan for the School Board nen-professional em-
ployees was 91.83 percent funded. The actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $6,0560,297, and the actuarial
value of assets was $5,5655,694, resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued Hability (FAAL) of $494,603. The cov-
ered payroll {annual payroll of the active employees covered by the plan) was $1,735,294 and the ratio of FAAL to

the covered payroll was 28.5 percent.

The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information following the notes to the fi-
nancial statements, presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is in-
creasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits.

Note 19. Postretirement Healthcare Benefits

Plan Description

City of Harrisonburg. The City provides certain healthcare benefits for retired employees through the City of Har-
risonburg Postretirement Heaithcare Benefit Plan (Plan). The plan is administered through a single-employer de-
fined benefit plan and is considered other postemployment benefits {CPEB). The Plan provides for an option to
eligible retirees and their eligible dependents to continue their coverage in the same health insurance program
available to all City employees at the active employee rates. Eligible retirees must be 50 years of age and meet the
Virginia Retirement System requirements for service or disability retirement. Retirees must have at least 15 years of
consecutive eligible service with the City immediately prior to retirement. Also, retirees must have participated in the
City's health insurance program for a minimum of five years immediately prior to retirement. The benefit ends upon
the retiree’s eligibility for Medicare coverage. These benefit provisions are established and may be amended by the
Harrisonburg City Council through the City’'s Human Resources Policy Manual. The Plan does not issue a publicly

available financial report.

School Board. The Harrisonburg City School Board provides certain healthcare benefits for retired employees
through the Harrisonburg City School Board Postretirement Healthcare Benefit Plan (Plan). The plan is adminis-
tered through a single-employer defined benefit plan and is considered other postemployment benefits (OPEB).
The Plan provides for an option to eligible retirees and their eligible dependents to continue their coverage in the
same health insurance program available to alt School Board employees at the active employee rates. Eligible re-
tirees must be 50 years of age and meet the Virginia Retirement System requirements for service or disability re-
tirament. Retirees must have at least ten years of cumulative eligible service with the School Board with a minimum
of five years immediately prior to retirement. Depending on the number of years of eligible service, the retiree may
remain on the plan for a maximum of fifteen years but in all instances the benefit ends upon the retiree’s eligibifity
for Medicare coverage. These benefit provisions are established and may be amended by the Harrisonburg City
Schoo! Board through the School Board's Human Resources Policy Manual. The Plan does not issue a publicly

available financial report.
Funding Policy

City of Harrisonburg. The contribution requirements of the retirees and the City are established and may be
amended by the Harrisonburg City Council through the City’s Human Resources Policy Manual. The City currently
pays for these benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis. Under the current plan, the City contributes $10 for each full year
of service up to a maximum of $350 towards the retiree’s monthly premium. The retiree must contribute the remain-

ing monthly premium amount.
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Note 19. Postretirement Healthcare Benefits (continued)

School Board. The contribution requirements of the retirees and the School Board are established and may be
amended by the Harrisonburg City School Board through the School Board’s Human Resources Policy Manual.
The School Board currently pays for these benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis. Under the current plan, the School
Board contributes an amount equal to 70 percent of the monthly premium for the coverage selected by the retiree.
The retiree must contribute the remaining menthly premium amount.

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation

The following are the components of the annual OPEB cost (expense) for the current year, the amount actually
contributed to the plans and changes in the net OPEB obligation for the City and School Board.

Primary School
Government Board
Annual required contribution 3 1,000,077 § 1,304,185
Interest on the net OPEB obligation 72,031 69,773
Adjustment to the annuat required contribution (74,975) (72,624)
Annual OPEB cost (expense) 3 997,133 § 1,301,334
Contributions made (398,972) {738,613)
Increase in the net OPEB obligation $ 600,161 % 562,721
Net OPEB obiligation at beginning of year 1,800,767 1,744,330
Net OPEB obligation at end of year $ 2,400,928 § 2,307,051

The following is the annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plans and the net
OPERB obligation for fiscal year 2012 and the preceding two fiscal years for the City and School Board.

Fiscal Percentage of

Year Annual Annual OPEB Net OPEB

Ended OPEB Cost Cost Contributed Obligation
City of Harrisonburg:

2012 3 997,133 39.8% $ 2,400,928

2011 965,143 37.6% 1,800,767

2010 919,694 35.5% 1,198,703
School Board:

2012 $ 1,301,334 56.8% $ 2,307,051

2011 1,098,995 50.5% 1,744,330

2010 1,050,660 45.2% 1,199,990

Funded Status and Funding Progress

City of Harrisonburg. As of July 1, 2011, the most recent actuaria! valuation date, the plan had not been funded.
The actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $10,164,551. There were no plan assets resulting in an unfunded
actuarial accrued liabifity (UAAL) of $10,164,551. The covered payroll (annuat payroll of the active employees cov-
ered by the plan) was $21,193,426 and the ratio of UAAL to the covered payroll was 47.96 percent.

School Board. As of July 1, 2011, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the plan had not been funded. The
actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $12,150,967. There were no plan assets resulting in an unfunded actuar-
jal accrued fiability (UAAL) of $12,150,967. The covered payroll (annual payroll of the active employees covered by
the plan) was $31,640,526 and the ratio of UAAL to the covered payroll was 38.4 percent.
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Note 19. Postretirement Healthcare Benefits (continued)

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about
the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future employment,
mortality and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual
required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past
expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding progress, presented as re-
quired supplementary information following the notes to the financial statements, presents muitiyear trend infor-
mation about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the
actuarial accrued liability for benefits.

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

City of Harrisonburg. In the July 1, 2011 actuarial valuation, the projected unit credit actuarial cost method was
used. The actuarial assumptions included a 4 percent investment rate of return and an annual healthcare cost trend
rate (inflation rate) of 8 percent initially, reduced by decrements to an ultimate rate of 5 percent after 7 years. The
unfunded actuarial accrued lability is being amortized using the level percentage of payroll method on an open ba-
sis over an initial 30 year period. The remaining amortization period at the end of the current fiscal year is 26 years.

School Board. In the July 1, 2011 actuarial valuation, the projected unit credit actuarial cost method was used.
The actuarial assumptions included a 4 percent investment rate of return and an annual healthcare cost trend rate
of 8 percent initially, reduced by decrements to an ultimate rate of 5 percent after 7 years. The unfunded actuarial
accrued liability is being amortized using the level percentage of payroll method on an open basis over an initial 30
year period. The remaining amortization period at the end of the current fiscal year is 26 years.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood
by the employer and the ptan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation
and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and the plan members to that point. The
actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term
volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of

the calculations.
Component Unit — HEC

The Harrisonburg Electric Commission (HEC) provides certain health care benefits for employees who retire from
HEC. Further information on the plan is included in HEC’s separately issued financial statements.

on T . . .
e 20. Transactions with Component Units

For the year ended June 30, 2012, the City’s General Fund made cash payments to the School Board, a compo-
nent unit, totaling $23,078,410. These payments are made in equal monthly installments for the purpose of funding

the School Board's operating budget.

For the year ended June 30, 2012, the Harrisonburg Electric Commission, a compenent unit, made cash payments
to the City’s General Fund totaling $4,900,000. These payments are made in equal monthly instaliments for the
purpose of funding the General Fund budget.
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Note 21. Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs

In accordance with state and federal laws and regulations, the City is required to perform certain maintenance and
monitoring functions at the City's closed landfill site for 30 years after the date of closure. The City closed its landfill
in 1994, $1,705,283 of the amount reported as landfill closure and postclosure care liability at June 30, 2012 repre-
sents the cumulative amount reported to date based on the use of 100 percent of the capacity of the landfill. Includ-
ed in the total liability is an additional $667,881 for groundwater remediation. These amounts are based on current
year costs. Actual costs ultimately may differ due to inflation, changes in technology, or changes in reguiations.
The City plans fe fund its landfill closure and postclosure care costs with available funds from the General Fund and

General Capital Projects Fund.
Note 22. Rockingham County Landfill Liability Agreement

Effective January 1, 2012, the City entered into a new agreement with Rockingham County (County) associated
with solid waste activities of the two localities. As part of the agreement, the City will be considered a customer of
the County landfill and will no longer make capital contributions for landfill expansion and other capital expendi-
tures. The agreement also caps the City’s recognized share of the County's closure and postclosure care costs as
of the date of the agreement. Pursuant to the agreement, the City has recorded a $2,697,965 contractual obligation
to the County and has committed fund balance in the same amount in the General Fund.

Note 23. Commitments

The City has a construction contract outstanding for Phase Il of a project to connect and improve Stone Spring
Road and Erickson Avenue. The contract totals $21.7 miflion, of which $17.7 million had been expended as of June
30, 2012. This contract is a commitment of the General Capital Projects Fund and is being financed through trans-
fers from the General Fund, federal and state intergovernmental revenue and previously issued bonds.

The City has a construction contract outstanding for Phase Il of a project to connect and improve Stone Spring
Road and Erickson Avenue. The contract totals $5.2 million, of which $775,670 had been expended as of June 30,
2012. This contract is a commitment of the General Gapital Projects Fund and is being financed through state in-

tergovernmental revenue.

The following is a summary of significant encumbrances at June 30, 2012,

General

Capitai

General Projects

Fund Fund Total

Street repaving program $ 639,894 § - % 639,894
Traffic signal 108,836 - 108,836
Engineering design at Ramblewood Athletic Gomplex 31,220 - 31,220
Stone Spring Road/Erickson Avenue consfruction project - 5,195,019 5,195,019
Other purposes 139,627 179,462 318,989
Total encumbrances $ 919,477 $ 5,374,481 3% 6,293,958

There were no existing encumbrances in the other governmental funds.
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Note 24. Intangible Assets

James Madison University (JMU) Land and Steam Agreement. In September 1981, the City entered into an
agreement with James Madison University whereby the City paid JMU $2.5 million over a five year period in con-
sideration for conveying a suitable site for the construction of the City’s steam plant and entering into a twenty year
agreement with the City for the purpose of purchasing steam produced by the steam plant. In June 2004, a new
twenty-five year agreement with JMU replaced an amended and updated April 1995 agreement. This agreement is
shown as an intangible capital asset of the Steam Plant Fund and is being amortized over a twenty-five year period

that began July 1, 1996.
Note 25. Subsequent Events

On November 27, 2012, City Council approved the issuance of $8 million in general obligation bonds to finance a
portion of the construction of a new Public Transportation facility. The bonds will be issued and the closing transac-

tion will occur on or before December 7, 2012,
Note 26. Joint Ventures

Harrisonburg-Rockingham Regional Sewer Authority. The City, Rockingham County, and the towns of Bridge-
water, Dayton and Mt. Crawford have entered into a contract with the Harrisonburg-Rockingham Regional Sewer
Authority (Authority), whereby the Authority agrees to operate a sewage disposal system for the participating mu-
nicipalities. The municipalities have an ongoing financial responsibility based on an agreement to make annual con-
tributions to the Authority for operations and maintenance based on their respective usage of the system. The
municipalities also agree to make contributions to the Authority for debt service. In fiscal year 2012, the City's con-
tributions totaled $5,976,669 of which $2,791,091 was for operations, $2,853,933 was for debt service and
$331,645 was for capital purposes. These contributions are made from the Sewer Fund. The City does not have an
ongoing financial interest in the Autherity since it does not have access to the Authority's resources or surpluses,
nor fs it fiable for the Authority's debts or deficits. To obtain a copy of the audited financial statements, contact the
Authority at P.O. Box 8, 856 North River Road, Mt. Crawford, Virginia 22841.

The Authority has $70.5 million of total debt outstanding at June 30, 2012. The City's share of the required principal
and interest payments for the Authority's bond issues can be projected as follows:

Fiscal Year Principal Inferest Total

2013 3 1,646,829 § 1,164,629 § 2,811,458
2014 1,704,054 1,107,064 2,811,118
2015 1,762,448 1,048,096 2,810,544
2016 1,829,438 982,097 2,811,535
2017 1,897,676 912,076 2,809,752
2018-2022 10,614,074 3,424,943 14,039,017
2023-2027 7,841,177 1,765,083 9,606,260
2028-2031 6,301,638 421,961 6,723,599

Total $ 33,687,334 % 10,825,949 § 44 423 283
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Note 26. Joint Ventures (continued)

The following information is a condensed statement of net assets as of the end of the two most recent fiscal years
for the Authority.

Increase
June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 (Decrease)
Current assets $ 2,057275 % 3,666,049 $ (1,608,774)
Restricted assets 3,460,468 2,941,871 518,597
Capital assets 99,823,076 103,332,477 (3,509,401}
Other assets 832,184 862,024 (29,840)
Total assets $ 106,173,003 $ 110802421 $ (4,629418)
Current liabilities $ 2157157 § 3,638,198 $ (1,481,041
Liabilities payable from restricted assets 2,342,269 2,236,974 105,295
Long-term liabilities 66,815,817 70,014,734 (3,198,917)
Total liabilities $ 71315243 $ 75889906 $ (4,574663)
Net assets $ 34,857,760 $ 34912515 % (54,755)

Harrisonburg-Rockingham Emergency Communications Center. The City and Rockingham County (County)
entered into an agreement that created the Harrisonburg-Rockingham Emergency Communications Center
(HRECC), whereby the HRECC operates a joint emergency operations center and a joint two-way radio communi-
cations system. The City and County have an ongoing financial responsibility in that the City and County have
agreed to equally provide any necessary funding for the HRECC. In fiscal year 2012, the City’s contributions totaled
$1,444,254, These contributions are made from the General Fund. The City and County have equal undivided in-
terests in any property purchased or used by the HRECC. To obtain a copy of the audited financial statements,
contact the City of Harrisonburg Finance Department, 345 South Main Street, Harrisonburg, Virginia 22801.

The following information is a condensed statement of net assets as of the end of the two most recent fiscal years
for the HRECC.

increase
June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 (Decrease)
Current assets % 3,394837 § 3,324,853 § 69,984
Capital assets 2,630,932 2,839,740 (208,808)
Total assets $ 6,025,769 $ 6,164583 § (138,824}
Current liabilities $ 59,787 % 159855 § (99,868)
Long-term liabilities 344,680 278,598 66,082
Totat liabilities $ 404 467  $ 438,253 $ (33,786)
Net assets $ 5621,302 § 5726340 § (105,038)

Note 27. Jointly Governed Organizations

Harrisonburg-Rockingham Social Services District (District). The District was established by the City and the
County of Rockingham {County) to provide social services for the residents of the City and County. Both the City
and County appoint one member each to the governing board. The District is a separate legal entity and is a dis-
cretely presented component unit of the County. The City contributed $2,897,880 to the District for the year ended

June 30, 2012.
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Note 27. Jointly Governed Organizations {continued)

Shenandoah Valley Juvenife Center Commission (Commission). The Commission was established to provide
a regional juvenile detention home. The Commissicn currently serves the Cities of Harrisonburg, Staunton,
Waynesboro and Lexington, Virginia and the Counties of Augusta, Rockingham and Rockbridge, Virginia. The gov-
erning body is composed of one member appointed by each participating locality. The Commission is a separate
legal entity with no participating locality having a voting majority. The Commission is perpetual and no participating
locality has access to its resources or surpluses, nor is any participant liable for the Commission’s debts or deficits.
The City contributed $260,245 to the Commission for the year ended June 30, 2012,

Note 28. Related Organization

The City created the Harrisonburg Redevelopment and Housing Authority (Authority) to provide low-income hous-
ing to the residents of the City. The Authority is a separate legal entity and is governed by five commissioners who
are appointed solely by the City Council. The City does not have an ongoing financial interest or responsibility to

the Authority.
Note 29. Risk Management

The City is a member of the Virginia Municipal League Group Self Insurance Association (VML) for vehicles, prop-
erty, inland marine, EDP, flood, general liability, workman's compensation, boiler and machinery. Each VML mem-
ber jointly and severally agrees to assume, pay and discharge any liability. The City makes contributions and
assessments into a designated cash reserve fund. This reserve fund is used to pay claims and awards, as well as,
expenses incurred by VML. In the event of a loss deficit and depietion of all available excess reserves, VML may
assess all members in the proportion which the premium of each bears to the total premiums of alt members in the
year in which such deficit occurs. However, since the inception of this insurance association, no additional assess-
ments have been required. There has been no reduction in insurance coverage from coverage in the prior year.
insurance settlements have not exceeded insurance coverage for each of the past three fiscal years. The City in-
sures its transit buses through the Virginia Transit Liability Pool.

The City is self-insured for health insurance purposes and has retained Anthem Blue Cross and Blue Shield to ad-
minister the program. The City currently reports these activities in the Health Insurance Fund, which is an internal
service fund. This fund serves the City, primary government; Harrisonburg School Board and Harrisonburg Electric
Commission, component units. Other external agencies aiso participate in the health insurance program including
Harrisonburg-Rockingham Emergency Communications Center, Harrisonburg-Rockingham Community Services
Board, Harrisonburg-Rockingham Regional Sewer Authority, Harrisonburg-Rockingham Alcohol Safety Action Pro-

gram, Harrisonburg Redevelopment and Housing Authority, Hamrisonburg Downfown Renaissance and the
Massanutten Regional Library. This fund accounts for the health insurance activities of the aforementioned entities
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but does not constitute a transfer of risk from the City. Significant claims, over $150,000, are covered by commer-
cial insurance.

The City records an estimated liability for indemnity health care claims. Claims liabilities are based on estimates of
the ultimate cost of reported claims, related claim adjustment expenses and an estimate for claims incurred but not
reported (IBMR) based on historical experience. The following represents the change in approximate aggregate
ltabilities for the fund from July 1, 2010 to June 30, 2012:

Claims and
Beginning Changes in Claim Ending
Fiscal Year Liability Estimates Payments Liability
2012 $ 797,930 $ 12,643,254 § 12,404,835 § 936,349
2011 680,125 10,519,326 10,401,521 797,930
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Note 30. Fund and Government-wide Activities Reciassifications

Public Transportation Fund. Effective July 1, 2011, the activities of the City operated school bus system were
removed from the Public Transportation Fund (an enterprise fund) to a new nonmajor special revenue fund entitled
School Transportation Fund. The school bus system activities are now included as governmental activities in the
government-wide financial statements. In conjunction with this reclassification, $223,544 in net financial rescurces
were fransferred to the Schoel Transportation Fund in the fund financial statements and $1,236,617 in net econom-
ic resources (capital assets and long-term liabilities) were transferred to governmental activities on the statement of

activities from business-type activities.

Steam Plant Fund. Effective July 1, 2011, the activities of the City’'s refuse collection, landfill and recycling opera-
tions were removed from a previously entitled Sanitation Fund {an enterprise fund) to the General Fund. The Sani-
tation Fund was renamed the Steam Plant Fund to reflect the operations of the steam plant which were previously
part of the Sanitation Fund. The refuse collection, landfill and recycling activities are now included as governmental
activities in the government-wide financial statements. In conjunction with this reclassification, $205,347 in net fi-
nancial resources were transferred to the General Fund in the fund financial statements and $1,058,156 in net eco-
nomic resources (capital assets and long-ferm liabilities) were transferred to business-type activities on the
statement of activities from governmental activities.

Note 31. Special ltem

Effective January 1, 2012, the City entered into a new agreement with Rockingham County (County) associated
with solid waste activities of the two localities. As part of the agreement, the City will be considered a customer of
the County landfill and will no ionger make capital contributions for landfil expansion and other capital expendi-
tures. In previous years, these contributions were considered intangible capital assets. The agreement also caps
the City's recognized liability for closure costs associated with the active cell. The special item reported in the
amount of $1.4 million under governmental activities on the statement of activities represents the net effect of the
impairment of the capital asset and the new reduced liability for closure costs of the active cell as the result of the

hew agreement.
Note 32. Contingent Liabilities

All major federal programs and certain other programs in which the City participates were tested, by our auditors,
for compliance with applicable grant requirements pursuant to the provisions of the Singie Audit Act Amendments
of 1996 and the U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audit of Stafes, Local Governments and
Nonprofit Organizations. While no material matters of noncompliance were disclosed by the audit, the Federal
Government may subject grant programs to additional compliance tests, which may result in disallowed expendi-
tures. In the opinion of management, any future disallowance of current grant program expenditures, if any, would

be immaterial.

The City has certain debt instruments subject to arbitrage rebate calculations. The City is of the opinion that no ma-
terial amounts will be required to be rebated.

Note 33. Fund Balance Deficit

The Community Development Block Grant Fund, a special revenue fund, had a deficit fund balance of $60,493 as
of June 30, 2012. This fund is an expenditure driven reimbursement grant from the Federal Government. The deficit
is the result of certain reimbursements occurring after the City's 60-day avaitability policy for revenue recognition as
described in Note 1 of the financial statements. Amounts received after the availability period are reported as de-

ferred revenue.
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Note 34. Restatement of Beginning Net Assets

The beginning net assets of the School Board, a component unit, have been restated by $795,864. The purpose of
this restatement is to correct the reporting of certain accrued employee benefit expenses in the previous fiscal year.
The following is a summary of restatements made to the beginning net assets at June 30, 2011.

Net assets at the beginning of year, as previously reported $ 33,575,529
Correction of prior year prepaid expeneses (301,848)
Correction of prior year accrued payroll expenses (494,116)
Net assets at the beginning of year, as restated $ 32,779,565

Note 35. New Governmenta! Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Standards

In June 2011, the GASB issued Statement No. 83, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outffows of Resources, De-
ferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position. This statement establishes financial reporting guidance for deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources as defined in GASB Concept Statement No.4, Elements of
Financial Statements. Concept Statement No. 4 also identifies net position as the residual of all other elements
presented in a statement of net position. This statement amends the net asset reporting requirements in all previ-
ous pronouncements by renaming this residual amount as net position, rather than net assets. The provisions of
the statement are effective for fiscal year 2013 and will have an effect on certain reporting presentations in the

City’s financial statements.

In March 2012, the GASB issued Statement No. 65, items Previously Reporfed as Assets and Liabilities. This
statement establishes accounting and financial reporting standards that reclassify, as deferred outflows of re-
sources or deferred inflows of resources, certain items that were previously reported as assets and liabilities and
recognizes, as outflows of resources or inflows of resources, certain items that were previously reported as assets
and liabilities. The provisions of the statement are effective for fiscal year 2014 and will have an effect on certain
reporting presentations in the City's financial statements.

in March 2012, the GASB issued Statement No. 686, Technical Corrections-2012-an amendment of GASB State-
ments No. 10 and No. 62. This statement improves accounting and financial reporting for governmental financial
reporting entities by resolving confiicting guidance that resulted from the issuance of two pronouncements, State-
ments No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions, and No. 62, Codification of Ac-
counting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA
Pronouncements. The provisions of the statement are effective for fiscal year 2014 and management has not yet
determined the effect, if any, it will have on the City's financial statements.

In June 2012, the GASB issued Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensfons-an amend-
ment of GASB Statement No. 27. This statement establishes accounting and financial reporting standards for
measuring and recognizing liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources, and ex-
pense/expenditures of pension plans. This statement identifies the methods and assumptions that should be used
for the various calcuiations of a pension plan. This statement also establishes note disclosure and required sup-
plementary information requirements for employer reporting of pension plans. The provisions of the statement are
effective for fiscal year 2015 and will have a material effect on the City's financial statements.
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULES OF FUNDING PROGRESS

Exhibit 12

Unfunded UAAL as a

Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial Percentage

Valuation Value Accrued Accrued Lia- Funded Covered of Covered
Date of Assets Liability bifity (UAAL) Ratio Payroli Payroli

City of Harrisonburg and Harrisonburg Electric Commission Defined Benefit Pension Plan (Virginia Retirement System)

June 30, 2011 $ 84,286,282 $ 115,022,557 $ 30,736,275 73.28% $ 25,093,369
June 30, 2010 82,356,705 109,854,111 27,497,406 74.97% 25,648,340
June 30, 2009 80,770,770 98,633,810 17,863,040 81.89% 25,741,526

City of Harrisonburg School Board Defined Benefit Pension Plan (Virginia Retirement System)

June 30, 2011 § 5,555,694 $ 6,050,297 $ 494,603 91.83% $ 1,735,294
June 30, 2010 5,398,199 5,736,323 338,124 94.11% 1,763,475
June 30, 2009 5,312,010 5,194,889 (117,121} 102.25% 1,739,318

City of Harrisonburg Postretirement Healthcare Benefit Plan

July 1,201 § -5 10,164,551 § 10,164,551 0.00% $ 21,193,426
July 1, 2010 - 9,437,811 9,437,811 0.00% 21,212,679
July 1, 2009 - 8,853,278 8,853,278 0.00% 21,634,700

City of Harrisonburg $chool Board Postretirement Healthcare Benefit Plan

July 1,2011  § - % 12,150,967 3 12,150,967 0.00% $ 31,640,526
July 1, 2010 - 10,335,676 10,335,676 0.00% 30,114,574
July 1, 2009 - 9,771,679 9,771,679 0.00% 30,117,052

Harrisonburg Efectric Commission Postretirement Healthcare Benefit Plan

July 1,2011  § -3 772,172 $ 772172 0.00% $ 2,798,787
July 1, 2010 - 772,172 772172 0.00% 2,798,787
July 1, 2009 - 755,941 755,941 0.00% 2,688,337
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

June 30, 2012

Note 1. Defined Benefit Pension Plans

The assumptions used for the June 30, 2011 actuarial valuation refiects a change in benefit provisions for the addi-
tion of Plan 2 members. Members hired after June 30, 2010 are considered Plan 2 members. The assumptions al-
so reflect an increase in the amortization period of the unfunded actuarial accrued fability from 20 to 30 years to
phase in the impact of the lower investment return adopted in the June 30, 2010 actuarial valuation. The amortiza-
tion period will decrease by one each year until reaching 20 years.

The assumptions used for the June 30, 2010 actuarial valuation reflects a change in the investment rate of return.
The investment rate of return assumption was lowered from 7.5 percent to 7 percent.

The assumptions used for the June 30, 2009 actuarial valuation reflects a change in the asset valuation method.
The method used in prior valuations was a five-year smoothed market value of assets, but with a corridor of not
Jess than 80 percent or more than 120 percent of the market value of assets. This corridor has been suspended for
this valuation. The assumptions also reflect a change in economic and demographic assumptions, which include an
increase in the rates of withdrawals, a decrease in the rates of disability retirements and a change in the rates of

service retirements.
Note 2, Postretirement Healthcare Benefit Plan

The assumptions used in the July 1, 2011 actuarial valuation for the School Board reflects a change in plan benefits
for employees that retire after July 1, 2014,
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Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Special Revenue Funds

Special revenue funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are
restricted or committed to expenditure for specified purposes other than debt service or capital projects.

Community Development Block Grant Fund - This fund accounts for the administration of the community
development block grant funds received from the Federal Government.

School Transportation Fund - This fund accounts for the operations of the City's school bus system. Financing is
provided by payments for services from the Harrisonburg City School Board. Funding is a committed revenue
source and is used only for the operations of the school bus system.

Business Loan Program Fund - This fund accounts for the administration of the Harrisonburg Business Loan

Program which is a revolving loan program. This program provides microloans to qualifying local businesses.
Financing originally has been provided by the Federal Government along with additional funding from the City.
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA Exhibit A-1
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

Af June 30, 2012

Special Revenue Funds

Community Business Total
Development School Loan Nonmajor
Block Grant Transportation Program Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Funds
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ - 5 402,307 $ 22530 % 424,837
Receivables 74,457 3,467 39 77,963
Due from component unit - 47,822 - 47,822
Loans receivable - - 15,380 15,380
Total assets $ 74,457 § 453,596 $ 37,949 § 566,002
Liahilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 34178 % 13,068 $ - % 47,236
Accrued payroll 1,239 124,801 - 126,040
Due to component unit - 943 - 943
Advance from other funds 38,510 - - 38,510
Deferred revenue 61,023 19,385 15,380 95,788
Total liabilities 3 134,950 $ 158,187 $ 15,380 3% 308,517
Fund Balances:
Committed $ -5 295409 $ 22,569 3 317,978
Unassigned (60,493) - - (60,493)
Total fund batances % (60,493) $ 295409 $ 22,569 $ 257,485
Total liabilities and fund balances $ 74457 & 453,596 $ 37,949 $ 566,002

74




CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Exhibit A-2

Revenues:
Use of money and property
Charges for services
Miscelianeous
Intergovernmentat
Total revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
Education
Ptanning and community development
Total expenditures
Deficiency of revenues under expenditures
Other financing sources:
Transfers in
Total other financing sources
Net change in fund bafances

Fund balances at beginning of year

Fund balances at end of year

Special Revenue Funds

Community Business Total
Development School Loan Nonmajor
Block Grant  Transportation Program Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Funds
5 -3 200 § 21§ 221
- 2,144,363 - 2,144,363
- 6,556 1,673 8,229
496,347 - 12,500 508,847
3 496,347 $ 2,154,119 § 14,194 § 2,661,660
$ - % 2653303 § - $ 2653303
550,416 - 16,500 566,916
$ 550,416 $ 2,653,303 $ 16,600 § 3,220,219
$ (54,069) $ (502,184) $ (2,306} $ {558,559)
$ - $ 797,593 $ 24875 § 822,468
$ - 5 797,603 % 24,875 § 822,468
$ (54,069) $ 295409 $ 22,569 § 263,909
{6,424) - - {6,424)
$ {60,493} § 295,408 § 22,569 § 257,485
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA
SCHOOL TRANSPORTATION FUND

Exhibit A-3

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Revenues:
Use of money and property
Charges for services
Miscellaneous
Total revenues

Expendifures:
Current:
Education
Total expenditures

Deficiency of revenues under expenditures
Other financing sources:

Transfers in
Total other financing sources

Net change in fund balance
Fund balance at beginning of year

Fund balance at end of year

Variance with

Final Budget

Budgeted Amounts Positive
Original Final Actual {(Negative)

$ - % - % 200 $ 200
2,027,183 2,077,183 2,144,363 67,180
35,774 35,774 6,556 (29,218)

$ 2062957 § 2112957 § 2,151119 % 38,162
$ 2602006 $ 2,687,008 2,653,303 § 33,703
$ 2602006 $ 2687006 $§ 2653303 § 33,703
% (539,049) $ (574,049} $ (502,184} % 71,865
$ 539,049 § 574,049 § 797,693 % 223,544
$ 539,049 § 574,049 $ 797,583 % 223,544
$ - ¥ - % 205400 $__ 295409
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA Exhibit A4

BUSINESS LOAN PROGRAM FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Variance with

Final Budget
Budgefed Amounts Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
Use of money and property $ - 8 - % 21 § 21
Miscellaneous - - 1,673 1,673
Intergovernmentat - 99,500 12,500 (87,000)
Total revenues $ -5 99500 $ 14,194 § (85,306)
Expenditures:
Current;
Planning and community development $ -« % 124,375 16,500 $ 107,875
Total expenditures $ - % 124,375 § 16,500 § 107,875
Deficiency of revenues under expenditures $ - 3% {24,875) $ (2,306) $ 22,569
Other financing sources:
Transfers in % - % 24875 % 24875 § -
Total other financing sources $ - % 24875 $ 24875 § -
Net change in fund balance $ - % - 3 22,569 § 22,569
Fund balance at beginning of year -
Fund balance at end of year $ 22,569
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Internal Service Funds

Internal service funds are used to account for the financing of goods and services provided by one department or
agency to other departments or agencies of the government and to other governmental units, on a cost
reimbursement basis.

Central Garage Fund - This fund accounts for the operations of the City's central garage. Financing is provided by
charges to other departments and agencies for services rendered and transfers from other funds for overhead

costs.

Central Stores Fund - This fund accounts for the operations of the City's central stores. Financing is provided by
charges to other departments and agencies for the sale of materials and supplies and transfers from other funds for

overhead costs.

Health Insurance Fund - This fund accounts for the heaith insurance premium collections and claims payments
related to the operation of the City's self-insured health insurance program. Financing is provided by premiums paid
by departments, employees and organizations which participate in the insurance pian.
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA Exhibit B-1
INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

At June 30, 2012

Central Central Health
Garage Stores Insurance
Fund Fund Fund Total
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivaients $ 254642 § - % 3,869,965 § 4,124,607
Receivables 4,825 - - 4,825
Due from component unit 5,847 - - 5,847
inventory 444,195 1,200,985 - 1,645,180
Prepaid expenses 8,260 - - 8,260
Total current assets $ 717,769 $ 1,200,985 % 3,869,965 $ 5,788,719
Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) $ 39,853 % 637,492 $ - % 677,345
Tofal noncurrent assets $ 39,853 % 637,492 $ - % 677,345
Total assets $ 757,622 $ 1838477 % 3,869,965 $ 6,466,064
Liabilities and Net Assets
Current liabilities:
Accounis payable $ 157,623 $ 21,849 § 936,349 $ 1,115,821
Accrued payrofl 10,970 1,717 - 12,687
Due to component unit 335 335 - 670
Advances from other funds - 178,829 - 178,829
Unearned revenue - - 491,141 491,141
Compensated absences 38,251 4,230 - 42,481
Total current liabilities $ 207179 % 206,960 § 1,427,490 § 1,841,629
Noncurrent liabiiities:
Compensated absences $ 42,576 % 4597 % - % 47173
Postretirement healthcare benefits 57,886 7,667 - 65,553
Total noncurrent liabilities $ 100,462 % 12,264 % - % 112,726
Total labilities $ 307,641 % 219,224 § 1,427,490 $ 1,954,355
Net assets:
invested in capitai assets $ 39,853 % 637492 % - % 677,345
Unrestricted 410,128 981,761 2,442,475 3,834,364
Total net assets $ 449,081 § 1,619,253 % 2442475 § 4,511,709
Total liabilities and net assets $ 757,622 % 1838477 & 3869965 $ 6,466,064
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA

INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Exhibit B-2

Operating revenues:
Charges for services
Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Personal services
Fringe benefits
Purchased services
internal services
Other charges
Materiats and supplies
Depreciation
Cost of inventory issued
Claims related charges

Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)
Nonoperating revenues:

Miscellaneous revenue

Investment revenue

Total nonoperating revenues

Income (loss) before transfers
Transfers in

Change in net assets

Net assets at beginning of year

Net assets at end of year

Central Central Heaith
Garage Stores Insurance
Fund Fund Fund Total
$ 3,398,767 § 832,594 $ 12283133 § 16,524,494
% 3,398,767 § 832,594 $ 12,293,133 $ 16,524,494
5 541,250 % 74,840 $ - 3 616,090
196,903 26,262 - 223,165
61,032 9,611 543,930 614,573
1,093 1,130 - 2,223
25,785 12,011 761,197 798,993
51,026 1,589 - 52,615
8,272 21,529 - 29,801
2,620,066 867,713 - 3,487,779
- - 12,540,667 12,540,667
5 3,505,427 % 1,014,685 $§ 13,845,794 $ 18,365,906
5 (106,660) $ (182,091) $ (1552661} § (1,841,412}
$ 12507 % - % - % 12,507
281 - 5,724 6,005
3 12,7668 § - % 5724 § 18,512
3 (93,872} % (182,091) § (1,546,937) & (1,822,900)
68,662 135,225 - 203,887
3 (25,210) $ (46,866) § (1,546,937} § (1,615,013}
475,191 1,666,119 3,989,412 6,130,722
3 449981 3 1,618,253 § 2442 475 3 4,511,708

80




CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA

Exhibit B-3

INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS Page 1
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012
Central Central Health
Garage Stores Insurance
Fund Fund Fund Tofal
Cash flows from operating activifies:
Receipts from customers $ 3,400,221 % 832,594 % - % 4232815
Receipts from premiums - - 11,904,031 11,904,031
Receipts other sources 11,156 - - 11,156
Payments to employees (572,712) (78,284) - {650,976}
Payments for fringe benefits (179,179} (24,394) - (203,573)
Payments to vendors (2,564,351} (857,152) (1,305,128} {4,726,631)
Payments for internal services {1,093) {1,130} - (2,223)
Payments for claims related charges - - (12,402,248) (12,402,248)
Net cash provided by {used for) operating activities 3 94,042 3 (128,346) $ (1,803,345) $ (1,837,649
Cash flows from noncapital
financing activities:
Transfers in $ 40,511 % 135,225 § - % 175,736
interfund loan - (6,879) - (6,879)
Net cash provided by noncapitat financing activities $ 40,511 § 128,346 § - % 168,857
Cash flows from capital and related
financing activities:
Purchase and construction of capital assets $ (8,995) § - % - % (8,995)
Net cash used for capital and related financing activities $ (8,995) $ - 3 - $ (8,995)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest received 3 281 % - & 5728 % 6,009
Net cash provided by investing activities $ 281 % - % 5728 § 6,009
Net increase (decrease} in cash and cash equivalents % 125839 $ - % (1,797617) $ (1,671,778}
Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning 128,803 - 5,667,582 5,796,385
Ending $ 254642 % - § 3869965 $ 4,124,607
{continued)
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA Exhibit B-3
INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS ' Page 2
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Central Central Health
Garage Stores Insurance
Fund Fund Fund Total

Reconciliation of operating income (loss} to net cash provided by {used for) operating activities:

Operating income (loss) $ (106,660} $ {182,091) $ (1,552,661) § {1,841,412)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (foss) to
net cash provided by (used for) operating activities:

Depreciation 8,272 21,529 - 29,801
Miscellaneous revenue 11,156 - - 11,156
Change in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in: )
Accounts receivable 910 - - 910
Due from component unit 544 - - 544
Inventory 118,504 47,989 - 166,493
Prepaid expenses 3,035 492 - 3527
Increase (decrease} in:
Accounts payable 77,707 (13,943) 138,419 202,183
Accrued payroll (20,379) (2.562) - (22,941)
Due to component unit (5) {280) - (285)
Unearned revenue - - (389,103} (389,103)
Compensated absences {13,491) {1,120} - (14,611)
Posiretirement healthcare benefits 14,449 1,640 - 16,089
Net cash provided by {used for) operating activities $ 94,042 % (128,3468) $ (1,803,345) $  (1,837,849)
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Agency Funds

Agency funds are used to account for assets held by a government as an agent for individuals, private organizations
or other governments.

Juvenile Crime Control Fund - This fund accounts for assets held by the City of Harrisonburg (City) for the 26"
Judicial District Court Service Unit as a participant in the Virginia Juvenile Community Crime Control Act. The City
acis as the fiscal agent for both the City and the County of Rockingham.

Industrial Development Authority Fund - This fund accounts for assets held by the City for the Harrisonburg
Industrial Development Authority. '

Emergency Communications Center Fund - This fund accounts for assets held by the City for the Harrisonburg-
Rockingham Emergency Gommunications Center (HRECC). The City acts as the fiscal agent for the HRECC.
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA Exhibit C-1
AGENCY FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

At June 30, 2012

Juvenife industrial Emergency
Crime Development Communications
Control Fund  Authority Fund Center Fund Total
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 22640 3 93,346 % 3,233,157 % 3,349,143
Receivables - - 114,312 114,312
Prepaid items - - 47,368 47,368
Total assets $ 22640 % 093,346 $ 3,394,837 $ 3,510,823
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ - % -3 26,775 3 26,775
Accrued payrofl 2,507 - 33,012 35,519
Amounts held for others 20,133 93,346 3,335,050 3,448,529
Total liabilities $ 22640 % 93,346 $ 3,394 837 % 3,510,823
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA Exhibit C-2
AGENCY FUNDS Page 1
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Balance Balance
Beginning End
of Year Additions Deletions of Year
Juvenile Crime Control Fund
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 16,720 § 89,537 % 83617 § 22,640
Prepaid items 874 - 874 -
Total assets 5 17,594 $ 89,537 % 84,491 $ 22,640
Liabilities:
Accounts payable 5 5% - % 5§ -
Accrued payroll 3,671 2,507 3,671 2,507
Amountis held for others 13,918 89,537 83,322 20,133
Total liabilities $ 17,594 % 92,044 $ 86,998 § 22,640
Industrial Development Authority Fund
Assels:
Cash and cash equivalents 3 82,024 % 11,669 $ 347 % 93,346
Total assets $ 82,024 % 11,669 $ 347 % 93,346
Liabilities:
Amounts held for others 3 82,024 % 11,669 § 347 $ 93,346
Total liabilities $ 82,024 % 11,660 § 347 % 93,346
Emergency Communications Center Fund
Assets;
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2895572 % 3,759,806 § 3,422,221 § 3,233,157
Receivables 368,235 117,343 371,266 114,312
Prepaid items 61,046 47,368 61,046 47,368
Total assets $ 3324853 % 3,924,517 $ 3,854,533 % 3,394,837
Liabilities:
Accounis payable $ 79406 § 26775 § 79,406 § 26,775
Accrued payroll 80,249 33,012 80,249 33,012
Amounts held for others 3,165,198 3,508,914 3,339,062 3,335,050
Total liabilities $ 3324853 % 3,568,701 $ 3,498,717 § 3,394,837

(continued)
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA Exhibit C-2
AGENCY FUNDS Page 2
STATENENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCJARY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Balance Balance
Beginning End
of Year Additions Deletions of Year
Total - All Agency Funds
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2994316 § 3861012 % 3,506,185 § 3,349,143
Receivables 368,235 117,343 371,266 114,312
Prepaid items 61,920 47,368 61,920 47,368
Total assets $ 3,424,471 § 4,025,723 % 3,939,371 & 3,610,823
Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 79411 § 28,775 § 79411 % 26,775
Accrued payroll 83,920 35,519 83,920 35,519
Amounts held for others 3,261,140 3,610,120 3,422,731 3,448,529
Total liabilities $ 3424471 § 3,672,414 $ 3,586,062 % 3,510,823
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Discretely Presented Component Unit — School Board

General Fund

School Fund - This fund accounts for the operations of the School Board's elementary, middle and high schools
not accounted for and reported in other funds.

Special Revenue Fund

Special revenue funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are
restricted or committed to expenditures for specific purposes other than debt service or capital projects.

School Nutrition Fund - This fund accounts for the operations of the School Board's centralized cafeterias.

Capital Projects Fund
Capital projects funds are used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted, committed or
assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, including the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities and

other capital assets other than those financed by proprietary funds and trust funds.

School Capital Projects Fund - This fund accounts for the financial resources to be used for the acquisition and
construction of major capital facilities of the schoals not financed through the issuance of debt.
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA

DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT - SCHOOL BOARD

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
BALANCE SHEET
At June 30, 2012

Exhibit D-1

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Due from component unit
Inventory
Prepaid expenditures

Total assets

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Due to primary government
Due to component unit
Deferred revenue

Total liabilities

Fund Batances:
Nonspendable:
Inventory
Prepaid expenditures
Assigned to:
Instruction
Operations and maintenance
Technology
Subsequent years' expenditures
Unassigned

Total fund balances

Total liabhilities and fund balances

School

School Capital

School Nutrition Projects

Fund Fund Fund Totals

$ 5372068 § 1,184,206 § $ 5,556,274
1,375,061 271,363 1,646,424
56,580 - 56,580
- 104,885 104,885
495,131 5,000 500,131
$ 7298840 $ 1,565,454 $ $ 8,864,294
$ 33,562 $ 19,181 $ $ 52,743
5,022,808 113,520 5,136,328
47,822 - 47,822
93,176 - 93,176
5,916 - 5,916
$ 5203284 % 132,701 $ $ 5335985
$ - % 104,885 §$ $ 104,885
495,131 5,000 500,131
61,453 - 61,453
29,097 - 29,097
27,046 - 27.046
900,000 - 900,000
582,829 1,322,868 1,905,697
$ 2095556 % 1,432,753 § $ 3,528,309
$ 7,298840 § 1,565,454 §$ $ 8,864,294
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA

DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT - SCHOOL BOARD
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

At June 30, 2012

Exhibit D-2

Total fund balance of governmental funds (Exhibit D-1)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets (Exhibit 1)
are different because:

Certain revenues are not available to pay for current period expenditures and therefore are
deferred in the funds.

Capital assets used in governmentaf activities are not financial resources and therefore are not
reported in the funds.

Long-term liabilities, and related accounts, are not payable from current financial resources and
therefore are not reported in the funds.

Net assets of governmental activities (Exhibit 1)
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$ 3,628,309

5916

32,691,758

(3165,334)

$ _ 32960649
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA Exhibit D-3
DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT - SCHOOL BOARD
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012
School
School Capital
School Nutrition Projects
Fund Fund Fund Totals
Revenues:
Use of money and property % 27,174 % 1,605 % - % 28,779
Charges for services 1,269,623 542,794 - 1,812,317
Miscellaneous 298,409 23,200 - 321,609
Payment from primary government 22,881,672 - 824 474 23,706,046
intergovernmental 29,099,643 2,244,290 - 31,343,933
Total revenues $ 53,576,321 % 2811889 § 824,474 $ 57,212,684
Expenditures:
Current;
Instruction $ 42,090,155 % - 8 - %5 42,090,155
Administration, attendance and health 3,222,764 - - 3,222,764
Pupil transportation 2,146,181 - - 2,146,181
Operations and maintenance 4,497,023 - - 4,497,023
Food services - 2,652,978 - 2,652,978
Technology 2,845,095 27,871 - 2,872,966
Capital projects - - 1,971,548 1,971,546
Total expenditures $ 54,801,218 % 2680849 § 1,971,646 $ 59,453,613
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under} expenditures $ (1,224,897) % 131,040 $ (1,147,072) $ (2,240,929)
Fund balances at beginning of year 3,320,453 1,301,713 1,147,072 5,769,238
Fund balances at end of year $ 2095556 % 1,432,753 % - % 3,528,309

Note: Restatement of Beginning Fund Balance
The School Board has decreased the beginning fund balance of the Schoo! Fund and School Nutrition Fund by $760,876 and $35,088,

respectively. The purpose of this restatement is to correct the reporting of certain accrued employee benefit expenditures in the previous
fiscal year.
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA

DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT - SCHOOL BOARD

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Exhibit D-4

Total net change in fund balances of governmental funds (Exhibit D-3)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities {Exhibit 2)
are different because:

Certain revenues reported in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial
resources are not reported as revenues in govemmental funds. This amount is the net change
in these revenues.

Governmental funds report capital outfays as expenditures. However, in the statement of
activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported
as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which capital outlay expenditures exceeded
depreciation expense.

Capital outlay expenditures $ 1,801,387
Depreciation expense (1,333,791)

Net adjustment 5 467,596
Certain expenses reported in the statement of activities that do not require the use of current
financial resources are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. This amount is
the net change in these expenses.
The transfer of capital assets between the primary government and the School Board affects
only the statement of activities. These transfers do not have an effect on current financial

resources and, therefore, are not reported in governmental funds.

Change in net assets of governmental activities (Exhibit 2)
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA Exhibit D-5
DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT - SCHOOL BOARD

SCHOOL FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Variance with

Final Budget
Budgeted Amounts Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
Use of money and property $ 10,000 § 10,000 $ 27174 § 17,174
Charges for services 1,220,679 1,220,679 1,269,623 48,844
Miscellaneous 88,042 88,042 298,409 210,367
Payment from primary government 25,200,043 25,200,043 22,881,572 (2,318,471)
Infergovernmentat 28,027,125 28,204,143 29,099,643 895,500
Tofal revenues $ 54545889 $ 54,722,907 $ 53576321 § (1,146,586)
Expenditures:
Current:
instruction $ 42422156 $ 42,077,091 42,090,155 $ {13,064}
Administration, attendance and health 3,127,892 3,142,843 3,222,764 (79,921}
Pupit transportation 2,054,434 2,155,506 2,146,181 9,325
Operations and maintenance 4482178 4,606,477 4,497 023 109,454
Technology 2,458,229 2,829,736 2,845,095 (15,359)
Tofal expenditures ) $ 54545889 $ 54,811,653 § 54,801,218 $ 10,435
Deficiency of revenues under expenditures 3 -3 (88,746) § (1,224,897) $ (1,136,151)
Fund balance at beginning of year 3,320,453
Fund balance at end of year $ 2,095,556

92




CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA

DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT - SCHOOL BOARD

SCHOOL NUTRITION FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Exhibit D-8&

Revenues:
Use of money and property
Charges for services
Recovered cosls
Intergovernmental
Total revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
Food services
Technology
Total expendifures

Excess of revenues over expenditures
Fund balance at beginning of year

Fund balance at end of year

Variance with

Final Budget
Budgeted Amounts Positive
Original Final Actual {Negative}
$ - $ - § 1,605 1,605
551,675 551,675 542,794 (8,881)
- - 23,200 23,200
1,968,695 1,983,645 2,244,290 260,645
$ 2520370 $ 2535320 $ 2,811,889 276,569
$ 2497370 $ 2,510,320 $§ 2,652,978 {142,658)
23,000 25,000 27,871 (2,871)
$ 2520370 $ 2,535320 $§ 2,680,849 {145,529)
$ - % - % 131,040 131,040
1,301,713
$__ 1,432,753
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Other Supplementary Schedules

Schedule of Revenues —~ Budget to Actual - This schedule provides additional detailed final budget and actual
revenue information for the City's governmental funds and discretely presented component unit — School Board.

Schedule of Expenditures — Budget to Actual - This schedule provides additional detailed final budget and actual
expenditure information for the City's governmental funds and discretely presented component unit — School Board.
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA

Scheduie 1

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT - SCHOOL BOARD Page 1
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012
Variance
Final Positive
Fund, Major and Minor Revenue Sources Budget Actual {Negative)
Primary Government:
General Fund:
General properly taxes:
Real property taxes $ 23,183,072 % 23,164,064 % (19,008}
Real and personal public service
corporation property taxes 320,000 305,419 {14,581)
Personal property taxes 6,404,294 6,636,271 231,977
Mobile home taxes 6,310 7613 1,303
Machinery and tools taxes 1,825,000 1,800,539 (24,461)
Penalties and interest 230,000 266,423 36,423
Total general properly taxes $ 31,968676 % 32,180,329 % 211,653
Other local taxes:
Local sales and use taxes $ 11,110,746  § 10,744,198 % (366,548)
Consumer utility taxes 1,130,000 1,071,485 (58,535)
Business license taxes 5,550,000 5,932,606 382,606
Motor vehicle license taxes 700,000 759,588 59,588
Bank stock taxes 560,000 543,099 (186,901}
Taxes on recordation and wills 400,000 273,405 (126,595)
Tobacco taxes 726,000 768,267 42267
Admission and amusement {axes 205,000 178,371 (26,629}
Hotel and motel room taxes 1,650,000 1,838,184 188,184
Restaurant food taxes 8,245,000 8,833,426 588,426
Short-term rental taxes 78,000 61,237 (16,763)
Public right-of-way use fee 123,500 111,110 {12,390)
Total other local taxes $ 30,478,246 § 31,114,956  § 636,710
Permits, privilege fees and regulatory licenses:
Animal licenses $ 6500 % 4114 & (2,386)
Permits and other licenses 566,675 494 351 (72,324}
Total permits, privitege fees and regulatory licenses $ 573175 % 498,465 § (74,710)
Fines and forfeitures:
Circuit court fines $ 560,000 % 417,063 & (142,937)
Parking fines 41,000 40,187 (813)
Drug forfeiture - 69,010 69,010
Total fines and forfeitures $ 601,000 % 526,260 § {74,740)
Use of money and property:
Use of money $ 60,000 $ 47296 % (12,704}
Use of property 115,469 109,239 (6,230)
Total use of money and property 5 175469 § 156,535 § (18,934)

(continued)




CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA

Schedule 1

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT - SCHOOL BOARD Page 2
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012
Variance
Final Posifive
Fund, Major and Minor Revenue Sources Budget Actual {Negative)
Primary Government: {continued}
General Fund: (continued)
Charges for services:
Charges for sanitation and waste removal 5 4,250,000 § 4214019 % (35,981)
Charges for faw enforcement and traffic contro! 30,731 38,189 7,458
Charges for parking 137,200 134,715 (2,485)
Charges for rescue services 136,000 87,650 {48,350}
Charges for parks and recreation 396,100 454,068 57,968
Charges for golf course 649,000 702,194 53,194
Total charges for services $ 5,589,031 $ 5630835 § 31,804
Miscelianeous:
Payments in lieu of taxes:
Electric plant and equipment $ 348,404 § 348,404 $ -
Service charge on tax exempt property 23,000 52 457 29,457
Debt service reimbursement from HRHA 715,162 608,622 (106,540}
Donations - JMU & EMU 130,000 130,000 -
Donations 109,484 100,580 {8,904)
Other miscellaneous 676,415 762,236 85,821
Total miscellaneous $ 2002465 $ 2002299 §$ (166)
Recovered costs:
Payment from Harrisonburg-Rockingham ECC $ 303,253 § 303,253 § -
Total recovered costs $ 303,253 % 303,253 % -
Payments from component units:
Payment from Harrisonburg Electric Commission $ 4,900,000 $ 4,900,000 $ -
Total payments from component units $ 4,900,000 § 4,900,000 % -
intergovernmental;
Revenue from the Commonwealth:
Non-categorical aid:
Railroad rolling stock taxes $ 12,425 & 15,216 & 2,791
Mobile home titling taxes 3,300 2,700 {600}
Tax on deeds (grantor tax) 162,808 82,230 (80,578)
Personat property tax reimbursement 1,522,583 1,522,583 -
Communication sales and use faxes 1,735,000 1,651,465 (83,535)
Auto rental taxes 155,000 121,824 (33,176)
Animal friendly license plate 750 600 (150}
Total non-categorical aid $ 3,591,866 % 3396618 $ (195,248)
Calegorical aid:
Shared expenses:
Commissioner of the revenue $ 130,730 & 127,869 % {2,861)
Treasurer 107,548 105,604 (1,854)
Medical examiner fees - - -
Registrar 33,418 39,039 5,621
Total shared expenses $ 271696 % 272602 % 206
{continued)
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA Schedule 1
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT - SCHOOL BOARD Page 3

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Variance
Final Positive
Fund, Major and Minor Revenue Sources Budget Actual (Negative)
Primary Government: {continued)
General Fund: (continued}
Intergovernmental: {continued)
Revenue from the Commonwealth: {coniinued)
Other categorical aid:
Enhancing stream health grant - 1,555 1,555
Hazardous materiafs grant 9,000 10,000 1,000
Fire programs fund 127,008 142,786 15,778
Four-for-life 21,857 27,134 5,277
Litter control grant 7,700 5,660 {2,040}
Spay and neuter funds 119 65 {54)
Presidential primary reimbursement - 14,123 11,123
State aid to localities, police 1,356,388 1,235,911 (120,477)
Street and highway maintenance 3,765,000 3,900,641 135,641
Total other categorical aid 5,287,072 5,334,875 47,803
Total categorical aid 5,658,768 5,607,477 48,709
Total revenue from the Commonweaith 9,150,634 9,004,095 {146,539)
Revenue from the Federal Government:
Categorical aid:
Homeland security grant 351,237 172,848 {178,389)
DMV grant 27,367 41,577 14,210
Justice assistance grant 7,927 13,209 5,282
Polling place accessibility grant - 4,040 4,040
Recreational trails program grant 18,468 18,468 -
Total revenue from the Federal Government 404,999 250,142 {154,857)
Total intergovernmental 9,555,633 9,254 237 {301,396)
Total General Fund 86,156,948 86,567,169 410,221
Special Revenue Funds:
Community Development Block Grant Fund:
intergovernmentak
Revenue from the Federal Government:
Non-categorical aid:
Community Development Block Grant $ 1,025,318 & 496,347 $ (528,971)
Totat revenue from the Federal Government 3 1,025,318 § 496347 % (5628,971)
Total intergovernmentat 5 1,025,318 & 496,347 % (528,971)
Total Community Development Block Grant Fund $ 1,025,318 % 496,347 § {528,971)

{continued}
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA

Schedule 1

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT - SCHOOL BOARD Page 4
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012
Variance
Final Positive
Fund, Major and Minor Revenue Sources Budget Actual {Negative)
Primary Government: (continued)
School Transportation Fund:
Use of money and property - 200 200
Charges for services 2,077,183 2,144 363 67,180
Misceltaneous 35,774 6,556 (29,218)
Total School Transportation Fund 2,112,957 2,151,119 38,162
Business Loan Program Fund:
Use of money and property - 21 21
Miscellaneous - 1,673 1,673
intergovernmental:
Revenue from the Federal Government:
Categorical aid:
USDA rural business enterprise grant 99,500 12,500 (87,000)
Total revenue from the Federal Government 99,500 12,500 (87,000)
Total intergovernmental 99,500 12,500 {87,000)
Total Business Loan Program Fund 99,500 14,194 (85,306)
Total Special Revenue Funds 3,237,775 2,661,660 {576,115}
Capital Projects Fund:
General Capital Projects Fund:
Use of money and properly 10,321 14,843 4 522
Miscellaneous 4,000 4,000 -
Recovered costs - 303,253 303,253
Intergovernmental:
Revenue from the Commonweaith:
Categorical aid:
Conservation/natural resources grant 1,469 1,469 -
VDOT bridge reimbursement 608,934 663,887 54,953
vDOT revenue sharing 1,099,926 1,183,287 83,361
VDOT recreation access funds 75,000 - (75,000)
VDOT capital projects revenue bonds 11,000,000 622,763 (10,377,237)
Total revenue from the Commonwealth 12,785,329 2,471,406 (10,313,923)
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA

Schedule 1

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT - SCHOOL BOARD Page 5
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012
Variance
Final Positive
Fund, Major and Minor Revenue Sources Budget Actual (Negative)
Primary Government: {continued)
Capital Projects Fund: {continued)
General Capital Projects Fund: (continued}
Intergovernmental: (continued)
Revenue from the Federal Government:
Categoricatl aid:
Safe route to schools grant 3 752,002 45735 % (706,267}
Transportation enhancement grant 220,465 16,858 (203,607}
Hazard elimination grant 100,000 - (100,000)
Street and highway consfruction 1,937,134 3,047,164 1,110,030
Total revenue from the Federal Government $ 3,009,601 3,109,757 % 100,156
Total intergovernmental $ 15,794,930 5,581,183 % (10,213,767)
Total General Capital Projects Fund $ 15,809,251 5903,259 $ {9,905,992)
Total Capital Projects Fund $ 15,809,251 5,903,259 $ (9,905,992)
Grand Tota! Revenues (Primary Government) $ 105,203,974 95,132,088 % {10,071,886)
Component Unit - School Board:
School Fund:
Use of money and property $ 10,000 27174 % 17,174
Charges for services 1,220,679 1,269,523 48,844
Miscellaneous 88,042 298,409 210,367
Payment from primary government 25,200,043 22,881,572 (2,318,471)
intergovernmental;
Revenue from the Commonwealth:
Categorical aid;
Share of state sales tax 4,321,328 . 4,440,543 119,215
Basic school aid 10,883,225 11,733,070 849,845
State standard of quality funds 2,194,963 2,362,020 167,057
Fringe benefits 1,642,153 1,660,974 27,821
At risk 1,216,461 1,255,960 39,499
Primary class size 805,299 829,088 23,789
Technology initiative 258,000 258,000 -
English as second language 1,034,023 931,945 (102,078}
Regional tuition programs (special education) 814,246 918,065 103,819
Other state funds 222,167 333,153 110,986
Total categorical aid $ 23,391,865 24,731,818 § 1,339,953
Total revenue from the Commonweaith $ 23,391,865 24,731,818 % 1,339,953
{continued)
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA

Schedute 1

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT - SCHOOL BOARD Page 6
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012
Variance
Final Positive
Fund, Major and Minor Revenue Sources Budget Actual (Negative)
Component Unit - School Board: (continued)}
School Fund: {continued)
Intergovernmental: (continued)
Revenue from the Federal Government:
Categorical ald:
Title | 1,634,210 1,438,748 (195,462)
Special education 1,024,248 1,020,377 (3,871}
Education technology 335,925 31,964 (303,961)
Title ill 240,129 226,931 {13,198)
ESEA - Title |l Part A 229,955 60,260 (169,695)
American recovery and reinvestment act (ARRA) 1,188,811 1,424,709 235,898
Other federal funds 159,000 164,836 5,836
Total revenue from the Federal Government 4812278 4,367,825 {444 ,453)
Total intergovernmental 28,204,143 29,099,643 895,500
Total School Fund 54,722 907 53,576,321 {1,146,586)
School Nutrition Fund:
Use of money and property - 1,605 1,605
Charges for services 551,675 542,794 (8,881}
Miscelaneous - 23,200 23,200
intergovernmentat:
Revenue from the Commonweaith:
Categorical aid:
School food program 67,265 65,485 (1,780}
Total categorical aid 67,265 65,485 {1,780)
Total revenue from the Commonwealth 67,265 65,485 (1,780)
Revenue from the Federal Government:
Categorical aid;
School food program 1,816,380 2,041,495 125,115
USDA donated food - 137,310 137,310
Total revenue from the Federal Government 1,916,380 2,178,805 262,425
Total intergovernmental 1,983,645 2,244,290 260,645
Total School Nutrition Fund 2,535,320 2,811,889 276,569
School Capital Projects Fund:
Payment from primary government 824 474 824,474 -
Total Schoo! Capital Projects Fund 824,474 824,474 -
Grand Total Revenues (Component Unit - School Board) 58,082,701 57,212,684 {870,017)
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S$CHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012 -

101

Variance
Final Positive
Fund, Function, Activity and Elements Budget Actual (Negative)
Primary Government:
General Fund:
General government administrafion:
Legislative:

City Council $ 166,152 % 161,500 § 4,652

Total legislative $ 166,152 $ 161,500 § 4,652
General and financial administration:

City manager $ 431,682 % 429820 & 1,762

City attorney 173,172 163,272 9,900

Human resources 237,416 235,004 2412

Independent auditor . 27,050 22650 4,400

Commissioner of the revenue 417,610 359,696 57,914

Assessors 287,556 280,646 6,910

Equalization 2,875 2,350 525

Treasurer 496,616 470,359 26,257

Finance 462,754 421,720 41,034

Information technology 1,230,031 1,104,041 125,990

Purchasing agent 134,908 132,405 2,503

Dues fo municipal league 34,437 33,434 1,003

Reserve for contingencies 5,305 - 5,305
Total general and financial administration 3 3,941,312 §$ 3,655,397 § 285,915

Board of elections:

Registrar $ 196,223 § 186,110 & 10,113
Total board of elections $ 196,223 $ 186,110 % 10,113
Total general government administration $ 4,303,687 3 4,003,007 % 300,680

Jail and judicial administration:
Joint expenditures with Rockingham County $ 3,056,108 $ 3,056,108 § -
Total jail and judicial administration $ 3,056,108 § 3,056,108 § -
Public safely:
Law enforcement and traffic control:

Administration 773,804 763,348 % 10,456

Operations 3,164,128 3,131,278 32,850

Criminal investigations 1,079,382 1,043,810 35,572

Support services 1,864,808 1,743,492 121,316

Gang task force 164,186 111,421 52,765

Special operations 1,073,768 1,003,606 70,162
Total law enforcement and traffic control 8,120,076 7,796,955 § 323,121

(continued)




CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA

Schedule 2

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT - SCHOOL BOARD Page 2
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012
Variance
Final Positive
Fund, Function, Activity and Elements Budget Actual (Megative)
Primary Government: {continued)
General Fund: (continued)
Public safety: (continued)
Fire and rescue services:
Administration $ 498,858 $ 486670 § 12,188
Suppression 5,714,396 5,713,354 1,042
Prevention 357,006 351,301 5,705
Training 215,297 213,092 2,205
Total fire and rescue services $ 6,785,557 % 6,764,417 & 21,140
Correction and detention:
City operated insfitufions $ 82500 60,103 % 22,397
Total correction and detention $ 82500 § 60,103  § 22,397
Inspections:
Building $ 630,164 % 620,652 § 9,512
Totat inspections $ 630,164 % 620,652 % 9,512
Other protection;
Public safety buiilding $ 366697 § 341,962 § 24,735
Child safety alliance 39,348 31,285 8,063
Animal control 316,504 296822 19,682
Coroner 1,000 - 1,000
Emergency services 389,820 185,373 204,447
Harrisonburg-Rockingham ECC 1,444,254 1,444,254 -
Totai other protection $ 2557623 % 2200696 $ 257,927
Total public safety 5 18175920 % 17,541,823  § 634,097
Public works:
Maintenance of highways, streets, bridges and sidewalks:
General engineering § 505,856 §$ 864,167 § 41,789
Highway and street maintenance 6,188,031 4,581,691 1,606,340
Street lights 531,844 516,734 15,110
Snow and ice removal 318,271 186,918 131,353
Traffic engineering 1,463,783 1,158,758 305,025
Highway and street beautification 276,192 228,810 47,382
Total maintenance of highways,
streets, bridges and sidewalks 5 9,684,077 % 7,637,078 % 2,146,999
Sanitation and waste removal;
Street and road cleaning $ 418,996 % 362,093 % 26,903
Refuse collection 002,551 747,722 154,829
City tandfill 122,326 96,645 25,681
Recycling 997,197 656,815 340,382
Insect and rodent control 41,236 6,174 35,062
County landfili 1,572,073 793,789 778,284
Total sanitation and waste removal $ 4054379 % 2603238 % 1,361,141
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA

Schedule 2

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT - SCHOOL BOARD Page 3
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012
Variance
Final Positive
Fund, Function, Activity and Elements Budget Actual {Negative)
Primary Government: {continued)
General Fund: (continued)
Public works: (continued)
Maintenance of general buildings and grounds:

General properties 3 357,150 253,848 103,302
Total maintenance of general buildings and grounds $ 357,150 253,848 103,302
Total public works $ 14,095 606 10,484,164 3,611,442

Health and welfare:
Health:

Local health department $ 386,762 376,670 10,092

Total health $ 386,762 376,670 10,092
Mental health and mental retardation:

Community services board $ 300,394 300,394 -

Total mental health and mental retardation $ 300,394 300,394 -
Welfaref/social services:

Tax relief for the elderly and disabled veterans $ 87,922 87,922 -

Joint expenditures with Rockingham County 3,140,508 2,897,880 242,628
Total welfare/social services $ 3,228,430 2,985,802 242,628
Total health and welfare $ 3,915,586 3,662,866 252,720

Education:
Payment to Harrisonburg City School Board $ 25,866,436 23,547,965 2,318,471
Total education $ 25,866,436 23,547 965 2,318,471
Parks, recreation and culture;
Parks and recreation;

Administration $ 1,097,419 1,036,605 60,814

Parks 903,628 895,869 7,759

Recreation centers and playgrounds 518,531 490,690 27.841

Nationa! guard armory 91,716 77,520 14,196

Simms continuing education center 346,252 284,370 61,882

Westover pool 417,075 407,983 9,092

Athletics 408,470 379,486 28,984

Blacks run greenway 56,624 51,665 4,959

Golf course grounds management 668,595 619,197 49,398

Golf course clubhouse management 703,396 702,863 533
Total parks and recreation $ 5,211,706 4,946,248 265,458
Total parks, recreafion and culture $ 5,211,706 4,946,248 265,458
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA

Schedule 2

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT - SCHOOL BOARD Page 4
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012
Variance
Final Posifive
Fund, Function, Activity and Elements Budget Actual {Negative)
Primary Government: {continued}
General Fund: {continued}
Planning and community development:
Pianning:

Planning $ 207,746 § 202,395 5,351

Zoning administrator 141,456 141,338 118

Board of zoning appeals 7,606 5,981 1,625

Economic devetopment 623,508 501,694 121,814

Downtown renaissance 189,408 186,086 3,322

Tourism and visitors services 382,196 382,105 91

Downtown parking services 226,760 178,134 48,626
Total planning L 1,778,680 § 1,597,733 180,947

Community development:

Massanutten Regional Library $ 431412  § 431,412 -

Regicnal Juveniie Detention Home 260,245 260,245 -

Shenandoah Valley Airport 67,923 67,923 -

Harrisonburg First Tee 64,225 64,225 -

Court Square Theater 60,000 60,000 -

Boys and Girfs Club 53,105 53,105 -

Blue Ridge Community College 46,484 46,484 -

Other contributions 669,232 583,647 85,685
Total community development L 1,652,626 § 1,567,041 85,585
Total planning and community development $ 3,431,306 $ 3,164,774 266,532

Debt service:
Principal retirement 3 7211193  § 7,054,192 157,001
interest and fiscal charges 5,760,135. 5,406,443 353,692
Bond issue costs 392,318 381,755 10,563
Total debt service 3 13,363,646 3 12,842,390 521,256
Total General Fund $ 91,420,001 $ 83,249,345 8,170,656
Special Revenue Funds:
Community Development Block Grant Fund:
Planning and community devetopment:
Community development:

Community devefopment block grant $ 1,025,318 § 550,416 474,902
Total community development $ 1,025,318 § 550,416 474902
Total planning and community development $ 1,025,318 § 550,416 474,902
Total Community Development Biock Grant Fund L 1025318 § 550,416 474,902
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Schedule 2

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPOMENT UNIT - SCHOOL BOARD Page 5
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Variance

Final Positive

Fund, Function, Activity and Elements Budget Actual (Negative)
Primary Government: (continued}
Special Revenue Funds: {continued)
School Transportation Fund:

Education:

School bus services $ 2,464,326 2455676 % 8,650
Field trips and charters 222,680 197,627 25,053
Total education $ 2,687,006 2653303 § 33,703
Total School Transportation Fund $ 2,687,006 2,653,303 % 33,703
Business Loan Program Fund:
Planning and community development:
Community development:

Revolving foan program $ 124,375 16,500 $ 107,875
Total communily development $ 124,375 16500 % 107,875
Total planning and community development $ 124,375 16,500 § 107,875
Total Business Loan Program Fund $ 124,375 16,500 § 107,875
Total Special Revenue Funds $ 3,836,699 3,220,219 $ 616,480

Capital Projects Fund:
General Capital Projects Fund:

Capital projects $ 39,477,581 11,335,007 % 28,142,574
Total General Capital Projects Fund $ 39,477,581 11,335,007 % 28,142 574
Total Capital Projects Fund $ 39,477,581 11,335007 $ 28,142,574
Grand Total Expenditures (Frimary Governmeni) $ 134,734,281 57,804,571 $ 36,925,710

Component Unit - School Board:
School Fund:
Education:
instruction $ 42,077,091 42,090,155 % (13,064)
Administration, attendance and health 3,142,843 3,222,764 {79,921)
Pupil transportation 2,155,506 2,146,181 9,325
Operations and maintenance 4,606,477 4,497,023 109,454
Technoiogy 2,829,736 2,845,095 (15,359)
Total education $ 54,811,653 54,801,218 § 10,435
Total School Fund $ 54,811,653 54,801,218 § 10,435

{continued})




CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA Schedule 2
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT - SCHOOL BOARD Page 6
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Variance
Final ' Positive
Fund, Function, Activity and Elements Budget Actual {Negative)
Component Unit - School Board: (continued)
School Nutrition Fund:
Education:
Food services $ 2,510,320 % 2652978 $ (142,658)
Technology 25,000 27,871 {2,871}
Total education $ 2535320 § 2680849 3% (145,529)
Total School Nutrition Fund $ 2,635,320 § 2,680,849 % (145,529)
Schooi Capital Projects Fund:
Capital projects $ 2124620 § 1,971,546 & 153,074
Total Schoof Capital Projects Fund $ 2124620 § 1,971,546 % 153,074
Grand Tota! Expenditures (Component Unit - School Board) $ 59,471,593 % 59,453613 % 17,980
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STATISTICAL SECTION

This part of the City's comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as a context for
understanding what the information in the financial statements, notes disclosures and other supplementary

information says about the City's overali financial health.

Financial Trends. Tables 1 through 5 contain trend information to help the reader understand how the City's
financtal performance and well-being have changed over time.

Revenue Capacity. Tables 6 through 9 present information to help the reader assess the factors affecting the
City's ability to generate property tax revenue which is the City's most significant local revenue source.

Debt Capacity. Tables 10 through 12 present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the City's
current levels of outstanding debt and the City's ability to issue additional debt in the future. The City does not have

any overlapping debt.

Demographic and Economic Information. Tables 13 and 14 offer demographic and economic indicators to help
the reader understand the environment within which the Gity's financial activities take place and to help make

comparisons over time with other governments.

Operating Information, Tables 15 through 17 contain information about the City's operations and resources to
help the reader understand how the City's financial information relates to the services the City provides and the

activities it performs.

Sources: Unless ofherwise noted, the information in these tables is derived from the comprehensive annual

£ ! rte £
financial reports for the relovant yoar.




THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY




‘sjunoLwe palsnipeun au} 4. 00Z 03 20ud S|qe) SIY} Ul UOBULIGIUI 911 "SIUSLUSIE)S [BIDUBLLY DISE] S} UM S)8SSE JaL Buiuuibzg sapianoe sdA-ssaulsng suy pasestour AT sy 2002 ul,
"ASIBAILN UOSIPeY Sewer 0 X3(dwoo jooyss YBiH SINqUOSLUBH pPIo SU} JO 9[eS 3U) 0} anp Sem sjasse [gjdes Ui paSaAUl U1 9SB3:09P BU} PUR S1SSE JaU PjoU)SaIUn $SIANDR [BJUSWLLIRACE Ul 9SBSI0UI 3L /00T Jod,

“Auanoe adA-sseuisng e se papodal

§em 251n00 Jjob au) ‘5002 0} Joud "281n9d Jiof au; Jo suoeIado au) Jo} s5ueyd Builodal B 0f anp SBM SIESSE 18U PajOLISal ,SSIALOR S0A1-SSBUISNG U| SSERI0SP 54} PUR SSRIALDE [BJUSWILLBACE U asessou] 34} ‘S00Z 104,

DEL'SZZ'L0Z § 6EV'IPSZIZ $ GLO'GEQ'/LZ $ FLETLOQDEZ § ©£S0'09S'8ET § GOPEL6LGZ & ZLLZYBGSZ § 2l 6PhFPSE $ BS8BZ5/5C §  IGTTIo05 § sjasse jau jusuwisaol Arewid ego |
LGa'vog'/e gLL'BLT ¥y 156'98L'Sh Cov'e0.L'vh OEL'268'48 089't65'ce 0E2'¥EL'SS 6£6'080'G5 L0S'TLS 09 080'082'8% paLIsaIuLy
690'85¢€'L L8s'0LE' L PT0'BLL'S LBZ'H0L L L10'680'% bt 196 PZS'GPE £99'851 gt ot ars'ocy PaRsay
0l2'z00'89: § OPE'8LL'ZS: § PEG'SZL'OLL § £29/FOVEL § Q0S'Y96'ELL § £eZ'elv'/8L § EOE'TOF00Z $ OOL'EOE'BEL § LTE'LSS'S6L S GT6'/EL/6L § 199 PRlE|a 015U 'SIeSSE |eydeD U paisanyl

1uswussAob fewug

0/L'EGY'89 & £G8'E/G'0L $ GSTEVE0L S PIBEEYZ. $ £6C0LES. $ VILPEOB. $ £ECIS0Z8 § SECCZ9.8 § ESFO08LLD & 29168028 3 LS125SE 18U saARIE adA)-ssauisng |B10 )
P £65'516'0Z 8/8'68t'LT 16.'6%8'2Z v81'68L LT 9oe'518'22 ¥La'boOL'EZ 6LLEYE'SE 240'L00'%E 6€.°295°02 pajouIsaIun
gL.'zar LEV' PPy - - - - - - - - PAISY
0/2'958'05 $ €98'ELZ'eY $ L/€'8G28F $ ZLL'bPO'SP § B0LIZL'PS § 96E'GLZ'GS & BLUOPE'SO  $ 99GZ/ZP9 8§ L8S'ess't9  § SEHLEG'LO 8 i4op palelal Jo 19U ‘siasse [BUded ul pajsauyl

s5ofAloe adf-ssauisng

096'L44'BEL § O8G'E/6'LPL $ 0Zb'990'0PL ¢ OPEZSLBSL $ OSE0S0E9L $ LPOBEGE/L & PBE OGBSOl § LSV ZIS90L § GLPEer[ B8l & BUCELPTiL 8 S135Se Jau sSIANoe [eyuswwaAch g0
281'gTL'0T G95'C0E'ET 6/0'.65'vZ £09'868'Le o¥6'.91'9e PLEPLLCY 919'620'2¢ 0eZ' 8L LE 62+'505'98 LWE'0ZL L€ PERIAsaIUN
£9E'506 ¥P5'99L PZO'BLL L L6Z'vog'L Z1L0'6E0°L Tht'Lo6 PZG'GPE L99'651 9v' oy arg'oer PalIsay
OvPEPLILL & LIPPOSLLL § LIE0LE'0ZL $ 9vP'EO0'SEL § LEE'SPS'STL § SEE'TOZTEL § YrLGLG'9EL § COS'0EGVEL § OVS'9/s'Z8L § 20S'9SZ'9SL §  1G9D Peres 0 jau ‘sjasse [exdes Ul paisaau)

SANANOE |EJUSLLLIBADLD

200z 002 5002 900z 1002 8007 6002 010z 1102 ZI0Z
Jea) |BISI4

{bugunosoe jo siseq jentdse)

SIB3A [BISI4 U] 158

LNINOLINOD AD S13ASSY 13N

}alqey

VINIDYIA ‘DUNINOSINYYH 40 ALID

107



{02g'085'26) ¢ (pSS'E20'Er) & (6G2S62G) & (L8Z1//09) & (@22 198'59) $ 1/6B69)59) § (SZLs0van) & WPl ezl ¢ (Bbhocacl) ¢ (i05700+vl ¢
(L28'623'5) {60c"102) (g¥0'099'}) (/62'6gY) {siz'eot'L) (2e5'709'1) 95.'869'¢ (008'662) (265'629) {oce 269}
(e6z'i0b'2¢) § (s¥EZze'sh) & (1ii'eer'ts) ¢ (ror'igz'on) ¢ (0iS'ver'vo) $ (098'795'ed) § (Lze'oir'vs) & (bre'Zee'zs) ¢ (1sg'sozes) ¢ (1/Z0i6'el) &

anuaaal (esuadxa) 1au elo]
safyAnoe adA-esauisng
SARIALTE [RIUALIUIBACS)
:anuanal {esuadxa) 18N

_TBL'LBY'6Z § OBL'6O9CE $ €££9/8L9E § £GL0596E $ LE09OL'S? $ 0SZLGIBF $ ZOTOSPEs  $ ZZFLLE8F $ GBROLYEF ¢ Z¥0J0CES § sanuana: welbod (2oL

G96'5/9 LIT R0 rrP'FeR L ivi'LIS'T 0BL'LOZ'Z G0.L'789' )L 8.Z'85t'8 $SL'9.LL'T Z80°0v8 162922’ gSuonngLiuco pue sjuelb jguden
09b'0L6 ¥LL'ZL6 1£2'996 589'861'L ges'orl'L 86¥'Z¥2 L COB'FHY' L £Z8'96¥'L 885'eSE) reT 69yl SuoRNGUILCD pue sjuelfi Bugesadp
6E£Z'¥0 Z66'LLL ZrR'ZSL DEG'8LL - - - “ - - SBANOE AU
PE9'sor'y 10Z'682's BFB'FFS'G pos'ear's £/9'900°'8 L0Z'E20'6 SGL'BGL'0} ZET'198'6 520'658'E 198°LLLY uopejuesjue|d wesis
96E'L56°L 965'6EL'T ZPB'9EZ'T 7368’ 182'289'z iri'o0s'e B66'06T'C ZSL'ESL'S ¥GL'ELS'E 854°955°L uopepodsUes oqng
2881y 6L8'Pri't 9LLOL6'Y £66'8YL'S 166'248's £68'080'9 L2L'1IE'S STE'BYL'G Li1'/v0's 80S'LE9'8 lamag
£20'855'F 218'069'r 691°208'% 9ee'eog’s AT TA B $01'¥20'D 278'421's S6Z'¥L¥'S 626'¢8L's 675208’ BEM
'520|alas ug) sableyn
saaor adA-ssauisng
008'505 [£ AN l¥6'Te9 282'1L 82Z'965'€ 088'01S'S 298'/28'y 00%'50L 'L £88'v8E"L ec'0z0'e 1+SUCANALILOS pue sjuels [enden
§5Z'0L0's 90L°004'G SLB'v0Z'9 6£9'095'9 Z86°E9L L ZeYr'0zZe'e BEY'LEE'9 §zl'/es8'9 9z0'6.4'9 8Z.'0Z¥'9 suonnquiuos pue sjuest Bunesado
806" LY 95%'601 EPe'LYY 51Z'8r5 0.0'89. L0182’ 129650 522'9e9 £.0'sh8 olZ'sae sa[IALoR Jaylo
¥L0'CET 866'GEC Siv'ese 982'282 £/9'64L Zr6'E00'L $90'€90's £16'Tr0'L 218803 29z'9GL'L feInynd pue uoiea.0; ‘SYIEd
- . - - - - - - - 8ri'eol'e uceanpy
- - - - - - - - - £9L'EZT Y S3I0M DHIqNg
LPZ'00r ¥c6'cos 62009 688°LLS 9c8°08e 19L°TEY LLG'EBY £TZ'P0S £26'€55 £90'LLY uojiensiuipe feoipnf pue jer

B8S'OEL'S  § 6EL'80P'9  $ ZGZT'IES'9  $ vBi'syR'®  § B/E/90°7L 0§ VIV'ELEL  $ 09L'0Z9'8 & 908'8i4's  $ E¥2'90Z'6  § 6EFOBSS ¢ Uchensiuipe JUsLiuIaA0b jelauss

'$901/Jas Jo) sabieyn
SARALDR {BIUSLUILIBACD
‘Senuaaal welbolyg

2C0TITT8 ¢ OpI'TEO'LB & ZBE'ERS 62 $ VEFLZPOOL § GBS LZOLLE § Pl LC6VLL $ Z8VBSROZL $ LLGERLIZE $ FYESrE el $

BPZ'SE6 L2L $ sasuadxa [Ej0L
LEF'OEY'L 655'98€' L LIE'BLYL - - - - - - - LBSIN0D J|oD
¥96°002 zoz's0Z ¥8O'60T 050'6LL - - - - - - Bunyed ongng
V2029’6 LLE'G6L'S LEE'poL's 6Y0'9rP'0L 99%'#09'01 LIVTOLLL PLE'508°01 gzz'e/e'e 2EP'666'6 ZiP'0.9'9 puonEyuBSAURK Wesls
BGE'zE8'S ZET'TOL'Y 926'SE8 Y 888'0.0's G51'8E8'S LPEZR0'9 LBO'LLE'S £28°29.'9 ZeR'OLE'G BOL'LIBY Uoieuodsue 1gnd
ELPIST'Y $52'0.8'F 9e8'2/8Y £96'520'S 9s5'21L's 99ZTELE'Y 9/8'2L1'9 L1LG'LBE L 858'59L's 86L/LT'6 1OMAG
116'905' ZS0'Zoe'E £0L'so8's 919've0'y 062'09¢'t 200166y £16'65€' 0Ze'8LL'S ZS6'710'S LO7'86E'S J21ep
‘saf)Apoe adA-ssausng
808ZTF0'Y 98.'868'E 952'698°' 59Z'89t'y 670'Z19'S $06'220'G EG/'088'S LS LEL'D EFS'900' 952°208'S 1gep wiei-buo) uo 1sasey|
L00'89¢'L LPE'9es’ L 068°'9Z4'2 801046 £61'802'G £0L'SZL'Y S05°ZE0'Y £TY'I98'e 6E8'SLY'E 668'PP8'S Auawdgieasp AUnwwos pue Buuued
7Ll LGS 9Z£'989'T [Ze'L8L'T $06'8Gt'F 061'Z69'% LZE'E0L's 0LP'6LE'S L5e'0aL's £9/'612's glLg'ele's JEINYNO PUB LORERIDA ‘SHieg
£9.'628'LZ £14'168'02 zii'vel'Le £6E'0£9'vT 264'LbE'SZ Z86'TTE'ST ese'ese'le 890°6E.L'82 S1Z' 9T 822°G98'0E ucjeanp3
¥1Z'6E6'L LGZ'I51'T CZLBLE'E £88'L/5' S90'0EL'E ZL9'yal'e SZL'69EY 88¢’LLE'S cor'ees's LEL'veg's alej|am pue yyeasH
68.'759'8 g8p'0/5'6 GSE'ZEE'S Z¥0'08z 0L alLb'obL'LL L2g' 1280l £68'6E6'L | 8LrtZ6 0L 9Z9'¥BE'L 1 299'0Er'S1 SyIom dlqnd
000°EBF'0L 9PE'80E'Z] GE.'GBE'EL 12865 L BGL'ZZL 0L 188'9FF 0L Z16'3L5'8l SEC'PER'LL POL'PLE'BL 8E0'664'8L Ajayes olignd
20'sob'L BEE'LLF'L 80z'ogl't 9L LF2'E 9£5'669'2 8.8'1Z5°C Zes'ZIo's 9/2'689'T 6Ze'g6L'e gs0'ese'e uonensiuiLpe [eipnl pue ep
96E'SBZ’. & EE0'9E0'®  $ 6BLBSY'S  § ZO0'¥EK'E & E9E'/080L & SELZ9LLL  § SIBGELTL € GLZEEYZL § JPO'LLLEL  § See'llevh  § LoResiuiWpe Juawwaach [elausn
S2IANOR [RILUSWILLISACDS)
sasuadxy
£002 002 5002 9002 2002 8002 8002 010z L0z Z1L0Z
H=CYNCEER

(Bupunoaoe o siseq fenisae)

SIeaA |E3SI4 Us JsE

S.138SY LIN NI SIONYHD

¢ 9jgeL VINIOHIA ‘DUNENOSIHEYH 40 ALID

108



"Wy [eloads e U Buninsal Aysealun UOSIPE SSWEL O} Peoy d1igndsy Hod Uo PUB; plos AU 34l '800Z 104,

‘wey [eads e ul Bupinsas AisisAun LOSIpER SSWer o} xajdwes [00yas YBIH BINguosiueH pIo ay: plos AuD Bl /002 104,

‘Wway |eads e u Bupnsal A1 su} o) XajdWes [00UsS YBIH BiNquosWEH Pio 2U) pasalsuel) pIEOE (00405 B4l ‘0002 Jog,

Wedpped e sem Al 34 ydiyam Jo SPUog D L00Z SSWeS Sii PALBLIEI LAIuM AJIOWNY [0043S Jignd BILIBIA SU) Wol uonw g2 jo Juewied SU-31I0 B JO JNSBI SU} SEM SNUSARI JSULO Ul 8583I10U 21 'L LOZ JOd,,

‘S9jel 15218l Jamo| pue spasdold puoq papuadxeun wo) BUNSSAUL 10} S|RIIBAR SPUY S|pI Ul SSEEUISD B [0 1NSS] SU) SEM SNUBAS JUSLISEAU Ul 93B2I53p 84} ‘B00T 104,

"XE} U30BQC) B pAjoRUS A B4 P02 _omw

Jueosed Xis 0} Jusoled Bal) WOl SEXE} POO) JUBINEISEL US Sj_d Bu} paseanul Al 8ul ‘vo0z o4,

"819d0[9ASP L0} SBUI| JOMIS PUB 1S12M Ul LOJIIW $'ZE O SUCHNGLIUSS PUB SOSNY YSU2u} maU jo aseyund sy Joy Buipun) [eluswiaachieu U UOy(iW £"p$ PAII3LIRS SUONqLUOD puz SjUBIE [EIdeD U} 958951 S1 ‘BO0T 104,
‘BUipun; a1els pue [eiapay

Jo} 21q:6119 alam Ysiym 19sload JuELaaodwl snusay UOSHOUT/PR0Y Bulds SUCIS U Uim pejeioosse saseyoind Juswesee pue Aem-jo-JyBu Buisessusp pajos)jes sLonngUuad pue siuesb [endes u; asesioep au) ‘0L0Z Jog,
‘JuawAed 2Wp-aUo e sem ucijiw

§'Z$ yoIum jo welfold sy Woul 2002 W QNI pES PIAISOS! ANID BU L WelBold SAleIU] Uononasuos uegin eiubaip ayy ) vogediomied [ERIUL S, AID SU) PRIDSYS] SUOKNUIUCS PUE SJUBIB [B)dED U} #sBRI0UI 8L} /00T Jod,

‘$8suadxa ul papodal pue gjewiss Bununosoe U abueyo B sem abueyo siy| -AIQRI 2iNSOD ypUE| S) S1BLIGSS O} pasn A0 ou) pouial auy u; aBuBYd e paloajial sasuadxa AR LOREIUES Ul 9SESI0SP U} Y002 Jog,

"9suadxa Jsausiul Uy asea;ioul ue pue Jueld Wesls Yingad a1 UC LORRIDRIdRP J0 JBSA (| & pajosyal sasuadxs AAgoe ucliejlues L aseasoul 3} ‘5002 Jod,

"Josfoud uoneacual Jalus) Loneonp3 BunuuoD SWWS 4 ADNT aul Yim poleioosse aauesent ueo| e jo uonubooss ay patosyal sasuadxa AIAgoe Juswdojaaap ALnWWoo pue Buiuued sy ul FseaUoU; au) £00T 104,

“Alagoe adA-553UISNq B Se pajodel sem 25unoo Yob 3t ‘900z Of JoLId "95imo Jjob ay) Jo suonesado sy Joy abueyd Buipoday e pajsajiel sasuadxs AlAoE UOHESISS! pue syied Ul 8SB3I0UI 9} ‘900z 104,

(L11'250'2) & 6OCZZE'S & QPgeEPr & 660GZOEL ¢ Bropp0. & EJB9LGEL § ZLLB96E & (GHEZBRL) & OLL6loT & (1ee9L0%] & sjesse Jau L1 abiueyo 2jop
(LogoelL'e) £89°0Z1LT Zov'sie 8LLPPSL 82ZR1L9LC ViFYELT 69+'91L0'6 750'L45 89L'861 (L6Z'L89'S) SAAMPE adA}-ssauisng
OEL'BLO'L 3 9Z9l02'® ¢ PERZLLY  § 025'080°7) & 0ZO'se8'r  § Z0G'ZEL'0b  § (£SL4p0'S) & (see'ton'T ¢ eve'0ze'T & FGEFOST § SBIAISR [BILBWILIBADS)
‘sjasse jau ul abueyn
6P0'8LF'0S § €9B'SPE'PS ¢ C66€8T.S § OZ6'9BEF. $ 8909062/ & 0/8989°87 ¢ JIEBOIECL  $ BBLGSFIL & SOSFI6SL $ POZ LG0T € sjesse jau ul sabueyo
Jayjo pue sanUsAl [BISUSE [BIo]
a0t 96¢ SL6'El0') 081’862 {og1°281) /520811 Z1G'9RE'L 0LB'sZ8 (952'8/€) (cez'var) {r6a'cee’e) Si9)suRl]
- - - - - ooL's §s8') gTS'P £98'01 fesse [eudes jo [esodsip Uo ues
71609 £0E'LE6 6.6'29)'L VAN 9/9'PE0"L G6L'vre'L opi'iee'l SYELGLL 820'51Z'L 676808 L anuasal BYQ
£90'C66 vLi'ale 162'609 £62'Z80'L c19'str'y LPZ'LoL'L L16'505 206'6. avt'zs LZL'2e BNUBARL JUBLUISSAL|

‘SanuaARl |eiBulg)
sannloe adAl-ssauisng

Zalqel

(aot'968) (se8'e10')) (og1'8g2) 0slL'z61L (zgZ'0e4't) (z25'988'1) (016'c.8) 95Z'B.E EEZ'PEP #6R'SEED sJejsuel|

- - obg8's00'11L Za0'esl'z Tre's0L'y - - - (oot L) W) [e10ads
- 2eL'6ES - - - €£08'8EZ - - - 1955€ [2Hded JO 3jes o ues
000'99s 'L Z0+'290'L 089'6.8 i59'248'L 958'08t' L 89F'LpH L LeZ'Z0Z'L £Z8'046') EOP'PEE'Y §E5'592'T JAnuasal g
0S0'6E6 0/.'88% 25526 L 80E'EoE’ L Z8E'ves'e 6527’ £08'859 STPLSL 159'/8 59€e'89 ANUBAS JUBLLISaAU]
000°008°c 000'008'¢ 000°00L'% 000'00F' Y G.8'€6L'F 000'008'F 000'008't 000008y 000°006'F 000°'CO6'% SHUN WSL0dWod Woy JuswAed peiousaiun
PSE'LEDT G/5'v08 L EEF'BTL L 66+'2E8' L ZL0'v5L'T 0t'B8L'E ZrQ'esr'e 5za'sar's ¥i5°'028'S vLFETH'E suoingLIuod pue siib papousauun
6ZR'TO8'Y 1/6'89p'9 26.'E05°9 £98'10Z'L ZES'TLS'D [slei=g{R=i L26'6/2'S 6O VLE'S £€9'28¢8's z19'665'S [S8XE} [B00] JALHO
895°'LLL'Y FLO'ELO'S 062'90E'S BEE'BTL'S Z80'2¥Q'9 2159'961'G L§5'TL0'9 2BSLLS'S S20°/88'S 909'ZeB'S $@XE) 85Ua0Y ssauisng
L55'Cas'y 209°L58'9 9e8'tZL's 286'160'L PE'ELI'L 6L¥'LZ0's £58'560'8 0EF'1L00'S L6L'PLY'S LoL'slLe's SBXE} P00} JUBINEISDY
£oe'62e's 881 irL'e 685'6EL0) LR LZY L PL8'G69°LL 0st'zLL'LY 88E'EG0°LL 669° 28101 £82°080'31 861'vr'0L SSXE) 8N pUE $I[ES
BELLBE'LL & £0L'0ZM'BL $ 1/2'GET'8L § €TT'GHTOZ $ BTQLELEZ $ EESPOVUZ & BOLEPU'BT & GLVIOS'0E $ OPS'SOFLE & OLUSE'LE  § saxe} Apadold

[EANUAARI [RJBUSD)

STUAIOE [BIUSWILIBAGE)
'$]985% Jou u sabueyD Joylo pue SaNUSAR) [BIBUa0)
£002Z #00Z S00Z 8002 2002 B0OZ 6002 0102 L0z zz
Je3ap |edstq

(Bununoaoe jo siseq fenisoe)

sieaA [eas|d ua] )se

S13SSV 13N NI SIDNVHD
VINIDYIA ‘DUNSNOSIHEYH 40 ALID

109



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY




‘sasedind 1osfoud [ey:des sNoUEA 10} P3SN ale JeyY) $p2200ad puod Jo JINSa) SU} AIE SOUBEQ PUN} PRISUISAT SPUN; EJUSLILISAGE 1Ay Ul S9SE9109p pue §98RA0UI AY ],

wBpng s Jeak juanbasqns sy aoueleq 0} pasn Buieg saue|eg pung Jo UoKIW 573 Al9lewxaidde 4o nsau Sy) Sem aoueleq pun; paubisse puny [esausb u| asealous sy} ‘110z Jod,

‘010z Jeak [eosy Ul pajeudolddeas Suiaq soUBIqUINDUS 58| pue Jefipng 5 a4 Jusnbasqns ayj aoueieq o} pasn Bujeq Joll sougleq puny Jo JNSSI SU) Sem 30UE(Eq pun} pautisse puny [eisush Ul esealosp ay) ‘00T 104,
‘199p Buipuessino Bunsixs s,|couos ybiy PO ayi uo

S0JASS JG2P JO) PRRIWILLOS Buisq Aislanun uosipely sswer 0} X3dwoo jeoyas YiiH BiNGUOSIIEH PIo SU} JO 3jes au) ol Speasoid aUyl JO YNSal S} Sem S0UB[Eq PUN) PARILILLGS pun) [eJauab U ssEaiIUl AU 2002 Jod,
*spaadold pucq Jusdsun JO )Nsal ay) Sem 99UBEq puny pelolsal puny jesuab ul sseasoul syl ‘5007 lod,

(0102-£002) Bunlods) [2raueuly JUsLND 108|121 0 PaLISSE|DA) USaY SABY SaIUEEq Jeak Joud ulepa) 'sisAleuy pue uolssnas|q sjuswabeuely U pauleidxa ale Z|.0Z 10} Sa58a.00p JO Sasesoul JueoyuBls AUy 1sajoN mw
=
866'820'0F § ££9'/86'0Z § ZEVEZBL'EL $ SB0B8L'6  $ OL60000F $ ZZPOEOPE § GOOGZ0LL & FOOCOVE § BIGOLEZT ¢ ZIZ@beal & spunj [ejuswwanot Jaye |2 210l
- - - - - [CTR=R1%] (Loz'ey) (ggezel) (gg6'e) (£6%'09) Spun} snusnal [eroadg
‘u] pspodal ‘paubfisseun
861 LLF'D £98'v05°2 YEO'ZR0'L 9L0LLBY L6¥'L80'FL €EG'LLE L 965'v0.°L PLE'LLR'S LoF' 5.8 0L 0$39'0L PaRILILOD
8L'791'eE LZE'6QZE} 26£'08 L' GES' oL’y 6LY'C16'5T 20¥'¥EL'T 89Z'59¢'6 8LV'ZLL AN TAN 06Z'86L'S PalOsaY
796'¥6E $ 6¥¥'CLZ $ - § PES'L $ - g - $ - g - $ 1§ $ - % 3|qepuadsuoN
spun; *mEmEEm;om 1Bl0 |Iv
L0E'BPF'SL & LBG'/C9'GL & Geh'vSE6L $ ZBG'EGLPL § GZLOZVWZ $ EIPIBLST & GOOGEU6lL & GBI YOOl S BL0i9:Cz ¢ SBTEIGIE & puny [e1susf [gjo L
GLE'9650) 0.9°L00°Z) 875°LGL' L) 8€L'6ZL 01 BLLLLYL 96L'1¥L'GL GLY'EoE'g) G00'c/2'9l ZGE3148L TT6'¥EG'GT pauBjsseur
Ziv'ozo'e 1$0'692'2 82Z'L¥9'T 1BE'650°7 BOL'VPSL'Y Z0¥'0Z9's 0BE'GLL ¥ZE'960°L 9BO'SLL'Y 6ZE'LLO') poPoUbISSY
LEPLL Ve LY 004'LE 00L'LE 208'LLE'e E98'PPE'T 00£'6.L8's ZiT'LeT'L 818002 08E'560'¢C JPERILWOD
05P'62F SGLbLG BC6'8¥Z'S 565'650°L §2T'L80') 059'656 ¥Z5'5hE 199'65% 99%' ot o5 ecy PAPLISEY
€69VZE L § 00L'BbL $ 000'G.g $ 190'cL8 § re'L19 % 096'609 $ 9v0'TLL § /80'8£9 § 98z'sG0'L 3 80084 $ 3jgepuadsuoN
pund elauss
£002 $002 S00Z 2002 2002 2002 6002 0402 LLOZ Zhoz
leay |edsi4

(BununGaIE JO SISBQ [ENIIIE PRYIPOL)
Slea) |Basld ug] 3se]
(SANN4 TYLNIWNNIACD) SFONYIVE ANN4

€2lqel VINIDYIA “DdNINOSIHEVYH 40 ALID



(G0¥'Le2°L1) $ (9L0°c09'€Z) S (¥80°/Z€'0)) § (Szvcers) ¢ (/99%Z9€Z) S (9E6FLG08) § (0L 90v9L) & (EL06I84) & (£582520) (C8r'2L9T) 8 saJnjpuadxa (13pun) JA0
SanuUaAal JO (Aouaioyap) sse0xg
B6¥'9L0'[0 § ¥/2'9G6'E8 S 1S.¥Z208 ¢ EEL2REL. § 891'8S9K0L $ PI86LZVEL & GOrirbZe6 $ 9ve 80868 S GILOLGT L6 LIS'POR'I6 & sainjpuadxa jejo ]
0S'L09'F | L8¥'8i0'82 SLLYB0'LE BGZ'tFL'D LEL'DLE'TE LL0'GL0'SE 89£°'698'GL 05289911 9LE'R8BTL L00'GEELL Spafoud [epdes
- . - - - - 0F0'02S - - - mouosa Buipunjal pasueApe o) JuallAed
629'62 - - - - - 6.€'95 - Lre'LL GGLLSE 5150 20UBNSS| puOg
ZLL'LBL'Y yTT'ieo'e £L6°E98°C LS¥'SETF GLL'29L'P 6GL'ZEL'S 660'6.8'G iv2'9LL'S 2HS'ore's EPF'a0¥'s ,596J2Y3 |EISY PUE 1SBI8JU)
9/1'206'c gL0'08L'E £5L'9GL'Y 099°'20Z'¥ 0S0'688'F LB8O'VES Y g68'258'G §86°'PPL'G 181°'895'g Z61'¥50°L uswaipal [edouug
BYIJSs 1qR]
159'Z5E' L G9¥'8LL'E ¥2L'vil'e LLS'902°E LZ0'P95'E SrL9¥0'9 05924 1'F 96Z'6EL'E 15L2vE'S 069'leL'e gusludajansp Aunwwoes pue Buluug|g
£81'€69'T GB5'€9L'T 5/£'989'2 S06'88Y't LLE'269Y 9LL'TER'Y 2P5618'YF LE¥' 065’y 09¥'589'y 8¥Z'9be't JIBINYNS pUB UoHEa.03d ‘Syleg
62919161 629°299'81 L18'¢61'6l 052'229°12 ¥i2'662'22 951'096'22 195'iZ9'¥E 0BE'EB6'EE 110'266'22 892°102'9Z uoeanpy
8FE'LLE'L 98g'SEL'T G59'952'C 815'6rS' 00Z'80L'¢ LPL'TRL'E 097 L¥E'Y 125'698'C GBS'LIB'E 958'299' alefjam pue yjesH
09£'628'G 9ze'e¥s'e 19£'g60'9 ole'Lol'LL 92e'LL6'L TEo'PLE'e $56'Cr9'g 120'680', 081928’ oL PRF 01 LSHIOM 2ang
6E1°255°0L 6¥0'229°T1 £TL'TOT'EL Z8L'992'tl 480'906'G1 LE9'Z8Z 9l FL116E°8L SRO'EE0'L) 8¥9'08L'21 £TE LS LL Aajes angnd
692'Z61°L g6Y'069°L L12'626') §99'G/6') G/5'86E'C 218'¥ZZ'Z LLS'5LLE GLE'e6e'e ¥98°198' 801°950'C uolesiUILIPE [eiipnl pue per
695'1¥27 § LES0OFT  $ 8lZ'eR9T  § [bR'T06'T S O6P'SEL'E  § 9SE'EES'E  § SEOVSH'E  § 6Z9vEYE ¢ pSOZLOE LOD'E00Y  § uoiensiunuIpe Juawwsanob [esuss
3uaxng
:s9in)puadxy
¥B0'6E6'GS  § 8GL'G5E'00 $ 199/68'€9 ¢ J0L9S669 $ LOSEE0LB 5 GEGYOLER § QL. 0v0C8 § ©i269rc8 § ZOLES006 880'ZEL'GE  $ $INUSAB) [BJOL
GLZ'ezl'L LIF'EG6'9 19L'08L°L 859'E0L' 078'1LLLT] FLSL6LE) ¥9Z'829'¢L 9L.'B6F'C) 2695 91 L¥ZHHEGL plEJuBLILIBACEIRIU]
000'008'E 000'008' 000°00L'¥ 000 00F' ¥ GL'E6L'Y 000'008'% 000'008'P 00Q°008'F 000'006' ¥ 000'006' SHUN JUSUOCWIOD WOJ) SJUSLWAEY
9v<'SeY 10Z'048 968'0.9°L S02'992'L 967'86L'L A AR - - - 905'909 $1500 palancooy
951'vo¥' L 2TL'qT0') B6.°G56 751'288 8EF LO0'L £88'CEL'L PLLOOL L 969°0¥5' L G86°651 ¥ 925'FL0'Z STIOBUE(|DISI
Trr'1eg L68'Z5e £¥8'262 119'LL8 069°Z%8 L#B8'860°L 951'€61 L PozT'EBL' L 0B6'LLE'L 961'GLL'L $921U95 10} sableyn
¥.5'60¢€'L 925'289 18632 786'L22' 299°'6.9'¢ LB0'E2TS'T 179'299 ¥¥8'261 ¥80'881 665'L41L awHadosd pue Asucw jo asn
LyZ'0or ¥G6'295 620'F09 889°LLG TIPS 65T°8LE 166'0LS ¥06'865 691'929 09Z'92% salnjiayo) pue soui
0Z8'06E 89z'ecs LZ9'E0F 6¥1'20G ¥L0'2SS 0L9°660°L 6t1'g¥8 9L0'PSE 1E¥' 195 GOt'36% sasuaoy Aojenbsy
pue sea) abajiad ‘spuag
LOZ'0LZ'ET B.2'¥¥5 LT ¥86'0¥Z'6T L90'EBY LT ¥iT9l6'LE LBYERG'LE 60L6EF 08 GEY'S6C'62 T6Z'6EY 0F 956'7LL'LE SaXe} |90 JBYID
L60'P99'LL  $ FIPLEE'BL § 0OV'ER0'8L § BZLISIOZ § vIVOLLCZ § LZERM0LZ  § 80.°L66'8Z § PIO'SO0LE  § $7SGZSLE gze'osl'ze  $ saxe} Aladoud [esauag)
SenuUsAdyY
£002 $002 5002 9007 002 2002 6002 0oz Loz 7107
ABQA RIS
(Buguno2E Jo SISEY JENIIDE PAIPOUS)
SIBAA |edaSld ual IseT
(SANNA TYLNIWNYIACD) STONYIVE ANNS NI SIONYHD
¥ 21qel

ViNIDYIA ‘DOUNGNOSIHEYH 40 ALID

111



“Aisisnun udsIpE|y SalUer 0} peoy dljgnday Lod uo pug| pjos AYD Ul ‘8002 log

“AlisI9AUn UOSIpEW Sewep ¢} x3|dwos [0ayas yBiH BINquosiueH plo ay; pies Ao aut ‘2008 lod,

"aInjonsenul pajefal pue X9|dwod |00UDS 8|PPILAIBIUSLUSIS MBU B JO UOJSNISUOS AU} o) panss] SPUOY JO NSSI 81} SEM panss| 1gap uue)-Buo] Joj Junowe su ‘00z Jod,

**%2]dWod 100y 3|PPIW ATRUSLUSI® Us PUB [0cyss YBiy mau ayl Buipnjour sseiboid u sjoafoud uorongsuod Jolew snouea pey Ao au; ‘ggoz ubinoiy 200z ul uiebe pue ooz Ybnoiy) €00z pollad sy ._ouw
"sjuBLWaacidull peos pajefas pue xajdWod [00ydS |PPLL/AIEIUSLLISIR LR JO UDHINASUOD SU) SOy PANSS] SPUOG UO JusLuAed 1saajul Isi)y sy} JO NSl B Sem Sanlipuadxa jsa1a)ul S21AURS Jg8p Ul 2SealoUl 3y} ‘g00z En_c,
‘1o9fo:d Uoleaoudl Jdjua) uoneonpl Buinuiuog SWIS ‘4 AN 2Ul ypm palemosse asiuelenb ueo| e jo uswked ay) palosyal sanypuadxe juswido@asp AJunuwwos pue Buluueid ul @sealout a4} ‘00T 104

‘pun} 9sidisius e Se pspodal sem 9SIn00 Yob el ‘gp0Z 01 Jold 98IN0a 0B sy} jo suone.ado auy 1o} abueys Bupodal e D2308|)48) sainypuadxs wonesical pue syled U 8seas0U) 3k3 ‘9002 1o,

‘PEOY 31gndey Ho4 uo pue| jo aseyand sy 4o Jnsa) syl sem saunypuadxa sxyiom ongnd Ul ssealsu; su) ‘900z log,

Juswied awy-suo
& SBM UDHIU §728 YDIUMm JO UDIlIW +'EF panlsdal As sy weifiold aaieniu) uoianisuo) vegin euibaa syl w uonedpived [ehiul s,A10 syl paideyal SMUsASI [EJUSLILIBACBISII Ut mmmmbc_mcﬁhoom._on_u

edoiied e sem A0 Ul UDIUM JO SPUOT D1.00Z $3LSS SH PSOUBLYAL LaIUM ALIOUINY [004SS 211aNd BILIBIA SUL WOY UOINIW £'ZS 10 JUSWAR SWI-SUD B §0 JNSaI SL) SEM SNUSAS SNOSUE||20SI L) 9SS0l BY) | | 0Z 105,
89l Jsausiul Jomo| pUE SpaR00.d puoy papuadxaun woy Bupsanul 1o} aiqelien. spuny S|Pl u) 3SBSI0AP B J0 Jinsas au) sem Auadod pue Asuow Jo asn au) u) 2SE3ISIP AL ‘§00Z o4,
X®|dwWo2 j00Y2s YBIY plo 2U} 4o 35ES| AU 10} AHSISAIUN LOSIPRIY $RWES WO JuswAed |ejust e jo Jnsal ay) sesm Aadold pue Asuow jo asn aup Ul 858a10UI Y} ‘90T J0d,

‘G 2Ige L U1 papiaosd
BIE SNUBARI $8XEY} [e00| Jeyjo pue saxe} Auedoid (e1eush U sasesloap Jo saseauou| JUBILIUGIS Auy "SISA[EUY PUE LOISSNosK] SuslwaBeuBpy Ul paule|dxs 91e 710z 10} S85L2ITOP JO S9SEBICU| JUESHUBIS AUy 1$aj0N

%4651 %ZeT) %26 L %00°¢} %59'7) %lEPL %8E'EL %GL b Y%barl %9T vl saunypuadxa [eydesuou
jo sbeussiod e se so1Jas 1g00]
(80v'vac'ol) § (600'2£9'8)) $ (£/€7866'€) & (0BB'POL'D) § VELUBLWZ S (ZIVEMWOL) $ EEPEYCF & (B955ELL) § 6bEZ0lg ¥06'289'6 S S37URlERg PUN} Ul aBuRYD 1N
- $ - 3 - $ - $ - $ 00+'/689'61 § 000'000. $ - $ - - g 12958 [edeo jo seg
‘way [epadg
966'29€L  $ LVBOLLY  $ LLLBZEEL $ (bOPBLT L) S LOPZLPOF $ (9565661 $ OPLGSUEl § +OLEal $ Z0LGL00L [BE'GEE'ZL  §  (S9sn) $90.n0s Bupueuy IS0 (B0
(££6'868'F) (LGL'ELE'Y) (6£0'¥¥R'C) (szz'0ore'a) (E0L°51E'8 L) (o0g'8LZ'Y) (S1E'209't) (286'965°2) (200°£65°2) (1£0'9282) 1o sugysuel )
BvL 26V 0¥5'L69'E Q5LZ8L'Y 19.°098'G Z0g'bEs'LL 0/€'229'9 BEG'ELL'Y Z60'08LZ G¥6'068 T L19'6i2'2 Ul SIBsuel|
- - - - M - - - - {1L0B'6¥9°12) Buipunial pueq Jus.IND Jo} JUIWARY
{L9F'985'6) - - - - - (Lo9'zLr' L) - (Lv2'ive5) - juabe mosose Bulpunyas puoq 0] JusuiAed
- {Lz'e} - - (869'9£1) - - - - - panse| 1gap wue)-6uo) uo juncosi
- 69.'08 - - - - L1966 - 106'29% Thi'ogL penssi 1gap Wiaj-Guoj uo wnjuwaid
00£'919'g - - - - - 000°LL8°L - G0L'L69 & 00000412 panss 1qap Bulpunjay
SPE'6SL'L $ 000'G06'¢  § DOD'OBEEL § - $ 000'00005 % - $ 00s'08F'EL § - $ 000'GiG6 000'598'¢ & [PaLINIUI JO panss; }gep Wuay-buc
:{s@sn) s92:n0s Bupueuy JaLRO
£002 002 S002 2002 2002 8002 6002 0102 iz ZLoZ
JBaA |edsid

(Bununoooe jo siseq [enIade payipoL)

SIB2A [BIS1 U] 3se]

{SaNN4 TYINIWNYFAO0D) SAONYIVE ANNL NI STONVHD

¥ 2lqe] VINIDHIA ‘OMNENOSIMYYH 30 ALID

112






UoISSILLIWRY uoRelodiod Siels 8yl AQ paysIqE)SS BB SSN[BA POSSasSY, 1S00 PUB 9SBLDINd 10 JeaK ‘9Npays uonersidep uodh paseq ale senjea possessy,
(YAVYN) UoHBI00SSY SI9[EaQ S(IGOLLOINY [RUCHEN 2U} AQ PSUILLIZ)SP SB ‘| AIZNnUEp JO SB 'an|eA Ul-apel sbeioAe i Pos3assY, "SN|BA JONIBL JIEY JO %00 J8 PISSISSY, :SaJON

'SPI028Y X | ALSdOIH BNUSASY BY) JO JOUDISSILILIOS BINQUOSIUBH JO A0 92inos

¥8'0 ¥LSL89'EPe'T 8EB'BET 00.°08¢E"} oo0l'Lo¥'oz! 0sL'v0z'zse BEF'ELT'GG 022'6¥0'2BS 8LBLLLZLE L £002
£8°0 £¥9'L09'ePE' 60%'052 (0]0]:48 2T 002'98¢'001 095°080'c9Z 852'Z98'ES 0S8'2+0'GF9 899'60.'6.42'L #00g
280 906'80/'2/E'2 glL'¥62 008'55Z’L 008°0¥0'v6 0/5'086'e52 0L6'019'0S 0L0'e52'999 869'€LZ'00E"L §00¢
080 889'82/'9089'2 ¥L9'BEE 00’242’} 00S'zLL'28 00L'696'5/T 020'0e6'aY 95+'950°808 8E0'CE0'SLT L 800g
160 OPO'CLE'LILE Gor'F62 00£°00€} 001'429'se 0S1'460'282 029'85t'0F 9/8°LP5'928 62.'259'82s')L L00Z
6.0 0LL'0LL'0P9'E 89'e/e 00L'ste’ L £95'0rF'es ¥65'012'208 18022 iy L80'FES' B0 L ZRL'CETLLL'E 8002
8270 60F'958'206'S eor'cLe 00r'ZSL'L S00'L6.L'98 ool'szr'ele 182'%20'8F 9Z1L'Se0'eLL ) 085'¥52'5/2'2 6002
840 262 LEL'GET 965" L8 00L'002'k 002°2£6°56 00t'v/8'862 691°€Z8'08 9/1'PRR'EEE’| LG9'0EL'¥SP'T oLog
8.0 CLE'R6F PEEY 120'¥9E 0o0's8L’L 002°'600°L6 008'281°G0¢ 92.'9%6'0S Z69°/E6'POC'L ¥ZB'€58'0L59'C L1102
8.0 $ E95'CES'88EY ¢ 8§Z0'62E $ 00ZZriL $ 00Z'2S8'6% ¢ 008'966'SLE $ 096'260°'05 bie'8.0'88€°L $ POO'ZHO'SFS'E & 20T
ey xe| san|ea ,suonelodio) ,SOWOH .Sloo] pue AHadoig ,Suonelodion [eLIsnpuj [enuspisay 1ea)
108117 B30 L passessy aoAdeg oIjgqngd aqow Msuiyoey |euosiad a21/]8s 21Iand J/leloIawuo s |easi
|cit] fyadoud [euosiad ,21E1S] [Bay
siea) |B2SId U] )1se
ALY3d0odd 378VXVL 40 ANTYA TYNLOVY ANV INTVA 03SSIASSY
93|qel

VINIDYIA ‘DHNENOSIHEYH 40 ALID

<

—
—



'SSjolyeA ssaUISNg sepnpul Aledoud |euosiad B30, "9|ge) SAOGE B Ul LOREWLIOIUL SIY) PIPNIOUI JOU SBY PUE sjuswuisAob Buiddelisno Aue aaey Jou seop AND oy
'2|q€) 9A0GE SU3 Ut UOHELULIOJUL SIU} PAPNOU J0U SBY PUE S801A8S 1q9p pue suopelsdo Ag Se yons sjusuodwod snouea AQ ssjel xe) Ausdosd 19s 10U sa0p A0 8L :Se10N

'spiossy xet Auadoid snusnsy suj J0 JBUOISSILLIOS BinquOsSLIBH Jo Ain :eainos

¥80 00¢C 0072 290 00'eC 002 290 290 290 2002
£8°0 0o'eC 00¢ 290 00e 00z 290 290 Z90 002
280 Qo 00°¢C 290 00%¢ 00'e 290 290 290 5002
080 oo'e 0oe 290 007 00C €90 290 290 8002
160 ooe 00'e 90 ooz 00¢ 290 290 290 2002
6.0 o0’ 00t 650 00%¢C 002 6880 650 6850 8002
8.0 00¢ 0oe 6880 00¢ 00'¢ 650 650 680 6002
9.0 ooe 0o'e 650 0o’z 007¢ 650 650 650 oLozZ
9.0 00¢ oo'e 650 0o'e 00z 650 650 6570 LLOZ
9.0 00¢ ooe 6850 00'e 00T 650 6880 6570 ZLoe
aley xe| A9410 suojpelodion SawoH Sj00] pue juswdinbg suonelodion EINELT |enuapisay 183,
19341Q |®101 9DIAIDS MHIgnd ENGT Kauysep ssauisng 92IAIDS J|gQNd  jlElaJawwon |easiq
Auadold |euosiad ae)sy jeay
SIeaA [e2s[4 us) 1seT
IANTVA d3SSISSY 40 001% H3Ad - STLVYH XVL ALYIdONd
L29qe]

VINIDYIA ‘DUNANOSRIEYH 40 ALID

L
—
—



CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA Table 8
PRINCIPAL PROPERTY TAXPAYERS
Current Year and Nine Years Ago

Fiscal Year 2012 Fiscal Year 2003
Percent Percent
of Total of Total
Property Property Property Property
Property Taxpayer Taxes Rank Taxes Taxes Rank Taxes
American Campus Communities, Inc. $ 392,784 1 1.23% % - -
Tenneco Inc. 370,116 2 1.16% 480,160 1 2.54%
Packaging Corporation of America 333,420 3 1.04% 214,303 5 1.13%
R.R. Donneliey & Sons Company 331,738 4 1.04% 325,960 3 1.73%
Copper Beach Townhome Communities, LLC 329,781 5 1.03% - -
Graham Packaging Company, LP 314,421 6 0.99% 207,552 6 1.10%
Montebello Packaging, Inc. 254,409 7 0.80% - -
Simon Property Group, Inc. 248,806 8 0.78% 166,103 9 -
George's Foods, LLC 230,732 9 0.72% - -
Virginia Mennonite Retirement Community 200,669 10 0.63% - -
IntraPac Corporation - - 339,755 2 1.80%
LB&.J Limited - - 231,430 4 1.23%
Verizon Communications Inc. - - 196,485 7 1.04%
Pilgrims Pride Corporation - - 178,036 8 0.94%
Reddy Ice Corporation - - 164,632 10 0.87%
Total $ 3,006,876 942% $ 2,504,416 12.38%

Source: Cily of Harisonburg Commissioner of the Revenue Properly Tax Records.
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA Table 13
DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Personal Per Capita Unemployment

Fiscal Income Personal School Rate
Year Population’ {in thousands) Income? Enroliment’ Percentage®
2012 51,208 $ 1,608,034 $ 31,402 4,709 7.0
2011 49,491 1,507,050 30,451 4,513 7.4
2010 48,8914 1,452,550 29,696 4,323 7.6
2009 45,889 1,423,018 31,010 4,241 5.6
2008 45,255 1,352,672 29,890 4,363 3.4
2007 45,138 - 1,282,280 28,408 4,356 2.8
2006 44,008 1,194,773 27,149 4,347 34
2005 43,178 1,125,910 26,076 4,088 4.0
2004 43,137 1,086,966 25,198 4,028 3.7
2003 43,001 1,027,294 23,890 4,026 3.7

Sources: 'Estimated by the Cily's Department of Planning and Community Development for 2003-2009 and 2011-2012.
United States Census Bureau for 2010. ? Bureau of Economic Analysis, United States Department of Commerce. Amotints
for 2003-2011 have been adjusted based upon the latest available data. Data for 2012 has been estimated based on per
capita personal income trends for the previous ten years. ° City of Harisonburg School Board. *Virginia Employment
Commission. The unemployment rate is an annual average. The rates for 2010-2011 have been adjusted based upon the

latest avaifable data.
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA Table 14
PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS
Current Year and Nine Years Ago

Fiscal Year 2012 Fiscal Year 2003
Percent Percent
of Total of Total
Approximate City Emp- City Emp-
Employers Employees Rank loyment Employees Rank loyment
James Madison University =099 1 >3.31% >999 1 n/a
Harrisonburg City Public Schools 500 - 999 2 1.65% - 3.31% 500 - 999 5 nfa
Aramark Campus LLC 500 - 999 3 1.65% - 3.31% - - nfa
Rosetta Sione Inc. 500 - 999 4 1.65% - 3.31% - - nfa
City of Harrisonburg 500 - 999 5 1.65% - 3.31% 500 - 999 6 nfa
Tenneco Inc. 500 - 999 6 1.65% - 3.31% 500 - 999 4 n/a
George's Chicken, LLC 500 - 999 7 1.65% -3.31% 250 - 499 7 n/a
Wai-Mart Stores, Inc. 250 - 499 8 0.83% - 1.65% 500 - 999 3 nta
Virginia Mennonite Retirement Community 250 - 499 9 0.83% - 1.65% 250 - 499 9 n/a
Packaging Corporation of America 100 - 249 10 0.33%-0.83% - - n/a
Rockingham Memorial Hospital - - >999 2 n/a
Graham Packaging Company, LP - - 250 - 499 8 n/a
IntraPac Corporation - - 250 - 499 10 nfa
Total City Employment 31,416 nfa

Source: Virginia Employment Commission.

Notes: "n/a" means that the information is not available.
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COMPLIANCE SECTION

This part of the City's comprehensive annual financial report is intended to demonstrate the City’s compliance with
various state and federal legal matters, as well as, compliance with federal grant funding requirements. it is
prepared in conformity with the provisions of the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996 and the Office of
Management and Budget (OMB) A-133.
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Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free
of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express
such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed an instance of nonrcompliance or other matters
that is required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards, and which is described in
the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as Item 12-3,

We noted certain matters that we reported to the City’s management in a separate letter dated
November 28, 2012,

The City’s responses to the findings identified in our audit are described in the accompanying
schedule of findings and questioned costs. We did not audit the City’s responses and, accordingly, we
express no opinion on them.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, City Council, others
within the entity, state and federal awarding agencies, and pass-through entities and is not intended to be
and should not he used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Gpoun, Gumes *Gopatny 4.7

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Harrisonburg, Virginia
November 28, 2012
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Internal Control over Compliance

Management of the City is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control
over compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to federal
programs, In planning and performing our audit, we considered the City’s internal control over
compliance with the requitements that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program
to determine the auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance and to
test and report on internal controf over compliance in accordance with OMB Circular 4-133, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over
compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a
control over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of pesforming
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over
complianee is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such
that thete is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement
of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.

Our consideration of the internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses. We did not
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material

weaknesses, as defined above.

The City’s response to the finding identified in our audit is described in the accompanying
schedule of findings and questioned costs, We did not audit the City’s response and, accordingly, we
express no opinion on it.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, City Council, others
within the entity, state, and federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities and is not intended to be
and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.
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CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Harrisonburg, Virginia
November 28, 2012
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA

SUMMARY OF COMPLIANCE MATTERS
June 30, 2012

As more fully described in the Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Audiling Standards, we performed tests of the City’s compliance with certain provisions of
the laws, regulations, contracts, and grants shown below.,

STATE COMPLIANCE MATTERS

Code of Virginia State Agenicy Reguirements
Budget and Appropriation Laws Education
Cash and Investinent Laws Highway Maintenance Funds

Conflicts of Interest Act

Local Retirement Systems

Debt Provisions

Procurement Laws

Uniform Disposition of Unclaimed Propetty Act

FEDERAL COMPLIANCE MATTERS

Compliance Supplement for Single Audits of State and Local Governments

Provisions and conditions of agreements related to federal programs selected for testing,
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
Year Ended June 30,2012

A. SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS

1.
2.

The auditor’s report expresses an unqualified opinion on the financial statements.

One significant deficiency relating to the audit of the financial statements is reported in the
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based
on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing
Standards.

No instances of noncompliance material to the financial statements were disclosed during the
audit.

No significant deficiencies relating to the audit of the miajor federal award programs were
reported in the Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance with Requirements That Could
Have a Direct and Material Effect on Each Major Program and on Internal Control over
Compliance in Accordance with OMB Circular A-133.

The auditor’s report on compliance for the major federal award programs expresses an
unqualified opinion.

The audit disclosed one audit finding relating to major programs.

The programs tested as major programs include:

Name of Program: CEDA #
Child Nutrition Cluster — National School Breakfast Program 10.553
Child Nutrition Cluster - National School Lunch Program 10.555
State Fiscal Stabilization Funds - ARRA. 84.394
Federal Transit Cluster — Capital Investment Grants ' 20.500
Federal Transit Cluster — Formula Grants 20.507
Federal Transit Cluster — Formula Grants - ARRA 20,507

The threshold for distinguishing Type A and B programs was $439,926.
The City was determined to be a low-risk auditee.

B. FINDINGS -~ FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT
12-1: Bank Reconciliation (Significant Deficiency)

Condition:

Due to a retirement during the year, the bank and investment account reconciliations were
prepared for part of the year by the Director of Finance who has access to perform cash
disbursements, The bank and investment statements were not reviewed ptior to the
reconciliation nor were the reconciliations reviewed after completion.

Recommendation:

We recommend that a knowledgeable individual receive, open, and review the bank and
investment statements prior to the reconciliation. The reconciliation should be performed by
an individual that does not have access to cash receipts or disbursements. We also
recommend the reconciliations be reviewed for accuracy and completeness on a timely

basis by a knowledgeable individual.

Management’s Response:

The auditee concurs with this recommendation,
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
Year Ended June 30, 2012

C. FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - MAJOR FEDERAL AWARD PROGRAMS
AUDIT

12-2: Federal Transit~ CFDA 20.507
Condition:
In a sample of twenty-five expenditures, one expenditure, for $10.75, was requested for
reimbursement but was determined to be not aliowable.
Recommendation:
Reimbutsement requests should only include qualifying expenses. Contributions and other

non-operating costs should be allocated to other departments when recorded in the system.

Management’s Response:

The auditee concurs with the finding,

D. FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS — COMMONWEALTH OF YIRGINIA

12-3: Highway Maintenance Work Orders
Condition:

In a sample of 20 work orders, we noted three where the street name was not included so
street eligibility was unable to be determined. One work order in the sample included a
street that was not listed on the eligible street listing. Another work order in the sample did
not include material costs in the work order total.

Recommendation:
Procedures should be implemented to ensure

A dland ol R . i my1ad At fat

At —_— cdere are tr s o
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hat all work is performed on eligible streets
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Management’s Response:
The auditee concurs with the recommendation.
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA

SCHEDULE OF PRIOR YEAR FINDINGS
Year Ended June 30, 2012

A. FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS — MAJOR FEDERAL AWARD PROGRAMS
AUDIT

11-1:

11-2:

Title I - CFDA 84,010
Condition:

In a sample of 25 expenditures, three were noted where the amount requested for
reimbursement did not agree with the expenditure recorded. The City schools requested a
net amount of $271.10 less than the actual expenditures.

Recommendation:

The employee submitting the reimbursement requests should review the general ledger
detail to ensure amounts requested are accurate. The Excel spreadsheet prepared by the
payroli clerk should also be reviewed for accuracy.

Current Status:
We did not detect a similar finding in the current year.

Highway Construction — CFDA 20.205

Condition:

In a sample of ten expenditures, five reimbursement requests were filed prior to checks
being issued to pay invoices.

Recommenduation:

Reimbursement requests should only be submitted after the qualifying expenses have been
paid.

Current Staius:
We did not detect a similar finding in the current year.
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Page 1

Federal
CFDA Federal
Federal Grantor/Pass-through Grantor/Program or Cluster Title Number Expenditures
Department of Agriculture:
Direct payments:
Rural Business Enterprise Grants 10.769 3 12,500
Pass-through payments:
Department of Education:
Child Nutrition Cluster:
School Breakfast Program 10.553 540,254
National School Lunch Program 10.555 1,459,205
Child Nutrition Discretionary Grants Limited Availability 10.679 12,757
Fresh Fruit and Vegetable Program 10.682 29,279
Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services:
National School Lunch Program {Commodities) {part of Child Nutrition Cluster) 10.555 132,571
Total Department of Agriculture $ 2,186,566
Department of Housing and Urban Development:
Direct payments:
CDBG - Entitlement Grants Cluster:
Entitlement Grants 14.218 $ 550,416
Total Department of Housing and Urban Development % 550,416
Department of Justice:
Direct payments:
Edward Byrne Memoecrial Justice Assistance Grant Program 16.738 $ 13,210
Total Department of Justice $ 13,210
Department of Transportation:
Direct payments:
Federal Transit Cluster:
Federal Transit - Capital Investment Granis 20.500 $ 62,411
Federal Transit - Formula Grants 20.507 2,153,064
Federal Transit - Formula Grants - ARRA 20.507 1,622,651
Pass-through payments:
Department of Transportation:
Highway Planning and Construction 20.205 3,349,664
Harriscnburg-Rockingham Metropolitan Planning Organization:
Metropolitan Transportation Planning 20.505 36,000
Department of Motor Vehicles:
Alcohol Open Centainer Reguirements 20.607 37,339
Highway Safety Ciuster:
20.613 12,511

Child Safety and Child Booster Seats incentive Grants

Total Department of Transportation
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Page 2

Federal
CFDA Federal
Federal Grantor/Pass-through Grantor/Program or Cluster Title Number Expenditures
Department of Education:
Pass-through payments:
Department of Education:
Title | Grants to Local Educational Agencies 84.010 1,443,613
Title | Grants to Locat Educational Agencies, Recovery Act 84.389 70,222
Career and Technical Education - Basic Grants to States 84.048 92,578
Education Technology State Grants 84.318 31,964
English Language Acquisition Grants 84.365 226,931
improving Teacher Quality State Grants 84,3687 60,260
Educaticnal Technology State Grants, Recovery Act 84.386 227,993
State Fiscal Stabilization Fund (SFSF) - Educational State Grants, Recovery Act 84.394 779,788
Education Jobs Fund 84.410 255,630
Special Education Cluster:
Grants to States 84.027 992,764
Grants to States, Recovery Act 84.391 82,916
Preschool Grants 84.173 27613
Preschool Grants, Recovery Act 84,392 3,296
Total Department of Education 4,295,568
Department of Health and Human Services:
Pass-through payments:
State Board of Elections
Voting Access for Individuals with Disabilities - Grants to States 93.817 4,040
Total Department of Health and Human Services 4,040
Department of Homeland Security:
Direct payments:
Assistance fo Firefighters Grant 97.044 89,749
Staffing for Adequate Fire and Emergency Response {(SAFER) 97.083 19,797
Pass-through payments:
Department of Emergency Management:
Interoperable Emergency Communications 97.0585 59,904
State Homeland Security Program (SHSP) 97.073 99,069
Total Department of Homeland Security 268,519
Department of Defense:
Direct payments:
JROTC Funds 12.VA 170853 72,257
Total Department of Defense 72,257

Total expenditures of federal awards

The accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards are an integral part of this schedule.
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CITY OF HARRISONBURG, VIRGINIA
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
June 30, 2012

Note 1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards includes the federal grant activity of the City of
Harrisonburg, Virginia and its component unit, and is presented on the cash basis of accounting. The information
contained in this schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of OMB Circular A-133, Audits of
States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Therefore, some amounts presented in this schedule
may differ from amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of, the general-purpose financial statements.

Note 2. Food Distribution
Nonmonetary assistance is reported in the schedule at the fair market vaiue of the commodities received and dis-
bursed as determined by the U.S. Department of Agriculture. At June 30, 2012, the School Board, a component
unit, had food commodities totaling $56,002 in inventory.

Note 3. Subrecipients

The City provided federal awards to subrecipients as follows:

Federal
CFDA Amount
Program Title Number Expended
Community Development Block Grants/Entitlement Grants 14.218 $ 215,707
Educational Technology State Grants 84.318 15,280
Educational Technology State Grants, Recovery Act-ARRA 84.386 208,800
interoperable Emergency Communications 97.055 59,904
State Homeland Security Program (SHSP) 97.073 34,470

Note 4. Loan Programs

Inciuded in prior year schedules were loan proceeds obtained through the Virginia Water Supply Revolving Fund in
the total amount of $1,136,000. The following is the federal award program and the outstanding balance on the loan
at June 30, 2012:

Federal Outstanding
CFDA l.oan
Program Title Number Amount
Capitalization Grants for Drinking Water State Revalving Funds 66.468 3 1,060,266
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